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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETR®E

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”), |
am pleased to present the 2022 annual report of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 30 September
2022 to the shareholders (the “Shareholders”) of the Company.

RESULTS

The revenue of the Group for the years ended 30 September 2022
and 2021 were approximately HK$862,101,000 and approximately
HK$643,446,000 respectively, representing an increase of approximately
34.0% during the year under review. The net profit of the Group for
the years ended 30 September 2022 and 2021 were approximately
HK$101,350,000 and approximately HK$41,463,000 respectively,
representing an increase of approximately 144.4% during the year under
review. Excluding certain items not considered to be generated from
the Group’s core business for the year ended 30 September 2022, i.e.,
(i) the one-off and non-recurring gain on disposal of assets classified
as held for sale of approximately HK$32,692,000 (2021: HKS$NIl); (ii)
changes in fair value losses of investment properties of approximately
HK$600,000 (2021: approximately HK$14,329,000); (i) share of profits
of associates of approximately HK$1,384,000 (2021: share of losses
of approximately HK$1,807,000); and (iv) no recognition of impairment
loss on investment in an associate (2021: HK$1,000,000), the net
profit of the Group for the year ended 30 September 2022 would be
adjusted to approximately HK$67,874,000, representing an increase of
approximately 15.8% as compared to the adjusted one of approximately
HK$58,599,000 for the year ended 30 September 2021. Details of the
Group’s results and prospects will be discussed under the section of
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this 2022 annual report of the
Group.

DIVIDENDS

For the year ended 30 September 2022, the Board has resolved to
recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK4.3 cents (year
ended 30 September 2021: HK2.3 cents) per ordinary share to the
Shareholders (subject to approval by the Shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting for the year ended 30 September 2022). No
special dividend was recommended by the Board for the year ended 30
September 2022 (year ended 30 September 2021: HKO0.5 cents). Interim
dividend for the six months ended 31 March 2022 of HK1.9 cents (six
months ended 31 March 2021: HK2.7 cents) per ordinary share to the
Shareholders was declared on 27 May 2022 and paid on 27 June 2022.
Including the interim dividend for the six months ended 31 March 2022
of HK1.9 cents (six months ended 31 March 2021: HK2.7 cents) per
ordinary share to the Shareholders already paid, the total dividend for
the year ended 30 September 2022 will amount to HK6.2 cents (year
ended 30 September 2021: HK5.5 cents (including a special dividend of
HKO.5 cents per ordinary share)) per ordinary share.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ETRW|E

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend sincere gratitude to all
patrons, suppliers, business partners and the Shareholders for their
support and patience during the past year. May | also salute to our
managers at all levels and dedicated staff of the Company for their
invaluable contributions and diligent efforts during the past year.

leong Un
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 December 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The revenue of the Group for the years ended 30 September 2022
and 2021 were approximately HK$862,101,000 and approximately
HK$643,446,000 respectively, representing an increase of approximately
34.0%.

The increase in revenue was mainly driven by the revenue contribution in
all geographical regions for the year ended 30 September 2022.

Gross profit

The gross profit of the Group for the years ended 30 September 2022
and 2021 were approximately HK$223,180,000 and approximately
HK$196,675,000 respectively, representing an increase of approximately
13.5%.

The increase in gross profit was mainly due to the increase in revenue as
the abovementioned.

Gain on disposal of assets classified as held for sale

The gain on disposal of assets classified as held for sale of the Group for
the year ended 30 September 2022 which amounted to approximately
HK$32,692,000, was a one-off and non-recurring gain on disposal
of properties (the “Disposal of Properties”), comprising a total of
14 commercial units located in Macao Special Administrative Region
(“Macau’”) of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), recognised for
the six months ended 31 March 2022 and the year ended 30 September
2022 upon the completion of the Disposal of Properties on 28 December
2021. For details of the Disposal of Properties and its accounting
impact, please refer to the Company’s circular (the “Circular”) dated
29 September 2021.

Changes in fair value of investment properties

The changes in fair value of investment properties of the Group for the
year ended 30 September 2022 were reduced substantially as compared
to the year ended 30 September 2021 as a result of the significant
portion of the investment properties of the Group were disposed of
upon the completion of the Disposal of Properties. The changes in
fair value of investment properties of the Group for the year ended 30
September 2021 were mainly attributable to the investment properties
located in Macau which were reclassified to assets classified as held for
sale as at 30 September 2021 and were disposed of as disclosed in the
Company’s announcements dated 25 August 2021, 15 September 2021,
29 September 2021 and 8 October 2021 and the Circular. As disclosed
in the Company’s announcement dated 28 December 2021, the Disposal
of Properties was completed on 28 December 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWEDN

Selling and distribution costs

The selling and distribution costs of the Group for the years ended 30
September 2022 and 2021 were approximately HK$51,831,000 and
approximately HK$44,663,000 respectively, representing an increase of
approximately 16.0%.

The increase in selling and distribution costs was mainly due to the
increase in revenue as the abovementioned.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses of the Group for the years ended
30 September 2022 and 2021 were approximately HK$92,546,000 and
approximately HK$86,809,000 respectively, and remained fairly stable.

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company
As a result of the abovementioned, the profit attributable to owners of
the Company for the years ended 30 September 2022 and 2021 were
approximately HK$101,350,000 and approximately HK$41,463,000
respectively, representing an increase of approximately 144.4%.

Excluding certain items not considered to be generated from the Group’s
core business for the year ended 30 September 2022, i.e., (i) the one-
off and non-recurring gain on disposal of assets classified as held for
sale of approximately HK$32,692,000 (2021: HK$NIl); (i) changes in
fair value losses of investment properties of approximately HK$600,000
(2021: approximately HK$14,329,000); (iii) share of profits of associates
of approximately HK$1,384,000 (2021: share of losses of approximately
HK$1,807,000); and (iv) no recognition of impairment loss on investment
in an associate (2021: HK$1,000,000), the profit attributable to owners
of the Company for the year ended 30 September 2022 would be
adjusted to approximately HK$67,874,000, representing an increase of
approximately 15.8% as compared to the adjusted one of approximately
HK$58,599,000 for the year ended 30 September 2021.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

Businesses
For the year ended 30 September 2022, the Group is principally
engaged in manufacturing and selling of adhesives, primers, hardeners
and vulcanized shoes adhesive related products used by the footwear
manufacturers.

As at 30 September 2022, the Group had three manufacturing plants in
the PRC, Socialist Republic of Vietham and the Republic of Indonesia
(“Indonesia”). After the acquisition of a piece of land in Indonesia in
April 2022 as disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 13 April
2022, the land is now in the handover process and the Group is now in
the process of designing and building foundation of a new manufacturing
plant in order to better serve its customers by improving its costs
competitiveness and freight time advantages, and further solidify its core
business. For details of the land, please refer to the said announcement
of the Company. If necessary, the Group will consider to further expand
its existing manufacturing facilities to satisfy its prestige customers’
needs.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWEDN

Cost control

The Group will continue to carefully review and extensively investigate
into the current situation in relation to costs and resources deployment.
In response to the uncertainties of the persistent epidemic effect, the
Group will consider to tighten its control over the operating costs in the
short term proactively and effectively.

Research and development

The Group is always environmental-oriented and continuously dedicated
to developing high quality products to satisfy the market needs; and
closely observes the future development direction of the market to
research and develop products continuously in order to satisfy the needs
for future development in the industry. In addition to its own research and
development team, the Group also cooperated with some international
well-known chemical corporations (including Germany and Japan)
to develop new products and entered into technology cooperation
agreements with several sophisticated technology experts in the industry
(including those from countries and regions such as Japan, Taiwan and
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“Hong Kong”) of the PRC).
Hopefully, through the above measures, it will enhance the competence
in research and development capabilities of the Group so as to maintain
its technological leading position in the industry.

Prospects

Short to medium term outlook: In view of the epidemic still affecting
across the globe together with the uncertainties arising from the high
inflation and decrease in purchasing power in the market, as such, it is
difficult for the Board to predict the sales performance of the Group in
20283.

Medium to long term outlook: Due to the global demand for footwear still
growing continually, more stringent requirement from the manufacturers
for the quality of adhesives would gradually eliminate industry players
with less competitiveness and the demand for the use of environmental
water-based adhesive products by footwear brands and manufacturers
will still be growing, the effect of the previous regional deployments of
the Group has become prominent in response to the market changes.
The Group has been maintaining partner relationship with its prestige
customers for a number of years. As such, the Board expects that the
growth of the Group’s sales in the medium to long term will remain
stable. The Group will continue to devote necessary resources to further
increase its market share if appropriate.

Leveraging on the Group’s solid experience accumulated over the years,
its high quality products recognised by the market and its competence
in research and development capabilities, the Group will continue to
commit to its core business. The Group will also consider to invest and
develop its OEM business in a proactive manner in order to broaden its
revenue base.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWEDN

Looking ahead, the Board remains prudent and optimistic about the
prospects of the Group’s core business in the long term. The Group will
follow a very cautious approach to ensure corporate sustainability in
20283. In 2023, the Group will monitor its working capital management
closely. The Group will also closely and carefully monitor the latest
development of the footwear manufacturing industry and its core
business; and the latest development of the epidemic effect and adjust
its business strategies from time to time if required.

DEBTS AND CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 30 September 2022, the Group had interest-bearing bank
borrowings of approximately HK$30,000,000 (30 September 2021:
approximately HK$37,798,000). As at 30 September 2022, the Group’s
banking facilities were secured by (i) the Group’s restricted bank deposits
of approximately HK$16,083,000 (30 September 2021: approximately
HK$17,328,000); and (i) a corporate guarantee executed by the
Company.

In addition, one of the lease agreements was guaranteed by the
Company as at 30 September 2022.

The Group currently does not have any interest rate hedging policy while
the Group pays vigilant attention to and monitors interest rate risks
continuously and cautiously.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The Group has normally funded the liquidity and capital requirements
primarily through net cash generated from its operating activities.

As at 30 September 2022, the Group had restricted bank deposits of
approximately HK$16,083,000 (30 September 2021: approximately
HK$17,328,000). As at 30 September 2022, the Group had interest-
bearing bank borrowings of approximately HK$30,000,000 (30
September 2021: approximately HK$37,798,000) and lease liabilities
of approximately HK$6,651,000 (30 September 2021: approximately
HK$3,354,000). Therefore, as at 30 September 2022, the gearing ratio
(defined as the total of bank borrowings and lease liabilities divided by
total equity) of the Group was approximately 7.5% (30 September 2021:
approximately 9.6%). As at 30 September 2022, the current ratio of the
Group was approximately 2.8 (30 September 2021: approximately 3.1).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWEDN

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency risks as (i) most of
the Group’s business transactions are denominated in United States
dollars; and (ii) the Group’s assets and liabilities are principally derived
from our overseas operations and mainly denominated in United States
dollars, Renminbi and Vietnam Dong. The Group expects that Hong
Kong dollars will continue to be pegged to United States dollars. As
such, the Group expects that Hong Kong dollars will not have material
fluctuations against foreign currencies which might materially affect the
Group’s operations. For the year ended 30 September 2022, the Group
did not employ any financial instruments for hedging purpose. The Group
monitors its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider adopting
hedging policy should the need arise.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, for the year ended 30
September 2022, the Group did not have any significant investments,
material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint
ventures.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, there was no formal
plan authorised by the Board for any significant investments, material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures as
at 30 September 2022 and up to the date of this annual report.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 30 September 2022, the Group had capital commitments of
approximately HK$8,591,000 (30 September 2021: approximately
HK$1,816,000) in respect of acquisitions of property, plant and
equipment.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 September 2022, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities (30 September 2021: HK$NI).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, there have been no
other material events occurring after the reporting period and up to the
date of this annual report.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 September 2022, the Group employed a total of 396 (30
September 2021: 356) employees. It is the policy of the Group to provide
a regular review on its employees’ pay levels, performance bonus
system and other fringe benefits (including social insurance and training
sponsorship) to ensure that the remuneration policy is competitive
within the relevant industry. For the year ended 30 September 2022, the
employee benefits expense (including Directors’ emoluments) amounted
to approximately HK$92,581,000 (year ended 30 September 2021:
approximately HK$85,433,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWEDN

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 22 July 2010 which
was expired on 22 July 2020. No share option scheme has been
adopted by the Company since 22 July 2020.

The remuneration policy for the Directors is based on their experience,
level of responsibilities, lengths of services and general market
conditions and has been reviewed by the remuneration committee of the
Company. Any discretionary bonus and other merit payments are linked
to the financial results of the Group and the individual performance of
the Directors.

INVESTMENTS OF THE GROUP

Warrant Parking Management Limited

The Group has held 40% equity interest in Warrant Parking Management
Limited (“Warrant Parking”) since 2017. Warrant Parking is mainly engaged
in the provision of management service to the government car parks in
Macau.

Hunan Changsha cooperation

On 12 October 2015, the Group entered into a non-legally binding
memorandum of understanding with kM & R EMTE R TR LAE
[R A 7] (transliterated as Zhuzhou National Engineering Research Centre of
Converters Co., Ltd.) (ZNERCC”) and entered into a non-legally binding
cooperation agreement with ZNERCC and 8 i A & ge BHE B R A &
(transliterated as Hunan Changsha Intelligent Technology Co. Ltd.) in respect
of the possible cooperation in photovoltaics system project(s). Details thereof
were disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 12 October 2015.

In May 2022, the Group and ¥ = A & se B AR A Al (transliterated as
Hunan Changsha Intelligent Technology Co. Ltd.*), agreed to inject a capital
of RMB3,000,000 and RMB7,000,000 to the registered capital of i &
AR AR AR (transliterated as Hunan Xingshi New Energy Co. Ltd.*)
on or before 15 October 2065, respectively. The registration was approved
by the relevant government authority of the PRC in June 2022. After the
arrangement, SR A FTEER AR AT (transliterated as Hunan Xingshi
New Energy Co. Ltd.*) became an associate of the Group for the year ended
30 September 2022. #HE A ¥ LR AR AT (transliterated as Hunan
Xingshi New Energy Co. Ltd.*) is mainly engaged in the photovoltaics related
projects in the PRC.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, the Group had no other
material investments as at 30 September 2022.

*

For identification purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

To create a long term value for the interests of the Shareholders is
the Board’s main objective. As such, the Board is highly committed
to achieving a high standard of corporate governance and striving to
maintain the management practices in a transparent and responsible
way. The Board reviews and improves the Group’s corporate governance
practices and business ethics on an ongoing basis.

For the year ended 30 September 2022 and up to the date of this
annual report, the Company complied with all the code provisions,
where applicable, as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code”) in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) except for the deviation mentioned in the section of
“Chairman and Chief Executive”.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct for dealing
in securities of the Company by the Directors. All the Directors have
confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company, their compliance
with the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the
year ended 30 September 2022.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the Group’s corporate policy formulation,
business strategic planning, business development, risk management,
material acquisitions and disposals and capital transactions, and other
significant operational and financial matters. Major corporate matters
that are specifically delegated by the Board to the management, such
as the preparation of annual and interim accounts for the Board’s final
approval before its publication, execution of business strategies and
initiatives adopted by the Board, implementation of adequate systems of
internal controls and risk management procedures, and compliance with
relevant statutory requirements and rules and regulations. The Board
has also delegated to the relevant senior management the authority
and responsibility for the day-to-day management and operation of the
Group.

The Board has also established the Board Committees (as defined
below) and has delegated to these Board committees various
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference.
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The Board is also responsible for performing corporate governance
duties of the Group and will assign relevant functions to other board
committees, namely the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”), the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) and the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”)
collectively, the “Board Committees”) as and when appropriate.

Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and related
materials, and the advice and services provided by the company
secretary (the “Company Secretary”) of the Company, and has the
liberty to seek independent professional advice at the Company’s
expense if so reasonably required. The Directors will be continuously
provided by the updates on the major development of the Listing Rules
and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and
upkeep of good corporate governance practices.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities.

Composition

The Board currently comprises seven members, consisting of four
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.
Details of the composition of the Board and biographies of the Directors
are set out on pages 2 to 3 of this annual report in the section of
“Corporate Information” and on pages 64 to 67 of this annual report in
the section of “Profile of Directors and Senior Management”, respectively.

The Board possesses the skKills, experience and expertise either in the
same industry or relevant to the management of the business of the
Group which brings a good balance of relevant skills and experience to
the Company. The independent non-executive Directors also provide
their independent professional judgments on the assessment of the
development, performance and risk management of the Group.
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Meetings and Attendance

The attendance of individual members of the Board at various meetings
for the year ended 30 September 2022, as well as the number of such
meetings held, are set out below:

ELHEBR
BE-_Z-_—"FhLA=+THILFE"
gRERTRERIHEBRALE E
TEREYIWT

(EREES
Ef- P4

Number of meetings attended/held

HE/EBIT2EE8A
Audit Nomination Remuneration Annual
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meeting® Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
Exe ERZEE® REZEY yMzEEEe RREF
g0 =f] g ' RE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. leong Un @ 15 O 5/5 N/A7 i F N/AT i A N/AT i A 1/
Mr. Ip Chin Wing EREEAE 4/4 N/ATiE A N/A 3 A N/A i A 1
Mr. Ip Ka Lun EEREE 4/4 N/ATR B 11 11 1”1
Mr. Stephen Graham Prince Stephen Graham Prince’t & 4/4 N/AT i F N/ATiE A N/ATiE A 1/1
Independent non-executive Directors B FHTEE
Mr. Chan Wing Yau George @ PRk #h S @ 5/5 3/3 11 11 11
Mr. Simon Luk © BEREEES 5/5 3/3 i i i
Mr. Tong Hing Wah BEELE 5/5 3/3 1/1 1/1 1/1
1. Chairman of the Board and chief executive officer of the Company. 1. AAREETGEFERITHEE -
2. Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. 2. HNEBGERE-
3. Chairman of the Nomination Committee. 3. RELZEEER-
4. Chairman of the Audit Committee. 4. BEREZEGERE-
5. Including one meeting held by the chairman of the Board with the independent non- 5. PREFSTFUABUIFNTESTRTN —REH (H

executive Directors (without the presence of other executive Directors).

Regular Board meetings are held at least four times annually and
additional Board meetings are held when the Board considers
appropriate. Schedules for regular Board meetings are normally agreed
with the Directors in advance in order to facilitate them to attend. Draft
agenda of each Board meeting is sent to the Directors in order to give
them an opportunity to include any other matters in the agenda for
discussion in the meeting. Notice of regular Board meetings is served to
all the Directors at least 14 days before the meetings. For other Board
meetings and committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

In respect of regular Board meetings or committee meetings and so
far as practicable in all other cases, meeting papers are sent to the
Directors or respective committee members in a timely manner and at
least 7 days before the intended date of the respective meetings to keep
the Directors apprised of the latest developments and financial position
of the Group and to enable them to make informed decisions. The Board
and each Director also have separate and independent access to the
senior management where necessary.
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Relevant senior management would attend regular Board meetings and
where necessary, other Board meetings and committee meetings, to
advise on business developments, financial and accounting matters,
statutory and regulatory compliance, corporate governance and other
major aspects of the Group.

The Company Secretary is responsible to take and keep minutes of all
Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft minutes are circulated to
the Directors for comment within a reasonable time after each meeting
and the final version is open for Directors’ inspection.

Relationship

None of the members of the Board has any relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships)
between each other.

Independent Non-executive Directors
The Company has complied with Rules 3.10(1) and (2), and Rule 3.10A
of the Listing Rules for the year ended 30 September 2022.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules, the Company
has received written confirmation from each of the independent
non-executive Directors confirming his independence from the Company,
and considers all of the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent in accordance with the independence guidelines as set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

In accordance with the articles (the “Articles”) of association of the
Company, all the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years and any new Director appointed to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall submit himself for re-
election by the Shareholders at the first annual general meeting after
appointment. Any further appointment of an independent non-executive
Director, who has served the Board for more than nine years, shall be
subject to a separate resolution to be approved by the Shareholders in
accordance with code provision B.2.3 of the CG code.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of
the Directors are laid down in the Articles. The Nomination Committee
is responsible for reviewing the Board’s composition, structure and
size, developing and formulating the relevant procedures for nomination
and appointment of the Directors, monitoring the appointment and
succession planning of the Directors and assessing the independence of
the independent non-executive Directors.

Each of the executive Directors entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of three years commencing from the date of
appointment subject to termination as provided therein.
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On 23 December 2022, each of the executive Directors entered into
a new service contract with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 1 January 2023.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company for a term of two years commencing
from 1 January 2021.

On 23 December 2022, each of the independent non-executive Directors
entered into a new letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
two years commencing from 1 January 2023.

Notwithstanding the specific term of appointments, the Articles provide
that every Director, including all the independent non-executive Directors,
shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least
once every three years. At each annual general meeting, one-third of
the Directors for the time being will retire from office by rotation and be
eligible for re-election by the Shareholders.

Mr. Luk and Mr. Tong have been appointed as independent non-
executive Directors for more than nine years. The Company has received
confirmations of independence from Mr. Luk and Mr. Tong according to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Mr. Luk and Mr. Tong have not engaged
in any executive management of the Group. Taking into consideration of
their independent scope of work in the past years, the Directors consider
Mr. Luk and Mr. Tong to be independent under the Listing Rules despite
the fact that they have served the Company for more than nine years.
Mr. Luk and Mr. Tong have confirmed that they will continue to devote
sufficient time for the discharge of their functions and responsibilities
as independent non-executive Directors. With their background and
experience, Mr. Luk and Mr. Tong are fully aware of the responsibilities
and expected time involvements in the Company. Based on the
foregoing, the Board believes that the positions of Mr. Luk and Mr. Tong
outside the Company will not affect them in maintaining their current
roles in, and their functions and responsibilities for, the Company. The
Board also believes that the continued tenure of Mr. Luk and Mr. Tong
bring considerable stability to the Board and the Board has benefited
greatly from the presence of Mr. Luk and Mr. Tong who have over time
gained valuable insight into the Group.

Based on the abovementioned and in accordance with code provision
B.2.3 of the CG Code, the re-election of Mr. Simon Luk and Mr. Tong
Hing Wah will be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by the
Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting for the year
ended 30 September 2022.
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According to code provision B.1.6 of the CG Code, the Company should
state its reasons if it determines that a proposed director is independent
notwithstanding that the individual holds cross-directorships or has
significant links with other directors through involvements in other
companies or bodies. Mr. Luk is currently the independent non-executive
director of Link Holdings Limited (Stock code: 8237) while Mr. Tong is
currently the company secretary of Link Holdings Limited (Stock code:
8237). Such links should not undermine the independence of Mr. Luk
and Mr. Tong with respect to their directorships in the Company as
() company secretary does not involve in the business decisions of
Link Holdings Limited (Stock code: 8237) and (ii) both Mr. Luk and Mr.
Tong have complied and followed with the Company’s guidelines on
declaration and conflicts clearances. Both Mr. Luk and Mr. Tong will
act with integrity and exercise objectivity in the conduct of serving the
Company.

Under the new code provision of B.2.4 of the CG Code, where all the
independent non-executive Directors have served more than nine years,
it requires that () a new independent non-executive Director should be
appointed at the Group’s next annual general meeting with effect starting
from the financial year commencing on or after 1 January 2023; and (i)
the Shareholders’ circular and/or explanatory statement accompanying
the notice of the annual general meeting should disclose the length of
tenure of each existing independent non-executive Director on a named
basis. The Company will comply with the new requirement of code
provision B.2.4(b) of the CG Code within the time frame prescribed by
the Stock Exchange.

Directors’ Induction and Development

For the year ended 30 September 2022, the Company arranged
a seminar provided by an independent third party for its Directors
as continuing professional trainings for corporate governance and
compliance purposes. Some Directors also participated in other
seminars according to their own preferences to develop and refresh their
knowledge, skills and understanding of the Group and its business or to
update their skills and knowledge on the latest development or changes
in the relevant regulations, the Listing Rules and corporate governance
practices.

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with the code
provision C.1.4 of the CG Code on Directors’ training. For the year
ended 30 September 2022, all Directors have participated in continuous
professional development by attending seminars/in-house briefings/
reading materials to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
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Type of continuous professional development

FEREXBRRER

Attending seminars,
conferences, workshops Reading materials and

Name of Director EEHE and in-house briefings updates
HERFE 8-
IEHRASERSE FMEM R EHER
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. leong Un 15 5 v v
Mr. Ip Chin Wing ERESLE v/ 4
Mr. Ip Ka Lun ExfmiaE v/ v
Mr. Stephen Graham Prince Stephen Graham Prince’t & v v
Independent non-executive BIYFHITES
Directors
Mr. Chan Wing Yau George PR oK ¥ 58 A& v v
Mr. Simon Luk PEER 25L& v v
Mr. Tong Hing Wah mE LA v 4

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

In respect of code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separated and should not be performed
by the same individual for a balance of power and authority. Mr. leong
Un is the chairman of the Board and chief executive officer of the
Company. He is the founder of the Group, the substantial Shareholder
and the controlling Shareholder and has considerable experience in the
adhesive related industry. The Board considers that this situation will
not impair the balance of power and authority between the Board and
the management of the Company because the balance of power and
authority is governed by the operations of the Board which comprises
experienced and high caliber individuals with demonstrated integrity.
Furthermore, decisions of the Board are made by way of majority votes.
The Board believes that this structure is conducive to a more precise
and more promptly response to the fast changing business environment
and a more efficient management and implementation of business
process. The Board also considers that vesting two roles in the same
person provides the Group with strong and consistent leadership in the
development and execution of the Group’s business strategies and is
beneficial to the Group.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a Board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve diversity
of the Board. The Company is committed to having a Board with
appropriate balance of expertise, skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives.

The Board diversity has been considered from a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and industry
and regional experience.

The Board sets measurable objectives to implement the Board Diversity
Policy and reviews such objectives from time to time. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidate will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the Board
Diversity Policy by conducting review of the Board’s composition at least
once annually taking into account the benefits of all relevant diversity
aspects, and adhering to the Board Diversity Policy when making
recommendation on any Board appointments.

At present, the Nomination Committee considered that the diversity of
the Board is sufficient.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

Under the revised Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules that came into effect
on 1 January 2022, a single gender Board will not be considered by
the Stock Exchange to have achieved Board diversity. The Company
targets to comply with this new requirement no later than 31 December
2024, being the end of the transitional period as specified by the Stock
Exchange.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Board Committees to oversee specific
aspects of the Company’s affairs and help it in the execution of its
responsibilities. Specific written terms of reference of these committees
clearly outline each committee’s authority and duty.

Each committee is required to report back on its decisions or
recommendations to the Board on a timely basis, unless there are any
legal or regulatory restrictions imposed on it.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for (a) maintaining the
relationship with the Company’s auditor; (b) reviewing the Company’s
financial information; (c) overseeing the Company’s financial reporting
system, risk management and internal control systems; and (d) assessing
the Group’s corporate governance functions. The full version of the terms
of reference of the Audit Committee is available on the Stock Exchange’s
website and the Company’s website at www.infinitydevelopment.com.hk.

Pursuant to Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, the Audit Committee is made
up of three independent non-executive Directors, including Mr. Tong Hing
Wah (chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Chan Wing Yau George and
Mr. Simon Luk. Mr. Tong Hing Wah (chairman of the Audit Committee)
possesses the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise as required.

The Audit Committee held three committee meetings for the year ended
30 September 2022.

Summary of work of the Audit Committee for the year
ended 30 September 2022

The Audit Committee held three committee meetings with the auditor,
RSM Hong Kong, to (a) discuss and review the audit plan of the
Group for the year ended 30 September 2021; (b) discuss and review
the Group’s results for the year ended 30 September 2021 and
recommended the same to the Board for approval; and (c) discuss and
review the Group’s results for the six months ended 31 March 2022 and
recommended the same to the Board for approval.

Other than the above, the Audit Committee also reviewed and discussed
the Group’s risk management and internal control function and financial
reporting matters, the existing terms of reference of the Audit Committee
and the Group’s overall corporate governance functions.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for (a) reviewing the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board at least annually and making recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy; (b) reviewing the Board Diversity Policy and the
progress on achieving the objectives set for implementing the said
policy; (c) identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and selecting or making recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships; (d) assessing
the independence of the independent non-executive Directors and
any proposed independent non-executive Directors; and (e) making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment
of the Directors, and succession planning for Directors in particular the
chairman of the Board and the chief executive of the Company. The
full version of the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee is
available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website
at www.infinitydevelopment.com.hk.
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The Nomination Committee is made up of four members including
Mr. Simon Luk (chairman of the Nomination Committee), Mr. Chan Wing
Yau George, Mr. Tong Hing Wah and Mr. Ip Ka Lun.

The Nomination Committee held one committee meeting for the year
ended 30 September 2022,

Director Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a Director nomination policy (the “Director
Nomination Policy”) for the Nomination Committee to identify and
evaluate a suitable candidate for nomination to (i) the Board for
appointment; or (ii) the Shareholders for election, as Directors, at general
meetings.

The Director Nomination Policy sets out a number of factors in making
nomination, including but not limited to the following:

° Skills, experience and professional expertise which are relevant to
the operations of the Group;

° Diversity in all aspects as set out in the Board Diversity Policy;

° Commitment in respect of sufficient time and participation
to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
Committee(s);

° Character, experience and integrity, and is able to demonstrate a
standard of competence commensurate with the relevant position
as a Director; and

o Requirements of independence of the proposed independent non-
executive Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules.

The Nomination Committee will review the Director Nomination Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

Summary of work of the Nomination Committee for the
year ended 30 September 2022

The Nomination Committee held one committee meeting to review and
consider the composition of the Board, the Director Nomination Policy,
the independence of the independent non-executive Directors, the
re-appointment of retiring Directors and the existing terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for (a) making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and the
structure for all the Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure
for developing remuneration policy; (b) reviewing and approving
the management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the
Board’s corporate goals and objectives; (c) determining, making
recommendations to the Board, considering and approving the
remuneration package of all the Directors and senior management
of the Group and the compensation arrangements relating to loss
or termination of office and dismissal or removal of the Directors; (d)
deciding the remunerations of the Directors with independence; (e)
advising the Shareholders on how to vote with respect to any service
contracts of Directors that require Shareholders’ approval under Rule
18.68 of the Listing Rules; (f) consulting the chairman of the Board and/
or the chief executive officer of the Company about their proposals
relating to the remuneration of other executive Directors; and (g)
ensuring proper disclosure of the Director’s remuneration in the annual
report of the Company in accordance with the accounting principles
and the Listing Rules. The full version of the terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee is available on the Stock Exchange’s website
and the Company’s website at www.infinitydevelopment.com.hk.

The Remuneration Committee reviews and determines the remuneration
and compensation packages of the Directors with reference to their
responsibilities, workload, the time devoted to the Group and the
performance of the Group.

The Remuneration Committee is made up of four members including
Mr. Chan Wing Yau George (chairman of the Remuneration Committee),
Mr. Simon Luk, Mr. Tong Hing Wah and Mr. Ip Ka Lun.

The Remuneration Committee held one committee meeting for the year
ended 30 September 2022.

Pursuant to the extension of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules which
will come into effect on 1 January 2023, the terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee were amended and approved by the Board on
23 December 2022.

Summary of work of the Remuneration Committee for the
year ended 30 September 2022

The Remuneration Committee held one committee meeting to review and
approve the remuneration package and structure of all the Directors and
senior management independently and the existing terms of reference of
the Remuneration Committee.
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Details of the five highest paid individuals in the Group and the Directors’
emoluments are set out in notes 14 and 15 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

Senior management’s remuneration

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration paid
to the members of the senior management by band for the year ended
30 September 2022 is set out below:

Remuneration bands (HK$)

AEBANGEFATRESHEFBDRIHE
RERE M B RERM 1415 -

SREEEH M
BECEEATHFEEASESTAINE  BE

T _FNAZ=ZFTBELEFER® @EEFWE
Sz HMBEERIWT

Number of person(s)

FMEE (Bx) AR
0 - 1,000,000 1
1,000,001 - 1,500,000 3

1,500,001 - 2,000,000

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board, with the assistance of other Board Committees, is
responsible for performing the corporate governance functions,
and it accordingly reviews and monitors the training and continuing
professional development of the Directors and the senior management,
and ensures its policies and practices in compliance with relevant laws
and regulatory requirements. For the year ended 30 September 2022,
the Board reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance. The Board is responsible for performing the functions set
out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 30 September 2022, the auditor of the Company,
RSM Hong Kong, received HK$1,160,000 for provision of audit service
and approximately HK$706,000 for non-audit services.

There were no disagreements between the Board and the Audit
Committee regarding the re-appointment of the auditor, RSM Hong
Kong, for the year ended 30 September 2022,

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledged their responsibility for preparation of
consolidated financial statements which give a true and fair view
of the Group’s state of affairs as at 30 September 2022 and of the
Group’s results and cash flows for the year ended 30 September 2022.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 30 September 2022, the Directors selected suitable
accounting policies and applied them consistently, and made judgments
and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the
financial statements on a going concern basis.
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There are no material uncertainties relating to any events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s independent auditor on
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
30 September 2022 are set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on
pages 78 to 84 of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Group’s risk management and internal control procedures include
a management structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility
and limits of authority. It primarily aims to provide a reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance that assets are properly safeguarded against
misappropriations, transactions are executed in accordance with the
management’s authorisation, and accounting records are reliable
and proper for preparing financial information and are not materially
misstated. The procedure is designed to identify, evaluate and manage
risks effectively rather than to eliminate all risks of failure.

The Board, with the assistance of other Board Committees, is
responsible for maintaining adequate procedures of risk management
and internal control for the Group and the Board had conducted an
annual review of its effectiveness for the year ended 30 September
2022. Same as last year’s practice, the Company engaged an external
independent internal control adviser to conduct a review on the internal
control procedures of the Group. The review covered material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions for the year ended 30 September 2022. The
findings have been addressed. No significant areas of improvement
which are required to be brought to the attention of the Board have been
revealed.

As such, the Board is satisfied that the Group’s internal control
procedures including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions as appropriate to the Group have been put
in place and considers that the Group’s internal control procedures and
risk management functions are both effective and adequate.

The Group has conducted an annual review on whether there is a need
for an internal audit department. Given the Group’s relatively simple
corporate and operation structure, as opposed to diverting resources to
establish a separate internal audit department, the Board, supported by
the Audit Committee, is directly responsible for risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness.
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INSIDE INFORMATION

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, the Company:

o is aware of its obligations under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Cap. 571) (the “SFO”) and the Listing Rules and
is required, as soon as reasonably practicable after any inside
information has come to its knowledge, to disclose the information
to the public;

° has established and implemented procedures for responding to
external enquiries about the Group’s affairs.

Senior management is identified and authorised to act as the Company’s
spokespersons and respond to enquiries in allocated areas of issues.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, who is also the financial controller of the
Company, is a full time employee of the Company. For the year ended
30 September 2022, the Company Secretary undertook no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training as required under Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules. His biography is set out on page 67 of this annual report
in the section of “Profile of Directors and Senior Management”.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company considers that effective communication with the
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business, performance and strategies, as
such, the Company endeavors to maintain an ongoing dialogue with
the Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meeting and
extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM”). In respect of each matter
to be considered at the annual general meeting and the EGM, including
the re-election of Directors, a separate resolution will be proposed
by the chairman of the Board. The chairman of the Board and the
chairmen of the Board Committees will be available at the annual general
meeting and the EGM to meet with the Shareholders and answer their
enquiries. The Company will also invite representatives of the auditor
of the Company to attend the annual general meeting of the Company
to answer Shareholders’ questions about the conduct of the audit, the
preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies
and auditor’s independence.
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To promote effective communication, the Company maintains the website
of www.infinitydevelopment.com.hk, where up-to-date information on the
Company'’s business operations and developments, financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are available for
public access. Latest information of the Group including annual and
interim reports, announcements and other corporate communications
which will be sent to the Shareholders and/or published are updated
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company on a timely
basis. Any enquiries raised by the Shareholders requiring the Board’s
attention can be sent in writing as set out in the paragraph headed “The
procedures for sending enquiries to the Board”.

The Company has assessed the above communication channels with the
Shareholders and considered that they were effective for the year ended
30 September 2022.

The annual general meeting (2022 AGM”) of the Company for the
year ended 30 September 2022 is scheduled to be held on Thursday,
23 February 2023. The notice of the 2022 AGM, setting out details of
each proposed resolutions and other relevant information, will be sent to
the Shareholders at least 20 clear business days before the date of the
2022 AGM.

For the year ended 30 September 2022, there were no changes in the
Company’s constitutional documents.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in
recommending dividends, to allow the Shareholders to participate in the
Company’s profits and for the Company to retain adequate reserves for
future growth.

The Dividend Policy would be in the best interests of the Group
and the Shareholders. The Board endeavours to maintain a balance
between meeting the Shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital
management with a sustainable Dividend Policy.

The Board shall also take into account the following factors of the Group
when considering the declaration and payment of dividends, inter alia:

(@) the actual and expected financial performance and the financial
results;

(b)  the actual and available surplus and working capital;

(c) the expected working capital requirements and cash flow required
for the future expansion plans;
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(d)  the debt to equity ratios and the debt level;

(e) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by
the lenders;

() the general economic conditions, business cycle and other internal
and external factors that may have an impact on the business
conditions or financial performance, the strategies and the financial
position of the Company;

(9) the future operations and earnings; and
(h)  any other conditions or factors that the Board deems relevant.

Any final or special dividends must be approved by the Shareholders at
a general meeting and must not exceed the amount recommended by
the Board. The Board may from time to time pay to the Shareholders
any interim dividends as appear to the Directors to be justified by the
profits of the Group.

The form, frequency and amount of dividend payment by the Company
are subject to any restrictions under the Companies Act (As Revised),
Cap. 22 of the Cayman Islands, Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), the Listing Rules, the Articles, any other applicable
laws and regulations and any other financial covenants imposed by
financial institutions. The Company does not have any pre-determined
dividend distribution ratio. The Company’s dividend distribution record in
the past may not be used as a reference or basis to determine the level
of dividends that may be declared or paid by the Company in the future.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserve the
rights in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify
the Dividend Policy at any time. The Dividend Policy shall in no way
constitute a legally binding commitment by the Company in respect of
future dividend and/or in no way obligate the Company to declare a
dividend at any time or from time to time.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

1.

028

The way in which the Shareholders can convene an
EGM

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, EGMs shall be convened on
the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require an EGM to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition;
and such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit
of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and
must be signed by the requisitionists and lodged to the Company
Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong with the address at Units 2201-2202, 22/F, Alliance Building,
133 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong, and may consist
of several documents in like form each signed by one or more
requisitionists.

If the requisition is in order, the Company Secretary will ask
the Board to convene an EGM by serving sufficient notice in
accordance with the requirements under the Articles to all the
registered Shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition is
invalid, the members concerned will be advised of this outcome,
and accordingly, an EGM will not be convened as requested.

The notice period to be given to all Shareholders for consideration
of the proposal raised by the Shareholders concerned at an EGM
varies, according to the nature of the proposal, as follows:

° at least 14 days’ notice in writing if the proposal constitutes
an ordinary resolution of the Company in an EGM.

° at least 21 days’ notice in writing if the proposal constitutes
a special resolution of the Company in an EGM.
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2. The procedures the Shareholders can use to propose
a person for election as a Director
No person, other than a retiring Director, shall, unless
recommended by the Board for election, be eligible for election
to the office of Director at any general meeting, unless notice in
writing of the intention to propose that person for election as a
Director and notice in writing by that person of his willingness to
be elected including that person’s biographical details, shall have
been lodged to the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong with the address at Units 2201-
2202, 22/F, Alliance Building, 133 Connaught Road Central, Hong
Kong, at least 7 days before the date of the general meeting. The
lodgement of notice should also be in compliance with the other
requirements of the Listing Rules.

3. The procedures for sending enquiries to the Board
Any Shareholder(s) who wish to raise his/their enquiry(ies)
concerning the Company to the Board may deliver his/their written
enquiry(ies) to the principal place of business of the Company
in Hong Kong at the address at Units 2201-2202, 22/F, Alliance
Building, 133 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong, or at any
address notified by the Company from time to time and for the
attention of the chairman of the Board and the Company Secretary.
Upon receipt of the enquiry(ies), the Company would reply as soon
as possible.

Pursuant to the Listing Rules, voting by poll is mandatory on all resolutions
put forward at general meetings, and the poll results will be published
on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website at
www.infinitydevelopment.com.hk after the relevant general meeting.
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R HEBRERRE

BOARD STATEMENT

Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”
together with its subsidiaries, hereinafter referred to as the “Group”
or “we” or “us”) is pleased to present the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report for the year ended 30 September 2022.

Despite the unprecedented challenges continuously brought by the
COVID-19 pandemic, the Group remained steadfast in our commitment
to sustainable development by putting it as the top priority of our long-
term development goals. As the most important leading role of the
Group, the board (‘Board of Directors”) of directors (“Directors”) of
the Company holds the ultimate responsibility to oversee, manage and
monitor the Group’s environmental, social and governance issues and
progress.

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group has set clear short-term
and long-term sustainable development vision and goals to achieve
ongoing emission reduction according to governmental requirements of
different countries and regions. Relevant emission reduction targets and
corresponding strategies are established and climate-related factors have
been incorporated into the Group’s strategic planning, business model
and other decision-making processes. The Board regularly monitors and
reviews the effectiveness of management approach, including reviewing
the Group’s environmental, social and governance performance and
adjusting corresponding action plans. Effective implementation of
environmental, social and governance policies relies on the collaboration
of different departments. Following the recommendations given by The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), in
order to endeavor to achieve the objective of sustainability development,
the Group has established an inter-departmental environmental, social
and governance working group to coordinate different departments
and enhance their mutual co-operation, for ensuring consistent work
performance which could be aligned with the stakeholders’ expectations.

The Group strives to ensure the establishment of appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems for supervision
of the identification and assessment of environmental, social and
governance and climate-related risks and opportunities, and response to
the challenges and impacts of different times.

Looking ahead, the Board will continue to review and monitor the
environmental, social and corporate governance performance of the
Group and provide material, reliable, consistent and comparable
environmental, social and corporate governance information to its
stakeholders for making contributions to create a better environment.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE HEREAWE

ABOUT THIS REPORT

The Group contributes to sustainable development by delivering
environmental, social and governance (the “ESG”) benefits to all
stakeholders in a balanced way. This year, the Group is pleased to
present our Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “ESG
Report”) for the year ended 30 September 2022 for the purpose
of demonstrating our efforts on sustainable developments to our
stakeholders. The Group’s Environmental, Social and Governance
Working Group (the “Working Group”) members are responsible
for communicating and collaborating with external consultants (RSM
Consulting (Hong Kong) Limited) to compile this annual ESG Report. In
the event of contradiction or inconsistency between the Chinese version
and the English version, the English version shall prevail.

REPORTING PERIOD

The ESG Report illustrates the overall performance of the Group
regarding the environmental and social aspects from 1 October 2021 to
30 September 2022 (the “Reporting Period”).

REPORTING SCOPE AND BOUNDARIES

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing and selling of
adhesives, primers, hardeners and vulcanized shoes adhesive related
products used by the footwear manufacturers. The information disclosed
in the ESG Report covers the core and material manufacturing and
sales business units of the Group in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”), Social Republic of Vietnam (“Vietnam”) and Republic of
Indonesia (“Indonesia”). The relevant environmental key performance
indicators (“KPI(s)”) mainly cover the operations units of offices and
manufacturing plants in the PRC and Vietnam. As at 30 September
2022, the non-current assets located in the PRC and Vietnam
constitutes around 76% of the total non-current assets of the Group and
number of employees in these locations constitute around 74% of the
total number of employees of the Group.

We are committed to improving internal data collection procedures
and gradually expanding the scope of the disclosure. If the scope and
boundaries of the specific contents vary, they are noted in the relevant
section of the ESG Report.

REPORTING BASIS

The ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG
Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (the
“Main Board Listing Rules”). The Group has complied with all “comply
or explain” provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide and followed
the four reporting principles — materiality, quantitative, balance and
consistency, in the preparation of the ESG Report.
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RE -#HERERARSE

REVIEW AND APPROVAL

The Board of Directors confirms that they have the responsibility
to ensure the completeness of this ESG Report, and to their best
knowledge, the ESG Report expounds all relevant important issues and
fairly presents the ESG performance of the Group. This ESG Report
was reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors on 23 December
2022.

INFORMATION AND FEEDBACKS

The Group respects your view on the ESG Report. Should you have any
opinions or suggestions, you are welcome to share with the Group at
ir@infinitydevelopment.com.hk.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
STRUCTURE

The Group is committed to integrating ESG factors into its operations,
creating sustainable value for stakeholders and fulfilling its responsibilities
as a corporate citizen. The Group has established the Working Group.
The Working Group is composed of core members from different
departments of the Group and is authorized by the Board of Directors
according to its terms of reference. It is responsible for reviewing and
evaluating the effectiveness of the sustainability structure, and managing
ESG issues and performance material to the Group. The progress of
achieving emission reduction targets is monitored by the Working Group,
the members are also responsible for communicating and collaborating
with external consultants to compile the annual ESG Report. The
Working Group has met on 23 September 2022 of the Reporting Period
and reported to the Board of Directors on the implementation of ESG
measures and performance of the business units. In response to the
Group’s ESG development, we will review and increase the frequency of
annual meetings according to actual needs in the future, to ensure that
due attention is given to the relevant issues.

The Board of Directors is responsible for setting the Group’s sustainable
development strategy and clear emission reduction targets, assessing
the actual and potential climate-related risks and opportunities that affect
the Group’s operations, and ensuring that the Group has established
appropriate and effective ESG risk management and internal control
system. The management reviews these risks and the effectiveness of
the internal control system and confirms to the Board of Directors.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE HEREAWE

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Stakeholders’ opinions are the solid foundation for the Group’s
sustainable development and success. The stakeholder engagement
helps the Group to develop a business strategy that meets the
stakeholders’ needs and expectation, enhances the ability to identify risk
and strengthens important relationships. Stakeholders can deliver their
valuable opinions on ESG to us through various channels. The relevant
stakeholders of the Group and their engagement platforms are as
follows:

FrinE2H
FNEBERAASENAIHERREKINERE
REFER -FNEZ2RBPAKEEH AR
0 & FREEIE e XI5 BER - 1R 7T R B 3 Bl B
WRZEEE@R - BOHENEBIERTE M
BMXRZHRE HEREASTHNERER
R-ASEHBENFOERE2EBTAMT:

Stakeholders Engagement Platforms

FHE BHY A

Government and regulatory agencies e Annual reports, interim reports, ESG reports and other public information
BRREEHE o FI PHWME RE HLELEABESUARHEMARER
Certification bodies e Regular audit

REHE s THIEE

Shareholders and investors e Annual general meetings and other general meetings of the Company
BRRREREE e RAIRFRAFAGRHMARAE

e Company’s website
LN ST
e Announcements

LI/ i

e Annual reports, interim reports, ESG reports and other public information
o FH -FHWRE RE HEREAMEUREMARER

Employees e Training
B8 o IFH
e Meetings
- G
e Performance evaluation
o KRR

e |eisure activities

o MEED

Customers e Fax, email and customer service hotline
BFE e HH EHREFRBEAEFEEE
e  Product and service feedback

o EmMRBKE

Suppliers e Annual audit
fitrEm s FEFEHE
e Meetings
. BH

e On-site visits
o EihEZ
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group identifies issues for disclosure in the ESG Report through
internal and external materiality assessment. By considering the
dependence and influence to the Group of the stakeholders and the
availability of the resources for the Group, the management has identified
key stakeholders and conducted survey with them. They have expressed
their opinions and recommendations on the sustainability issues related
to the Group’s operation via a survey.

Consolidating the results of internal assessment of the Group and
the survey, the Group has compiled the materiality matrix (refer to the
diagram below).

The issues that are identified with high importance are listed as follows:
° Quality of projects/services/products

o Safety of projects/services/products

° Customer satisfaction

° Occupational health and safety of staff

° Waste management

We determine the extent of disclosure in the ESG Report according to
the importance of the issues to the business and the stakeholders.
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Impact on the stakeholder
HiEHENTE
w

Materiality Matrix
B4R

BB
19752559 (4)
(SL75) @9
0

ag

@)

@)
19
@

1 Air emissions ) 10
KRG R

2 Greenhouse gas emissions 11
BE SR B

3 Effluents management 12
IKE R

4 Waste management 13
BEEYER

5 Energy efficiency 14
BE IR M 5

6 Water efficiency 15
FAK 2 2

7 Use of raw materials and packaging 16
materials
R # K B R WL B

8 Environmental regulation compliance 17
BFIRITER

9 Land use, pollution and restoration 18
THE A TR MIRE

19

2 3
Impact on the Group
HAREENTE

Climate change
FIRE (L

Employment practices

fEfBHE i

Diversity and equal opportunities of
staff

BEIZTLRTFEH#SE
Anti-discrimination

RIS

Occupational health and safety of
staff

BEIRXREALZS
Development and training of staff
8 TE R EIE

Prohibition of child labour and
forced labour

By LE & AR T 05k il 45
Responsible supply chain
management
BEENHERER
Environmental friendliness on
products and service purchased
REEQMRBORR R
Compliance with regulations on
marketing, product and service
labelling
%gﬁ%ﬁ%&%%ﬂ%%%%%
/.

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28
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Customers’ privacy and
confidentiality
BRI R E MR
Customer satisfaction
BEEmERE
Intellectual property

A ERE

Safety of projects/services/products
BEH R ERLD
Quiality of projects/services/
products

HE/ R/ EMEER
Business ethics

[EE3EE

Anti-corruption training for
management and employees
EREMEINREET
Contributions to the society

1t & B

Communication and connection
with local community

ELE A A SR ANEE R
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

Environmental Management Policy

The Group is committed to sustainable development and delivering our
high-quality products in a manner that minimal impact is created by our
business activities to the environment. For the environmental protection
and secure usage of chemical products, we are committed to:

° Establishing a responsible chemical sales and management
system, and making continuous effort to improve public health,
community safety and environmental protection;

o Paying great attention to the latest developments in environmental
protection and occupational hygiene and safety issues;

o Establishing stringent safety guidelines for utilizing and handling all
dangerous chemicals;

o Providing continuous education and training on occupational safety
and environmental protection to employees and customers;

° Dedicating to the research and development of products that are
both ecologically sound and occupationally safe; and

° Promoting the use of environmental-friendly products actively.

The Group has established an environmental management system to
review, monitor and improve the above policies and related procedures,
striving to reduce its environmental impacts and increase its operating
efficiency. The Group’s environmental management system was
accredited with ISO 14001:2015 certification.

In addition, the Group advocates energy saving and carbon reduction,
and is committed to achieving sustainable operations. To this end,
we have set clear emission reduction targets, aiming to reduce all our
emissions (including air pollutants, greenhouse gas, hazardous and
non-hazardous wastes, and sewage), energy consumption (including
electricity and heat) and consumption of resources (including water
and paper) by 3% before 2026 and 20% before 2036 from the base
year of 2021. Our long term target is to achieve carbon neutrality by
2050, which is the same target as set and adopted by Hong Kong and
Vietnam. Moreover, we are investing more resources in recycling to help
the development of circular economy.
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Emissions

Policy of the Group, Laws and Regulations Related to Emissions
The Group’s production facilities and business operation strictly abide by
the laws and regulations of the PRC and Vietnam, including but not
limited to {# #E A R EAMEIIRFREE) (Environmental Protection Law
of the PRC), (HFEARKEMBKRA)FEMEEE) (Law of the PRC on
the Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution?), {##E A R F1
= [E 82 EE )5 R IR BB A)A) (Law of the PRC on the Prevention and
Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste®), (% AR+ FEH
ISE AR AA) (Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Water
Pollution?), (Mt g x X MERBIRZEEL) (Environmental
Protection Law of Vietnam®), <(#iEa+t & = & A1 B T 2 BF s sy A
¥ EE B X £ 1i7 £ 1) (National Technical Regulations on Industrial
Emission of Inorganic Substances and Dusts of Vietnam®), (it e E
FHMBE TEB A EYBE R M) (National Technical Regulations
on Industrial Emission of Organic Substances of Vietnam*) and other
laws and regulations. We carry out treatment on exhaust gas,
wastewater and solid waste to ensure compliance with discharge
standards.

To the best of our Directors’ knowledge, the Group was not aware
of any material violation against laws and regulations in all material
aspects regarding air emissions, greenhouse gas emissions, wastewater
emissions, discharge on land, and hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes. During the year ended 30 September 2022, the Group did
not receive any fine, complaint or warning related to any material non-
compliance in respect of greenhouse gas emissions, harmful gas
emissions, air pollution, noise nuisance, water discharges and waste
disposals in the Reporting Period.

Types of Air Emissions and Emission Data

The Group strictly abides by national and local air emission standards,
including but not limited to CRKRI5RWERE HEIZ#E) (Integrated
Emission Standard of Air Pollutants®), (£ hH2RBHE TE AR
55 R HEUZ ) (Emission Standards of Air Pollutants for Paint, Ink
and Adhesive Industry*) stipulated in the National Standard of the PRC,
(RETSRMPEMIRE) (Air Pollutant Emission Limits*) in Guangdong
Province, (EREMBENE R HAITHE) (Interim Measures on
Administration of Carbon Emission of the Guangdong Province*) and
other laws and regulations.

# The English translation of Chinese names or words in the ESG Report, where
indicated, are included for information purpose only, and should not be regarded as
its official English translation of such Chinese names or words.
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Based on our assessment, the Group’s main source of air pollutant
emissions was generated from the manufacturing plants that consumed
diesel and LPG during the Reporting Period. By strengthening the
activated carbon exhaust gas treatment system, optimizing the
production process and regular maintenance of the exhaust treatment
system, we aim to achieve the target of reducing air emissions by 3%
before 2026 and 20% before 2036 from the base year of 2021.

During the year ended 30 September 2022, the Group’s air emission
type and respective emissions data' are listed as below:

BERMOTE AEBARSEWEERNE
THRFREREHANERLEHMBREAEBENE
ERE - RMPEEBNAETEREREER
GoBLEERERTHEEERERRS MU
TR —FREAEF AT RFHEINS
ARSEAMTERAED 2= RE_TE=Z/NFH
THRA P Z-_THEEZ:

BE—Z-_—ERASTRALEE KEEZ
SRR B S B 0 TR AR

Air Emissions? Unit 2022 2021

KRB F Y2 By —2== —E_—F

Nitrogen Oxides (NO) kilograms 8,087 7,8213
AEALMNO) T3

Sulphur Oxides (SO,) kilograms 532 5003
el (so) T

Particulate Matter (PM) kilograms 619 67

FERLY) (PM) T

Totals may not be the exact sum of numbers shown here due to rounding.

The figures covered the emissions from forklifts, generators, boilers and stoves in the
Group’s manufacturing plants in the PRC and Vietnam. The calculation method of
the corresponding air emission assessment figures and the emission factors used in
the calculation are based on “How to Prepare an ESG Report” issued by the Stock
Exchange and its annex “Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs”,
“Technical Guidelines for Compiling the Primary Source Emission Inventory of Inhalable
Atmospheric Particulate Matter (Trial)” and “Technical Guidelines for Compiling the

Inventory of Non-road Mobile Source Air Pollutants (Trial)” issued by the Ministry of

Ecology and Environment of the PRC, and the air pollutant emission factors published
by the United States Environmental Protection Agency.

8 The figures are restated.
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions Data

The Group conscientiously follows the low-carbon development goals of
China’s 14th Five-Year Plan, promotes corporate green transformation,
and strives to realize the corporate vision of carbon neutrality. The
Group’s direct greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1) were mainly from
diesel and LPG consumed in manufacturing plants and fugitive
emissions of refrigerants in cooling system. Indirect greenhouse gas
emissions (Scope 2) were mainly from electricity and heat consumed in
the Group. Due to the business nature of the Group, the greenhouse gas
emissions were mainly from Scope 2 emissions. During the year ended
30 September 2022, the Group’s total greenhouse gas emissions and
intensity* are listed as below:

BEREBHBEE

AEEREEMRETE [+ OR ] RIEHKE
REZ HPEEKEEL MO BRLERT
MBS AEENERAEREHR(BE—)
TEELBREREERNSR LRI AMR
AR A REGHR R ANE B R R TSR H R
EREHN(BE ) TERBAEENE N R
BN B - BERAEENERIEE Z'&%.E’]/ml
ERBIMIEXRBBE _HFR-BE

T —FAA=ZTRLEFE K’El/ﬂniﬁﬁi‘fﬁ!
BMEMBERTE R TR

Greenhouse Gas Emissions® Unit 2022 2021

BERBHER By —2== —E-—F

Scope 16 tonnes CO,-equivalent 384 431

&E—o A _EliREE

Scope 27 tonnes CO,-equivalent 3,243 2,547

& E—7 A _EiREE

Total Greenhouse Gas Emission tonnes CO,-equivalent 3,627 2,978
BERBHEN AME_EiREE

Greenhouse Gas Emission Intensity tonnes CO,-equivalent/tonnes of 0.11 0.12

adhesives produced?®

BERBEREE RS iR E & B & AR 2

4 Totals may not be the exact sum of numbers shown here due to rounding.

5 The figures covered the direct and indirect greenhouse gas emissions from the
Group’s offices and manufacturing plants in the PRC and Vietnam. The calculation
method of the corresponding greenhouse gas emission figures and the emission
factors used in the calculation are based on “How to Prepare an ESG Report”
issued by the Stock Exchange and its annex “Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance
on Environmental KPIs”, “Greenhouse Gas Emission Accounting and Reporting
Requirements Part 10: Chemical Production Enterprise” jointly issued by the General
Administration of Quality Supervision, Inspection and Quarantine of the PRC and
the Standardization Administration of the PRC, the “Emission Factors of China’s
Regional Power Grid Baseline for Emission Reduction Projects” issued by the Ministry
of Ecology and Environment of the PRC, “General Guideline of the Greenhouse Gas
Emissions Accounting and Reporting for Industrial Enterprises (trial)” issued by the
National Development and Reform Commission of the PRC and the IPCC Climate
Change Fifth Assessment Report.

6 Scope 1: The direct emission from the business operations owned or controlled by
the Group, including stationary combustion sources and mobile combustion sources,
as well as fugitive emissions.

7 Scope 2: The “indirect energy” emissions caused by the internal consumption of
purchased electricity and heat consumption within the Group.

8 The total amount of adhesives produced in the Reporting Period was around 31,753
tonnes.
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There is no material fluctuation on the Greenhouse Gas Emission
Intensity noted during the Reporting Period. The Group proactively
makes its great efforts to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by improving
our manufacturing system. We have set up exhaust gas treatment
facilities and equipment to treat the exhaust gas generated during our
manufacturing process. The Group will seriously consider the feasibility
of improving the efficiency of the manufacturing system by different
measures, and plans to gradually phase out the diesel forklifts by electric
forklifts. Whenever possible, the Group has endeavored the best effort in
greening process in the areas of our manufacturing plants.

Waste Data and Management

The Group strictly abides by the national and local waste discharge
standards, including but not limited to (ER A & EY 5 LREN A
1&171) (Regulations on the Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution by Solid Wastes of the Guangdong Province®), {—#% T ¥ [& §2
BEWET TR Ba B 155 4R HI4Z %) (Standard for Pollution Control on
General Industrial Solid Wastes Storage and Disposal Sites?) and (/&
RE W BT 15 e H#Z %) (Standard for Pollution Control on Hazardous
Wastes Storage*) stipulated in the Nation Standard of the PRC, (¥ /&
IRIBIRE L)) (Environmental Protection Regulations of Zhuhai*) and
other laws and regulations.

# The English translation of Chinese names or words in the ESG Report, where
indicated, are included for information purpose only, and should not be regarded as
its official English translation of such Chinese names or words.
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Due to the business nature of the Group, various hazardous waste and
non-hazardous waste are generated during the manufacturing process.
During the year ended 30 September 2022, the waste data® are listed as
below:

ERAEENEBHEE SREZEEYRE
EREVERNVERERELE - HEZS =
FAAZTHIEFE ZEEEVNEBERT
*x:

Types of Waste Unit 2022 2021
EE =Y B By —¥F=-C —T—_—F
Total Hazardous Waste™ tonnes 131 60
EEBEREYHEE NL

Hazardous Waste Intensity tonnes/tonnes of adhesives produced'" 0.0041 0.0023
FERREYERE AME B R AE R B

Total Non-Hazardous Waste'? tonnes 20 267
BEBRREYHE? N

Non-Hazardous Waste Intensity tonnes/tonnes of adhesives produced! 0.0006 0.0103
BEBRREYEE AME BB A EE R B

The Group’s hazardous waste was mainly generated during the
production process, including waste adhesives, waste packaging,
batteries, activated carbon used in exhaust treatment, while non-
hazardous waste mainly included industrial waste and domestic waste.

The Group has established Waste Management Policy to manage
the storage, disposal and treatment of wastes generated during the
manufacturing process. Hazardous waste is strictly segregated from
non-hazardous waste for proper collection and treatment purposes.
Hazardous waste has been clearly identified and stored in a designated
and segregated area. Licensed waste collectors have been engaged for
disposal of hazardous waste. Some of the materials were recycled and
some were incinerated in incineration sites. For non-hazardous waste,
the industrial waste was incinerated in incineration sites and useful parts
were recycled, where domestic waste was mainly transferred to landfill
for burial.

o Totals may not be the exact sum of numbers shown here due to rounding.
10 The figure covered hazardous waste generated in the production process of plants in
the PRC and Vietnam.

" The total amount of adhesives produced in the Reporting Period was around 31,753
tonnes.

The figure covered domestic waste and non-hazardous industrial waste generated in
plants in the PRC and Vietnam.
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The Group strictly abides by the national and local laws and regulations
regarding wastewater discharge, including but not limited to {F#ZE AR
HMBEIKT R E%) (Water Pollution and Control Law of the PRCH),
GBS KBEABEKE B ] E R P X) (Administrative Measures for
the Licensing of Discharge of Urban Sewage into the Drainage Network)
and other laws and regulations. Our business operation did not involve
any material sewage discharge generated in industrial process. All our
domestic wastewater was treated properly before discharging into the
municipal pipe network and all the effluent and sewage was treated
properly according to the requirements of the local regulations. The total
amount of sewage generated during the Reporting Period was around
46,403 tonnes, reduced around 7% by comparing to the data from last
year.

USE OF RESOURCES

Resources Policies and Relevant Laws and Regulations
regarding Energy Conservation

The Group’s production facilities and business operation strictly abide by
the laws and regulations of the PRC and Vietnam, including but not
limited to (P FEARLFBFELEE)R)E) (Energy Conservation Law of
the PRC* and other laws and regulations. We are committed to
improving the efficiency of energy use, advocating conservation of
resources, and improving the efficiency of energy and resource
consumption.

The main resources consumed in the manufacturing process were
purchased electricity, fuel, steam, water and packaging material. As
an environmentally responsible company, the Group is committed to
improving the efficiency and effectiveness of resource use in order to
minimize wastage in the manufacturing process and avoid excessive use
of precious resources.

# The English translation of Chinese names or words in the ESG Report, where
indicated, are included for information purpose only, and should not be regarded as
its official English translation of such Chinese names or words.
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ﬁbl \/éﬁ&&l\
BE_T-__FNLA=1TBLEE A&KEEZ

Energy Consumption and Intensity
During the year ended 30 September 2022, the data of Group’s total

energy consumption'® by type are listed as below: BRI S HRERE BRI T
Unit 2022 2021
B —®¥==F ~T-—F
Energy Consumption  Direct Energy Consumption MWh 1,183 1,216
BERH £ HiERRERE K BB
Diesel litres 116,552 120,024
Seomh ~F
LPG kilograms 1,296 1,152
BAEEER T
Indirect Energy Consumption MWh 4,613 3,304
EERERERE K E B
Purchased electricity MWh 3,597 3,102
SNEE JE LI
Self-generated steam tonnes 54 54
BEZER NI
Purchased steam tonnes 1,338 1,042
MBS NI
Total Energy Consumption MWh 5,796 4,520
BEETRE KB
Energy Consumption Intensity MWh/tonnes of 0.18 017
adhesives produced®
RRHEERE K F B BB A 7 A S
13 Totals may not be the exact sum of numbers shown here due to rounding. 1 HEENNBAARIRE @it KRB A RETH

The figures covered the direct and indirect energy consumption in the Group’s
offices and manufacturing plants in the PRC and Vietnam. The calculation method
of the corresponding energy consumption figures and the emission factors used
in the calculation are based on “How to Prepare an ESG Report” issued by the
Stock Exchange and its annex “Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental
KPIs”, “Greenhouse Gas Emission Accounting and Reporting Requirements Part
10: Chemical Production Enterprise” jointly issued by the General Administration of
Quality Supervision, Inspection and Quarantine of the PRC and the Standardization
Administration of the PRC and Energy Statistic Manual issued by the International
Energy Agency.

The total amount of adhesives produced in the Reporting Period was around 31,753
tonnes.
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Water Consumption and Intensity KEREERRE

During the year ended 30 September 2022, to the best of our Directors’ #HE_-_Z_-__—_HF QWA=+ HIFE REEA
knowledge, the Group was not aware of any material issue in sourcing A& AEBR AR SICERKEHE T EE
water that is fit for purpose, the data of the Group’s total water KEIE G KREBAKEEER RO T
consumption are listed as below:

Water Resource' Unit 2022 2021

K& JR® By —E=-= —E -

Water Consumption cubic meters 59,640 72,156

AXKE 3K

Water Consumption Intensity cubic meters/tonnes of adhesives 1.88 2.79
produced'”

AkERE SR B A EME ST

Paper Consumption AHE

The paper used in the Reporting Period was mainly from the offices in  spa sy AE T E R G B R R E KB
Vietnam and the PRC. During the year ended 30 September 2022, the @i = Hes-—E-—FHLA=t+HILEE

data of the Group’s paper consumption are listed as below: AEEHERSMNT:
Unit 2022 2021
By ZEZCF —E-—F
Paper Consumption tonnes 2.40 2.01
AEE NI

The figures covered the water consumption in production process and domestic 1 FEREAEERFENEENRAERNEREH

water consumption of the Group’s offices and manufacturing plants in the PRC and FERKREFERKE
Vietnam.

7 The total amount of adhesives produced in the Reporting Period was around 31,753 7 s BN BB 48 £ E N 240 A3, 753 A
tonnes.
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Packaging Material

The Group mainly used carton boxes, plastic containers, metal and
wood as packaging material for our adhesive products. During the year
ended 30 September 2022, the Group purchased approximately 2,800
tonnes of packaging material for sales of adhesive products. We aim to
improve the functionality of the packaging materials through continuous
examination of using stronger and lighter packaging materials found in
the market, whenever feasible. During the year ended 30 September
2022, the data of the Group’s total packaging material consumption by
type are listed as below:

SR m B R MR

AEBETEERMAE BHER 2B RAMIE
REMBHBERNEEMB - BE-T -
FAA=ZTBELFE AEERBHEERH
ERBA2,8002MEBERM - A TTHIRR T -
B EERFERATS LEREREEEA
BEMHMNER BARKMHNEE -BE
T _FNAA=THLFE rEEZEHS
DERBEMBEERSRTT

Unit 2022 2021
By —E-CF —E—F
Packaging Material tonnes 2,800 2,175
gEMR YN |
Carton boxes tonnes 275 234
HAa N
Plastic tonnes 776 654
BRE N
Metal tonnes 1,649 1,287
&8 NI
Wood tonnes 100 N/A
R N 3 A
THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES REMBAEBR

Everyone in the Group has the responsibility to support environmental
protection. The Group is committed to sustainable development and
delivering our high-quality products in a manner that minimize impact
to the environment caused by our business activities. Apart from those
details disclosed in the sections “Environmental Management Policy”,
“Emissions” and “Use of Resources” above, the Group put environmental
protection concepts into practice through the measures listed below:

Electricity

o Set up electricity meters in multiple locations to monitor the
electricity consumption status, detect and avoid abnormal usage
as early as possible;

o Promote energy-saving habits, promote the habit of turning off
lights, equipment, air-conditioning system during non-working
hours;

o Replacement of lighting systems in offices and factories by energy-
saving LED lighting systems;

RERERAKSEE —REINAT AKH
BHOARAKEERMREREREEMORE -
HEMNEEEZBDUREMERNEERER
BN EXTRREEBRR] - (B8] R [&
RER EEMWEZFHBIN AEBETEBIAT
R THERRBREED:

AENE
e EREH BEERENRN UREHBRLK
st o L 5 AR

o  HEMREEBE RIFERKEHETEE.
B BRI = A RS

. PBAEHFEANBRHRAE L AEEDN
LEDE Z#t
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° Promote video conferencing to save energy consumption in
transportation;

° Minimum temperature air-conditioning setting in the offices is set
to be 25 degrees Celsius;

o Inspect old air-conditioning system and gradually replace it with
energy-saving inverter equipment;

o Use split-type air conditioners that have obtained Grade 1 (or
comparable efficiency) energy label; and

° Allow employees to dress lightly to minimise the use of air-
conditioning in hot months.

Water Consumption

o Set up water meters at multiple locations to monitor the water
consumption, detect and avoid abnormal usage as early as
possible;

o Inspect pipelines regularly, check and repair the water pipes

leakage to avoid wastage; and
° Turn off the faucets when not in use.

Paper Saving

° Promote paperless office, use e-mail and online systems as much
as possible for document review and communication, reduce the
frequency of printing and/or photocopying, and reduce office paper
usage.

Reduction of Plastic Bottle Waste

° Reduce the use of plastic bottled water — water refilling system
is installed in all production bases and plants, employees are
encouraged to bring their own reusable cups to reduce the use of
plastic bottles.

CLIMATE CHANGE

Climate change is one of the biggest global challenges faced by the
society nowadays, and we must act now for our climate and our
communities. In recent years, extreme weather, such as strong winds
and heavy rainfall, as well as tides and floods, have become the focus
of news. Logistics and supply chains are particularly vulnerable. Heavy
rainfall, rising tides, and floods may cause serious damage to assets
such as buildings, warehouses, and goods in storage, resulting in
financial losses. Although such incidents are beyond everyone’s control,
the Group believes that all stakeholders should work together to
address climate change, which will also be regarded as one of the most
significant risks to the world in the next five years.
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The COVID-19 pandemic has been posing many new challenges, but
it would not deter our commitment to climate-change action. The pace
of change has expedited around the world and it has underscored the
importance for the Group to accelerate its transition to a low-carbon
economy. The Group has established a climate change action plan,
aiming to build a considerable resilience approach in facing the global
climate change. Replacing fossil fuel-powered equipment, adoption of
alternative energy and increase the efficiency of the manufacturing plants
are the key actions to be done in the coming years.

In response to the Paris Agreement, the Hong Kong Government issued
the “Hong Kong’s Climate Action Plan”, and formulated various plans
and actions, setting out the vision of “Zero-carbon Emissions, Liveable
City, Sustainable Development”. The Government has determined to set
medium-term goal as halving Hong Kong’s total carbon emissions from
2005 levels before 2035. The Hong Kong and Vietnamese governments
have also announced that they will strive to achieve carbon neutrality by
2050, and the PRC will strive to achieve carbon neutrality by 2060.

The Group essentially plans to respond to local government initiatives
and follow local governments’ emission reduction requirements. We aim
to reduce emissions by 3% before 2026 and 20% before 2036 from
the base year of 2021, and ensure that the Group’s greenhouse gas
emissions will comply with the more stringent requirements set up by
local governments. These emissions reduction targets will be reviewed
by the Board on regular basis. The Group’s long-term target is to
achieve carbon neutrality by 2050, which is the same target as set and
adopted by Hong Kong and Vietnam. We are committed to continuously
improving energy efficiency and applying professional knowledge to
improve on-site efficiency and maintain efficient management support, in
order to safeguard the Group’s reputation.

The Group has also identified the potential climate-related risks that are
relevant to our assets and services. Due to the business nature of the
Group, the increasing frequency and severity of flooding and extreme
weather events may cause damage to our property, equipment and
products, resulting in the increase in cost of operations; shifting in
consumer preferences due to the transition to a low-carbon economy
may change the supply and demand for certain products of the Group.
The impact of the above physical and transition risks are prioritized to be
addressed by the Board and the Working Group.
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Over the years, we have been grasping different opportunities to expand
our business, accelerate the transformation and make the Group
smarter, more environmentally friendly, and safer for employees and
product users (such as automation of production, and utilizing digital
platforms for online conference to reduce carbon footprint in
transportation during the pandemic). It has made our facilities more
sustainable and fulfill our commitment to resource management and
environmental protection. During the Reporting Period, the Group has
cooperated with J#FE # A S R B R A7 (Hunan Changsha
Intelligent Technology Co. Ltd.*), through 3% & 5 & 31 4£ )8 A R A 7
(Hunan Xingshi New Energy Co. Ltd.*), an associate of the Group, to
collaborate in photovoltaics system projects about facilitation of the
development of renewable energy.

SER ZA-—BENATAREBIRRER MR
BRANEASEZSELRREERR BIME
mEREELRE (PIMEE#ML  MERBT
EREZELEZET T ARERBERM
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# The English translation of Chinese names or words in the ESG Report, where
indicated, are included for information purpose only, and should not be regarded as
its official English translation of such Chinese names or words.
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SOCIAL ASPECTS

Employment and Labour Practices

Employment

The Group considers employees as the most valuable wealth and
resources and believes that they are propellent of corporate growth.
Therefore, the Group is committed to providing an equal, harmonious
and diversified working environment to our employees in order to attract
and retain suitable talents in the competitive labour market and for the
purpose of maintaining its competitiveness in the industry.

Our employment management policies cover resources planning,
performance evaluation, training, compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity and anti-discrimination.

The Group strictly abides by the laws and regulations of the PRC,
Vietnam and Indonesia regarding employment, including but not limited
to (hFEARLMEBELEAREL) (Labour Contract Law of the PRCH),
(PEARLMBEH EREE) (Social Insurance Law of the PRC#), (/R
#=ARLFE ¥R E L) (Employment Promotion Law of the PRCH),
(i &) JL) (The Labour Code of Vietnam?) and other laws and
regulations.

The Group always shows our kindness and care to our staff. In addition
to those benefits required by law, the Group also provides other
benefits and welfare for social responsibilities purposes. To ensure
equal opportunities of career development, employees must disclose
the information of relatives working in the Group in the job application
process. The Group does not tolerate discrimination. Employees should
not be treated unequally on their personal characteristics, including
age, gender, religious belief, nationality and pregnancy. Opportunities
for promotion, training, resources, and recruitment should be provided
on a fair basis. In addition, the Group places a high value on creation
of a diversified corporate culture by making active efforts to recruit
employees with different background to facilitate the Group’s progress of
turning into a big family with diversification.

The Group has established objective performance indicators for
employees’ annual performance evaluation. Based on the evaluation
result, the Group offers rewards to our employees who perform
outstandingly so as to encourage their continuous improvement and
achieve the target of mutual growth of employees and the Group.
During the year ended 30 September 2022, to the best of our Directors’
knowledge, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance or
breach of relevant laws and regulations regarding employment.

# The English translation of Chinese names or words in the ESG Report, where
indicated, are included for information purpose only, and should not be regarded as
its official English translation of such Chinese names or words.
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As at 30 September 2022, the Group had 396 employees. The data of R-ZE-—"FNA=+H KNEEHFIWBZEE -
Group’s number of employees and turnover by type in the Reporting $HREHANAEBIREEZIDNEE ARELR KL

Period are listed as below: MARETERET
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Employee Number Total 396 356
EEAH ny
By Gender
LR
Male 293 262
ES
Female 103 94
z
By Age Group
RE AR
Below 30 93 78
30LA T
30-50 258 242
30-50
Above 50 45 36
5054 £
By Employment Type
REERAE
Full time 396 356
Part-time 0 0
Fe B
By Geographical Regions
i 3R @ 1,
The PRC 107 104
HF b
Regions of Hong Kong, Macau 22 22
and Taiwan
AR A H R
Vietnam and Cambodia 180 1783
5 E e SR I
Indonesia 74 45
e
Bangladesh 9 9
EER)lIEa
Singapore 4 3
1 hN3E
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2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
Employees Turnover Rate™ Overall number (Turnover rate) 58 (14.6%) 63 (17.7%)
EER AL e BERERAAB(REAELR)
By Gender
=14 51
Male (Turnover rate) 45 (15.4%) 42 (16.0%)
BHEAH(BHRALE)
Female (Turnover rate) 13 (12.6%) 21 (22.3%)
ZHEANE (MR RLEE)
By Age Group
RFEERAR
Below 30 (Turnover rate) 20 (21.5%) 26 (33.3%)
BOATAB (KL E)
30-50 (Turnover rate) 36 (14.0%) 29 (12.0%)
30-50 A B (MKt %)
Above 50 (Turnover rate) 2 (4.4%) 8 (22.2%)
S50LA EAB ORK %)
By Geographical Regions
=i R
The PRC (Turnover rate) 15 (14.0%) 15 (14.4%)
B A A S (R %)
Regions of Hong Kong, Macau 1 (4.5%) 3 (13.6%)
and Taiwan (Turnover rate)
BRAME AR (ORKLLE)
Vietnam and Cambodia (Turnover rate) 29 (16.1%) 35 (20.2%)
MERREEAR (RKLLE)
Indonesia (Turnover rate) 12 (16.2%) 4 (8.9%)
ENEAS (KL %)
Bangladesh (Turnover rate) 0 (0%) 4 (44.4%)
AN AB (K E)
Singapore (Turnover rate) 1 (25.0%) 2 (66.7%)
AR (K E)
18 Turnover rate = number of employees in the specified category leaving employment/ 1 MEALER=2FZBR OB A G UREHRZE

number of employees in the specified category at the end of the Reporting Period. Al B 48 % -
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Health and Safety

The Group adheres great importance to the health of our employees and
is dedicated to creating a safe working environment for our employees.
The safeguard for employees’ health and safety is one of the most
important parts of the Group’s corporate control management.

The Group strictly abides by the labour laws and regulations of the PRC,
Vietham and Indonesia, including but not limited to  {# & A R M E 44
&)%) (Labour Law of the PRCY), (R A R HEFEI B 2R 8%) (Law
of the PRC on Prevention and Treatment of Occupational Diseases?),
(pE ANRFZMBIHGA) (Fire Control Law of the PRCY), (Bi¥% %
KM EEFEEH) (Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance), {44 T
%) (Labour Code of Vietnam*), (@B A KB AEA R K B 1535 )
(Fire Prevention and Fire Fighting Law and Its Implementation Guidelines
of Vietham®) and other laws and regulations.

To create a safe working environment, the Group has established safety
policies on the prevention and remediation of safety accidents, and
detection on potential safety hazards in workplace, including regular
safety inspections and launch of safety promotion and safety training.
To mitigate the health and safety risk during manufacturing processes,
protective equipment, including emergency eye wash equipment,
helmets and respirators, is provided to operating employees.

The prevention of occupational diseases requires multi-disciplinary
approaches. The Group has established an Employee (Occupational)
Health Examination Management System to monitor the health status of
our employees, minimizing the risks of occupational diseases.

As mentioned earlier, the Group has set up exhaust gas treatment
facilities and equipment to treat the exhaust gas generated during our
manufacturing process. Our staff are briefed and trained with safety and
environmental knowledge regularly to ensure that everyone understands
the risks of each task they involve in, and possesses safety awareness
of the environment. Hazardous materials and waste are handled
separately with great care. Fire emergency and evacuation plan have
been established for timely and orderly response to any major safety
accidents. The Group monitors the workplace safety regularly and
performs regular checking to avoid workplace safety hazards. To ensure
the effectiveness of fire emergency control, the Group has appointed
a third-party institute to test the fire alarms and inspect the fire safety
equipment.

# The English translation of Chinese names or words in the ESG Report, where
indicated, are included for information purpose only, and should not be regarded as
its official English translation of such Chinese names or words.
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In addition, to create a pleasant and healthy working environment, the
Group provides an outdoor basketball court, swimming pool and other
fitness facilities available to our employees.

The outbreak of the COVID-19 brought challenges to both the Group’s
operations and customers. As such, the Group implemented a number
of measures across business units to safeguard the health of customers
and employees. The Group operated strictly in accordance with the
crowd control and social distancing rules issued by respective local
Governments, and proactively implement additional disinfection steps to
maintain a safe and hygienic environment.

To the best of our Directors’ knowledge, there was no official record
of any fatal accident and major work-related fatality in the Reporting
Period, and there was no record of work-related fatality for at least three
consecutive reporting years.

During the year ended 30 September 2022, the data of the Group’s
work-related injuries and fatalities of the past three reporting years are
listed as below:

Btk A S - 7 o 3 R AN EE RIS - O R KL
fhe s e BB TAlE—ERMEAREST
Y5 -

2019BRBEERBEERAKELERERPYSE
KRB - Bt NREBEERE— RN BEMBEH
BumiEn REEXFPLERBRE -AEENE
EERR BT S BTEM RS R R ER
MAD Y EHRIMBENES TR #RFL 2R
HEIRE -

REEMAM BREHALE\EE(E@MEATLR
CTEH TEEHRIZERSFEREEAIC
BV AZ 8% ©

HE_ZT-_—_FhAA=ZTHLEFE XxEEB
EZ-EHREFERTISTHEEG RN T

2022 2021 2020
—E=-= —E-—%F —EFEF
Number of Work-Related Fatalities 0 0 0
TTHAE
Rate of work-related fatalities 0% 0% 0%
B T T8t %
Number of Work Injuries 2 0 1
EIZEAH
Lost days due to work injury 131 0 2
HAIEBAIIEAH
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Development and Training

The Group adheres great importance to sustainable development of our
employees. As such, the Group arranges appropriate training programs
according to the needs of the departments, including the areas of
environmental management, occupational health and safety.

In order to meet the needs of the Group’s sustainable development, to
realize employees’ understanding and recognition of corporate culture,
internal rules and regulations, and job responsibilities, and to ensure
that employees’ job knowledge and skills can be improved, we have
formulated the “Training Management Procedures” that are applicable to
the implementation, supervision, evaluation and improvement of various
training programs in the Group.

Each department head formulates an “Annual Department Training
Plan” according to their own business development needs every year
in December and submits it to the Human Resources Department for
review. The Human Resources Department coordinates the training
resources of each department and prepares a company-level “Annual
Training Plan”. In addition to our job training, the Group organizes
induction training for new employees according to their job categories,
including no less than eight hours of factory-level safety training to
provide occupational safety knowledge, occupational health knowledge,
ISO14001 environmental management system knowledge and promote
environmental protection awareness.

The Group upholds an open and responsible attitude, listens to opinions
with an open mind, and improves its work efficiency through continuous
discussion and introspection.
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The number of trained employees and the average training hours have
increased significantly in the Reporting Period. During the year ended 30
September 2022, the employee training data of the Group are listed as
below:

REHALINE T AN TEE IS S EE
ZRIT-BE-_E-_—_FNA=THILEE K
EEBEBEINEIIEEZNT

2022 2021
—E—-= —ET -5

Number of Trained Employees and Percentage' Overall
FBIABRB D B
By Gender
=R
Male
Es
Female

£°8

By Level

R AR
Top management
RRERE
General staff
—RET

137 (34.6%) 86 (24.2%)

85 (29.0%) 56 (21.4%)

52 (50.5%) 30 (31.9%)

6 (18.2%) 5 (45.5%)

131 (36.1%) 81 (23.5%)

Average Training Hours (hour/employee)? Overall
FIGEHREE (N BI)® e
By Gender
=14 5
Male
ES
Female

L8

By Level

RBAR
Top management
=RERE
General staff
—fRET

4.62 1.92

3.93 1.69

6.57 2.55

48.2 3.23

0.66 1.88

1 Percentage of trained employee = number of employees received training during the
Reporting Period / number of employees at the end of the Reporting Period.

2 Average training hours = total training hours during the Reporting Period / total
number of employees at the end of the Reporting Period.

19 BEIABES L = WEMEEZEIAZ/REHEK
BT AH-

20 FEEIINE = REPHSIRRE/REPRES
TA#-
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Labour Standards

The Group strictly abides by the national and local labour laws and
regulations, including but not limited to those listed in the “Employment”
section of the ESG Report, (FZE A R HEFERKF A REZE) (Law of
the PRC on the Protection of Minors*), <({&{&{&#I) (Employment
Ordinance), (&M RZE &%) (Employment of Children Regulations) and
other laws and regulations. Apart from that, the Group’s employee
handbook clearly stated that any form of child labour and forced labour
is prohibited within the Group. During the recruitment process, the
Group would verify the actual age of the applicants by checking their
identity documentations and other records to avoid hiring any child
labour. If any violation is discovered, it will handle it in a serious manner,
depending on the actual situation, it will be handled in accordance with
national and local laws and regulations, and the Group’s internal codes.

During the year ended 30 September 2022, to the best of our Directors’
knowledge, there was no official record of any material non-compliance
or breach of relevant laws and regulations regarding child labour and
forced labour.

OPERATING PRACTICES

Supply Chain Management

The Group adheres great importance to the collaboration with suppliers
and believes deeply that establishment of a cooperation relationship
with suppliers would enhance the continuous improvement on the
Group’s workflow and product quality. The Group has established
Supply Chain Management System and conducts comprehensive
evaluations of suppliers on a regular basis. In addition to reviewing
factors such as brand and product quality, suppliers’ environmental and
social responsibility performance is one of our primary considerations in
establishing strategic relationships. In considering building partnership,
we will give priority to companies holding 1SO14001 environmental
management system certification. The Group conducts regular on-site
inspections to check and review the performance of suppliers.

# The English translation of Chinese names or words in the ESG Report, where
indicated, are included for information purpose only, and should not be regarded as
its official English translation of such Chinese names or words.
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In order to manage the environmental and social risks of the supply
chain, suppliers need to sign and seal the “Environmental Requirements
for Material Suppliers” provided by the Group, which stipulates that
the general supplier shall commit to take effective control measures
in handling the wastewater, exhaust gas and noise generated during
the production of materials and to comply with the national and local
emission standards. The hazardous chemical suppliers need to provide
the Group with valid production permits, and the relevant distributors
need to provide the Group with operating permits for hazardous
chemicals. To avoid leakage or pollution during transportation, suppliers
are required to use vehicles with safety specifications, specified
according to product category, in accordance with the requirements
listed in the “Environmental Requirements for Material Suppliers”.
Suppliers shall take full responsibilities for the risks during transportation.
For social responsibilities, suppliers need to promise to provide
employees with a safe and healthy working environment, abide by
relevant labour laws and regulations, including preventing and deterring
any form of child labour and forced labour. They are required to operate
with honesty and comply with the laws and regulations.

We are committed to promoting the procurement and use of more
environmentally-friendly products and materials. According to the
Group’s “Restricted Substances Management Procedures”, suppliers
are required to make a “Restricted Substances Compliance Declaration”
to ensure that materials and products meet international environmental
protection requirements. It requires suppliers to ensure that the amount
of restricted substances detected in the raw material and all production
processes is lower than the respective standard or not being detected
at all. No other hazardous chemical substances shall be detected in the
finished product and packaging.

During the year ended 30 September 2022, the Group’s suppliers by
geographical distribution are listed as below:

REBHEENRENL SRR HERTE
RASEREN MHEETREZER) B4
EE AR -ROHEAFTAEZEYHL
FEIBTE T E A HYREK - BE R R 2 RENA WA
2 I $E B - HEOR BE S B B S AN 7 MO R R
Mt Bekamtt B RFE R AR EIRHEE RN
HEFAAR FELHEHBATRAEEREMHR
L2k m&asta & - (MR ERITRRENR)
NEREEHEEGBREPRBEERERNEA
NELE2MARNERER BRBETHEME
EERERL- HEBFERHERBRETAERR
BREEE-MHESEETH HERFTARA/E
TRHZEZBENTHERE ETHBY X
BRER BREHEBIEEAEANE TR
BB T MEIBECELE -

BMBANRERBNERE S NWRKREMRT
B REBEASE (RHERBMEERRERF) - H#
FEBEL (RAMEERKBH)  EROH K
EmTABERRRER REXRVMESEKE
RRERERTE2RAHRERMBHANAE D
TEBAET YHRAEEMELENCLENE
HIRAEK B BEH -

BHE_Z__FAA=1THILFE AKED
HEmMERALIESHIT

2022 2021

Location i B —EZHF —F—
The PRC B A i 141 113
Hong Kong oS 9 14
Taiwan =% 19 12
Vietnam fig=] 49 9
Indonesia e 15 0
Japan =[N 3 2
Thailand £ 3 3
South Korea [ 2 0
Singapore F b3 2 4
Germany = 1 2
Switzerland Et 0 1
Total &5t 244 160
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Product Responsibility

The Group believes that we could only gain trust and support from
our customers upon we create the best value for them. In response
to the rapid-changing market and increasing demand, the Group will
continue to put the focus of our development on high-quality products,
innovations and to pay attention to our customers’ needs. We are
persistent in improving our operation system. We treasure honesty,
put the customers’ needs as our top priority, and act in a proactive
and responsible manner to maintain a win-win relationship with our
customers. We strive to attain a deep understanding of our customers’
requirements and try our very best to meet their needs and even exceed
their expectations. While collaborating with our customers and working
partners, we grow and make progress together. We are committed to
establishing a responsible chemical management system, formulating
strict safety procedures for the use of dangerous substances, and
focusing on researching and developing products that comply with
the ecologically and environmentally friendly principles and the safety
standards for our employees’ use. We also proactively promote the use
of environmentally friendly products.

Product Health and Safety and Quality Management

The public awareness and expectation on chemicals and product safety
keep rising. As a responsible chemical manufacturing company, we have
accredited with the ISO 9001:2015 and ISO 14001:2015 certificates and
strictly monitor the quality and safety of our products.

Since our manufacturing processes involve chemicals, we are committed
to complying with local rules and regulations on product safety, and
protecting consumers’ health on using our products. In accordance with
the requirements of ISO 9001:2015 and ISO 14001:2015, the Group
implements stringent internal codes and procedures for quality check
during the manufacturing process. Any non-conformity products must be
handled properly with procedures such as proper labelling and recording.

We manage and standardize the quality inspection of raw materials,
semi-finished products and finished products involved in various output
and delivery links in manufacturing plants in accordance with the “Testing
Management Procedures” to ensure that the quality is strictly monitored
before being transported to the next production process. If there is an
abnormality during the inspection, the inspectors are required to fill in
the “Strategic Plan for Non-conformity” and proceed to the “Management
Plan for Non-conformity”.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE HEREAWE

The Group strictly abides by national and local laws and regulations,
including but not limited to the Standards for (¥ #1485 A B H)
(Adhesives for Shoes and Bags*), (BZiEIEZEERILAMEE)
(Limits of Adhesive Volatile Organic Compounds®), {;& %t I8 2 14 5 #
ft&& 2R E) (Limits for Volatile Organic Compounds Content in
Cleaning Agents®) and CRIFE EE @7 Z B E) (Technical
Requirement for Environmental Labeling Products — Adhesives®)
stipulated in the National Standard of the PRC. During the year ended
30 September 2022, to the best of our Directors’ knowledge, there was
no official record of any material non-compliance or violation of relevant
laws and regulations regarding product quality.

Product Return and Recall Policy, Customer Complaint Handling
The Group maintains the usual high quality of our products, meanwhile,
we also arrange for the return and compensation of products with quality
issues in accordance with the terms written in the sales contracts. For
any customers who are affected by quality issues, we respond to them
with standard procedures including return, recall, or compensation of
products in a consistent manner.

In addition to regulating various “non-conformity” conditions, e.g.
abnormal quality, occur during the transportation of raw materials to
and within the factories and warehouses, manufacturing processes, as
well as shipping and delivery process in the manufacturing plants, the
“Substandard Management Procedures” also includes procedures for
handling customer complaints or returns. The employees who handle the
situation are required to fill in the “Substandard Countermeasures Form”
and submit it to the Quality Control Department. The Quality Control
Department will determine and classify the “non-conformity” conditions,
and propose solutions to the complaint, such as arrangement of the
return procedure. After the “non-conformity” products are identified,
they may be prohibited for use or discarded. After the procedures are
completed, the Quality Control Department will archive and manage
them in accordance with the “Records Management Procedures”, and
conduct analysis and review from time to time. Relevant records will be
added to the group’s internal review system and annual management
review system.

During the year ended 30 September 2022, to the best of our Directors’
knowledge, there was no official record of complaint about product or
service, and there were no sold or shipped products that were subject
to recalls for safety and health reasons.

# The English translation of Chinese names or words in the ESG Report, where
indicated, are included for information purpose only, and should not be regarded as
its official English translation of such Chinese names or words.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE -#HERERARSE

Product Advertising/Labelling

The Group understands our customers’ rights and is committed to
providing accurate product and service information for customers in
connection with their purchase or consumption decision. The Group
requires careful review of advertising material to protect our customers’
interest. The Group is committed to providing sufficient and accurate
information and product label to customers, and considers that it is
an extended responsibility of product safety management. The Group
provides clear and simple instructions, including the danger, precaution
measures and emergency treatment of chemical products and contact
information.

The Group strictly abides by national and local laws and regulations,
including but not limited to the {({tZ2HEZZIZHEFESHE) (Chemical
Safety Label Compilation Regulations*) stipulated in the National
Standard of the PRC and other laws and regulations, in order to ensure
the correct compilation, production and use of chemical safety labels.

Intellectual Property Protection and Data Protection and Privacy
The Group strictly abides by national and local laws and regulations,
including but not limited to the (F#EARKEFBEZEF|E) (Patent Law of
the PRCH),  (hE ARFEFEZIEHE) (Copyright Law of the PRCH), (#
#= A RAMBEFEIEE) (Trademark Law of the PRC) and other laws and
regulations. In order to protect the information of customers and the Group
(including information related to intellectual property rights), we have
formulated guidelines for job conduct to ensure that office equipment such
as laptops are properly kept. All the documents and electronic materials of
the Group, including teaching materials for training, are not allowed to
circulate outside without authorization. All business information, financial
information, personnel information, contract documents, customer
information, research and statistical information, technical documents,
marketing plans, management documents, meeting content, that have not
been publicly disclosed are all considered corporate secrets. Our employees
are responsible for their confidentiality. All rights and interests obtained by
employees who are on duty, such as commercial and technical information,
inventions and research results, belong to the Group, and no one is allowed
to copy, imitate, transfer, extract, or distribute without written authorization.
The Group is committed to protecting customers’ data and privacy. Unless
the customer’s consent is obtained, the collected customer information will
not be used for promotional purposes.

During the year ended 30 September 2022, to the best of our Directors’
knowledge, there was no material non-compliance or violation in
intellectual property, product quality and safety, advertising, labelling, and
privacy.

# The English translation of Chinese names or words in the ESG Report, where
indicated, are included for information purpose only, and should not be regarded as
its official English translation of such Chinese names or words.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE HEREAWE

Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption is one of the basic principles of the corporate social
responsibility defined internationally. The Group has established a code
of conduct for employees and adopted a zero-tolerance policy for any
form of corruption, including bribery and extortion, fraud and money
laundering, and promise to operate our business in an honest, ethical
and creditable manner. The policies are revised in due course and all
Directors and employees are reminded with its requirement from time to
time. The Group strictly abides by national and local laws and
regulations related to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering,
including but not limited to {#E AR AMEI A 7)%) (Company Law of
the PRCY), (HZEARKEME R ELEE) (Anti-Money Laundering Law of
the PRCY), (FPZEARKEMBEKRTIEEFEFE) (Anti-Unfair Competition
Law of the PRC#), <Bh1EEBFERIEHI) (Prevention of Bribery Ordinance)
and other laws and regulations.

The Group’s Employee Handbook stipulates strict employee behavior
standards, prohibiting employees from using their powers to engage in
fraud and seeking personal gain. It is forbidden to solicit gifts, money
or other remuneration from customers for any reason. The Employee
Handbook also stipulates that if employees have any complaints, they
can raise it to the human resources department of the head office.
During the Reporting Period, we provided professional ethics and
behavioral guidelines training for employees who were responsible
for procurement and sales. We encourage employees to cooperate
with suppliers and potential suppliers in a manner that conforms to
professional ethics, and prohibited all forms of commercial bribery.
Looking ahead, we will continue to invest more resource to our anti-
corruption training and expand the scope of anti-corruption training data
disclosure.

During the year ended 30 September 2022, to the best of our Directors’
knowledge, there was no material non-compliance or violations regarding
corruptions and no concluded legal case regarding corruption practices
brought against the Company or its employees during the Reporting
Period.

Anti-corruption training seminars for target Directors and employees of
the Group, were provided during the Reporting Period. The Group has
invited the external consultant to raise the staff's awareness on anti-
corruption, content included introduction of the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance in Hong Kong and real-life examples on bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.

# The English translation of Chinese names or words in the ESG Report, where
indicated, are included for information purpose only, and should not be regarded as
its official English translation of such Chinese names or words.
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COMMUNITY

Community Investment

The Group believes that community contribution is vital for sustainable
development as it creates long-term stakeholder value through an ethical
business strategy. Being a social-responsible corporation, the Group is
committed to contributing to our community in focus areas of education
and child development.

The Group has all along concerned about the education issue in
impoverished areas. Since 2006 the Group has been financially
supporting the construction of & {51 & & % /) 2 (Youxin Peimiao
Primary School¥) in Teng County Guangxi. Assistance were given to
education programs and construction of facilities in schools through
voluntary work provided by our staffs yearly and by donations. During
the Reporting Period, the Group has made a monetary and in-kind
donation to the school, including stationery, snacks and other materials
for the pupils.

N 3 N2y
PR 5120225 B 'ﬁ»j

# The English translation of Chinese names or words in the ESG Report, where
indicated, are included for information purpose only, and should not be regarded as
its official English translation of such Chinese names or words.
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RE - HERERRE

The Group also understands that children play a key role for our
sustainable future. During the Reporting Period, the Group has organized
a visit to Que Huong Humanitarian Center” in Binh Duong province,

Vietnam, so as to promote social awareness to our employees. Besides, ITHtE

we made an in-kind donation to the center benefitting 300 orphans.

REETT R
HEERER RBSHA AEEEB2 B
%ﬁ@i%%mW%Aﬁ¢®#u%%ﬁﬁ§
B wtsh BAERRTLREHEEYIS
“ﬁﬂm%m%xﬂ°
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TRUNG UONG HOI CHU THAP Dé VIET NAM
TRUNG TAM NHAN DAO NUOI DAY TRE EM MO CO1, KHUYET TAT QUE HUONG
QUE HUONG CHARITY CENTER

TRI AN

Anmin: CONG TY TNHH NHUA CAY TRUNG BO

Dia chi: L5 D2-3, KCN Dai Diing, Phudng Phii Tan, Thanh phd Thii Diu Mét, Binh Dwong
Donggop: 140 kg gao, 500 cudn tap, 5 hop bit bi, 128 banh Trung thu

Cém on sy déng gﬁp ciia Quy vi di dong hanh cing Trung tim nudi dwdng cac chdu cd nhi

Trung tim mong tuep tuc nhan dwge sy hd trg ciia Quy vi dén v6i ede chiu trong yéu thwrong
Binh Dmg ng&y“ thdng09 nam 2022

TRUNG TAM NHAN mo QUE HUONG
Séng

Vao 56 56° ....0386:2022. /INDQH

The Group understands that it is important to fulfill the needs of

AEERB

CmERETRAFKOEH XL GEM

different stakeholders in achieving social corporate responsibility and HEEM THH TR AEBE S EMELERN

is committed to understanding the needs of the community where

the Group operates and actively making contributions in promoting

sustainable development.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to enhance community
investment policies in order to demonstrate a more specific management

strategy and measures to employees.

FE EBRAFKEERELER

REARR AEEHSEBE TS HRIREBER
FESRHEEAENEETSHMER-

# The English translation of Chinese names or words in the ESG Report, where # RIB -G REARME T HP X E KRR CE
indicated, are included for information purpose only, and should not be regarded as FEHLSE TEEEAZTXEBIARNET R

its official English translation of such Chinese names or words.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENREREEEEE

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. leong Un (“Mr. leong”), aged 68, being a founder of the Group,
is our executive Director, chairman of the Board and chief executive
officer of the Group. Mr. leong is primarily responsible for (i) the Group’s
strategic planning, including geographical and network expansion
of the Group’s business; (ii) product research and development; (i)
enhancement of the Group’s capability in marketing and promotion as
well as technical assistance to customers; and (iv) positioning the Group
in the adhesive industry. Mr. leong has been leading the Group engaging
in adhesive development, sale and production business. Mr. leong has
approximately 30 years’ experience in the adhesive related industry.
Prior to the establishment of the Group in 1990, Mr. leong held a senior
management position of Luen Ying Hong Company Limited, a distributor
of petroleum related products for more than 6 years in Macau. During
such employment, Mr. leong was responsible for the management of the
business operation, and the marketing and technical services team. Mr.
leong is the sole shareholder and sole director of All Reach Investments
Limited, the controlling Shareholder.

Mr. Ip Chin Wing (“Mr. CW Ip”), aged 68, is our executive Director
and deputy general manager of the Group. He is responsible for
the management and daily operation of the Group and also assists
the chairman of the Board in formulating business strategies and
implementing corporate and operational decisions. Prior to joining the
Group in 2001, Mr. CW Ip served as a general manager of Dongguan
Advanced Coatings Company Limited, a sino-foreign joint venture
company registered in the PRC. In 2009, Mr. CW Ip was awarded by
mEAE HEE (China Society of Productivity) and 1B 1> 2 ¥R ¢
(China Enterprise Newspapers Office) as China enterprise innovative and
outstanding person of 2009 (20094 E F B> BIFTEF AY) . Mr. CW
Ilp obtained a certificate in industrial trade instruction from The Hong
Kong Technical Teachers’ College in 1982.

Mr. Ip Ka Lun (“Mr. KL Ip”), aged 68, is our executive Director and
deputy general manager of the Group. He is responsible for overseeing
the treasury and administrative functions of the Group and also assists
the chairman of the Board in formulating business strategies and
implementing corporate and operational decisions. Mr. KL lp has 30
years’ experience of overseeing the operation of accounting and finance
departments. Prior to joining the Group in 2000, he was the manager
of finance and accounts department of Yaohan Department Store (H.K.)
Limited in Hong Kong from 1984 to 1997. He joined Noble City Holdings
Limited, a holding company carrying out construction materials related
business in the PRC, as a finance manager from 1998 to 2000. Mr.
KL Ip obtained a bachelor degree in business from Tamkang University
(Taiwan) in 1977.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERSREEERE

Mr. Stephen Graham Prince (“Mr. Prince”), aged 60, is our executive
Director and the director of business and marketing of the Group. He is
responsible for overseeing sales and marketing functions of the Group.
Prior to joining the Group in 2005, Mr. Prince worked as a general
manager of Interliance LLC. and was the chief representative of this
company in Shanghai, responsible for project management, business
intelligence and operational strategy. Mr. Prince graduated from Audrey
Cohen College in the U.S. with a bachelor of business administration
degree in 1992 and obtained a master degree of business administration
from Fordham University in 2001.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Wing Yau George (“Mr. Chan”), aged 67, is our independent
non-executive Director. He joined the Group in March 2010. He is the
chief executive officer of Capital Focus Asset Management Limited,
the managing director of Shun Loong Securities Company Limited and
an independent non-executive director of Weigiao Textile Company
Limited (Stock code: 2698), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. He had been a director of Jardine Fleming Investment
Services Limited. After leaving Jardine Fleming Investment Services
Limited, he joined HSBC Asset Management Hong Kong Limited as an
executive director. He has extensive experience in fund management. Mr.
Chan had held several positions of public services, such as a member
of the Financial Services Advisory Committee of the Hong Kong Trade
Development Council, the chairman of Investment Sub-Committee of
and board member of Ocean Park Corporation, and the chairman of the
Hong Kong Investment Funds Association China Sub-Committee. Mr.
Chan obtained a bachelor of mathematics degree from the University of
Waterloo in 1978.

Mr. Simon Luk (“Mr. Luk”), aged 57, is our independent non-
executive Director. He joined the Group on 21 November 2013. Mr.
Luk graduated from the University of Alberta in 1990 with a bachelor
degree in Arts major in Economics. Mr. Luk has been a responsible
officer to carry out Type 9 (Asset Management) regulated activities
under the SFO since 2003. He has over 20 years’ experience in asset
management and investment advising. Mr. Luk worked in various
investment advising companies. Mr. Luk has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of China Investment and Finance
Group Limited (Stock code: 1226), a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange since 2 July 2014. Mr. Luk was also appointed
as an independent non-executive director of Link Holdings Limited (stock
code: 8237), a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, with
effect from 12 November 2021. Since 23 September 2020, Mr. Luk has
been the responsible officer of EAl Securities Limited.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERSREEERE

Mr. Tong Hing Wah (“Mr. Tong”), aged 52, is our independent non-
executive Director. He joined the Group on 21 November 2013. Mr. Tong
graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 1993 with a
bachelor degree in accountancy. He is a certified public accountant of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow
member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. He
has over 25 years of experience in regulatory compliance, financial
reporting, auditing and financial management, including over 15 years
of experience as the chief financial officer and/or company secretary
in Hong Kong listed companies. Mr. Tong is currently the director of a
business consultancy firm and the company secretary of Link Holdings
Limited (Stock code: 8237), a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Zheng Guo Liang (“Mr. Zheng”), aged 59, is the production
and operation director of the Group. Mr. Zheng joined the Group as a
sales representative in 1990. Prior to joining the Group, he worked for
a mechanical engineering company in Zhuhai and responsible for the
mechanical maintenance for more than five years. Mr. Zheng finished
his secondary education in 1987. Mr. Zheng currently is responsible for
planning and operating matters in terms of production.

Mr. Chan Kong Wang (“Mr. Chan”), aged 51, is the chief financial
officer of the Group and is responsible for overseeing the finance and
accounting operations and taxation and compliance matters of the
Group. Mr. Chan joined the Group in January 2022. Mr. Chan obtained
a Bachelor Degree (Hons.) in Accountancy from The City University
of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in U.K. He has over 29 years’ auditing, finance and
accounting related work experience.

Mr. Wu Xiang Ming (“Mr. Wu”), aged 53, is the technical director
of research and development of the Group responsible for the
establishment and implementation of the research and development plan
in accordance with the requirements of the customers of the Group and
the market. He is also responsible for the general management of the
research and development team of the Group. Prior to joining the Group
in 2007, Mr. Wu had more than 12 years’ research and development
working experience. He was a research and development manager of a
Hong Kong based chemical science company for seven years. Mr. Wu
graduated from ZEHRIE T KE (East China University of Science and
Technology) (formerly known as # 5 {t T2t (East China Institute of
Science and Technology)) in 1990 with a bachelor degree in engineering
and obtained a master degree of engineering from Zhejiang University in
1996.

066

Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited | 2 #ZRIZR AR A 7

SEEXE(IBRE]) 525 RELIFATT
EE-RR_FT—=F+—-A=-+—BMAX
SE-SREN—NN=ZFEXERFBEIK
B e 22t 8N -RABTESMNASH
XM MRS ARSAMAREREE -
FREEAHR VKRR BRLYKEET@
BABDBFEE BREREL LT AR EMERM
Bk H AR WENBISFLER HEER
AIEE-—REERARANESTYREERER
BRAF (—HRBRXAGEM LM 2 A7) ki
5% : 8237) 2 RAIME

=REEE

BERLE (TBEE]) 595 RASENE
ELERE BEEAR-NMNTENMALREEH
BEEHERR -RIMAXREEA  KERHKE—
M T2 A8 T B R HR 4 & E5F - &
FER-NWNEEZTKFTERF -BEERE
BERBINEEAHAETHMNTIE-

BOIREE([FREE]D 515 AAKENE
FHBE AEEEAKEMBE LG EEN
REBRBRAREH - REER T _—
—AMARER -RELERF BN T KERE
B (RB)BELBU -BFRBEGMLE
LRRBRHHFLAASHAMAEERSE -RESR
B2OFEZ M LB ARR TIFER -

REPEE(TREE]D 535 RAKEZE
R@sE BERBAKENTEPNMENE
SKHIE RAITH BB - WI B B AN KB %
EGNEREE-R_ZTLFMARNKER -
RELACHBEBI2FRABET LR - BREE
—EME IR R R EERECBEIF - RELE
R—NMNEFREENERBIKRE (FIBHER
I8k BIRSBLR2M4 WR—AAKREF
M IASEEFITIRR LB -



PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERSREEERE

Mr. Zhong Xuan Feng (“Mr. Zhong”), aged 52, is the director of
human resources and information technology departments of the Group
responsible for diverse range of human resources activities of the Group
including recruitment, compensation and benefits, staff training and
employee relationship management. Apart from human resources, he is
also responsible for the development of information technology platform
to support the operation of the Group in accordance with development
needs. Mr. Zhong joined the Group in 1998. He had 6 years’ experience
of accounting. He was a head of accounting department of an
investment company. In 2006, Mr. Zhong was sponsored by the Group
to study in Hong Kong, and obtained a master degree in business
administration from Hong Kong Baptist University in 2008.

Mr. Shum Hoi Luen (“Mr. Shum”), aged 47, joined our Group in April
2018 and was appointed as the Company Secretary in May 2018.
Mr. Shum is also the financial controller of the Company and is mainly
responsible for company secretarial affairs, corporate governance and
corporate finance of the Group. Mr. Shum obtained a Bachelor of degree
(Honors) in Accounting from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is
a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators) and Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries. He is also a professional member of Hong Kong Institute
of Human Resource Management and an associate and a certified tax
adviser of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. Mr. Shum is also currently
the company secretary of Superland Group Holdings Limited (Stock
code: 368), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEWE

The Directors present their annual report of the Company and the
audited financial statements of the Group during the year ended 30
September 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is a Hong Kong-based investment holding company. The
principal activities and other particulars of its principal subsidiaries are
set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and review on the business activities of the Group
as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), including a description of the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of likely future
development in the Group’s business, can be found in the section of
“Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages 6 to 11 of
this annual report. These discussions form part of the Report of the
Directors. In addition, details of the Group’s financial risk management
are disclosed in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
AND RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS
AND CUSTOMERS

The Group is committed to environmental protection and safety usage of
chemical products.

Environmental policies have been adopted by the Group for
implementation of environmental friendly measures and practices in the
operation of the Group’s businesses. The Group has also reviewed its
environmental policies and performance from time to time in order to
minimise the environmental impacts from our business operations.

The Group is committed to providing an equal opportunities, a
harmonious and diversified working environment to our employees.

The Group maintains active relationship with our customers in the
industry to explore potential business opportunities and is highly
committed to delivering high quality products to our customers.

The Group maintains a list of approved suppliers (based on their prices,
quality, past performance and capacity).

During the year, there was no material dispute or argument between the
Group and its employees, suppliers and customers.

Further discussion and review on the environmental policies and
performance and relationship with employees, suppliers and
customers of the Group as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), can be found in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report set out on pages 30 to
63 of this annual report. This discussion forms part of this Report of the
Directors.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group continues to commit to complying with the relevant laws
and regulations, such as the Companies Act (As Revised), Cap. 22 of
the Cayman Islands, the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), the SFO, the Listing Rules and other relevant laws and
regulations. So far as the Board is concerned, there were no material
breaches of or non-compliance with the relevant rules and regulations by
our Group that have significant impacts on the business and operations
of our Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 12 to 29.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group during the year ended 30 September 2022 and
the Group’s financial position as at 30 September 2022 are set out in
the consolidated financial statements on pages 85 to 170.

For the year ended 30 September 2022, the Board has resolved to
recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK4.3 cents (year
ended 30 September 2021: HK2.3 cents) per ordinary share to the
Shareholders (subject to approval by the Shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting for the year ended 30 September 2022). No
special dividend was recommended by the Board for the year ended 30
September 2022 (year ended 30 September 2021: HKO.5 cents). Interim
dividend for the six months ended 31 March 2022 of HK1.9 cents (six
months ended 31 March 2021: HK2.7 cents) per ordinary share to the
Shareholders was declared on 27 May 2022 and paid on 27 June 2022.
Including the interim dividend for the six months ended 31 March 2022
of HK1.9 cents (six months ended 31 March 2021: HK2.7 cents) per
ordinary share to the Shareholders already paid, the total dividend for
the year ended 30 September 2022 will amount to HK6.2 cents (year
ended 30 September 2021: HK5.5 cents (including a special dividend of
HKO.5 cents per ordinary share)) per ordinary share.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
consolidated financial statements, is set out on page 171 of this annual
report. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

DONATION

During the year ended 30 September 2022, charitable donation made
by the Group amounted to approximately HK$8,000 (year ended 30
September 2021: approximately HK$15,000).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 30 September 2022 are set out in note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

During the year ended 30 September 2022, the Company did not issue
any shares (year ended 30 September 2021: Nil). Details of movements
in the Company’s authorised or issued share capital during the year
ended 30 September 2022 are set out in note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE OPTIONS

Share option scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 22 July 2010 which
was expired on 22 July 2020. No share option scheme has been
adopted by the Company since 22 July 2020. No options granted under
the share option scheme remained outstanding as at 30 September
2022.

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year ended
30 September 2022 or subsisted at the end of the year ended 30
September 2022.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the
Companies Act (As Revised), Cap. 22 of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to the
existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 30 September 2022, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of its listed
securities of the Company.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company at 30 September 2022, calculated
under the Companies Act (As Revised), Cap. 22 of the Cayman Islands,
amounted to approximately HK$151,672,000 (2021: approximately
HK$144,229,000). The share premium account of the Company is
available for distribution or paying dividends to the Shareholders subject
to the provisions of the Articles and provided that immediately following
the distribution or the payment of dividends, the Company is able to pay
its debts immediately as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate sales to the five largest customers of the Group
accounted for approximately 48% of the Group’s total revenue and sales
to the largest customer accounted for approximately 24% of the Group’s
total revenue during the year ended 30 September 2022.

The aggregate purchases from the five largest suppliers of the Group
accounted for approximately 35% of the Group’s total purchases and
purchases from the largest supplier accounted for approximately 9% of
the Group’s total purchases during the year ended 30 September 2022.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders (which,
to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the shares
(the “Shares”) of the Company) had any interests in the five largest
customers or suppliers of the Group.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors
Mr. leong Un (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Ip Chin Wing
Mr. Ip Ka Lun
Mr. Stephen Graham Prince

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Wing Yau George

Mr. Simon Luk
Mr. Tong Hing Wah

In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles, Mr. Ip Ka Lun, being an
executive Director, and Mr. Simon Luk and Mr. Tong Hing Wah, both
being independent non-executive Directors, will retire from office by
rotation at the 2022 AGM. Being eligible, each of them will offer himself
for re-election as an executive Director or an independent non-executive
Director (as the case may be) at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considered all of its independent
non-executive Directors to be independent in accordance with the
guidelines as set out under the Listing Rules.
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CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to the disclosure requirement under Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules, the changes in details of the Directors’ information
subsequent to the date of the interim report of the Company for the six
months ended 31 March 2022 are set out below:

Name Details of Changes

EEENE
$ETFLW%%E'J%1351B(1)1I%ZTBZE§£2?'E§$

ARAHE_E-_—_F=ZA=+—H81E~EAZ
EPH)%#&iEIBL%: EEEREHFBHIWOT

e SEFER

Mr. leong Un The annual salary revised from HK$5,054,400
to HK$5,559,840 plus discretionary bonus with
effect from 1 January 2023

Mr. Ip Chin Wing The annual salary revised from HK$1,814,400
to HK$1,995,840 plus discretionary bonus with
effect from 1 January 2023

Mr. Ip Ka Lun The annual salary revised from HK$1,814,400
to HK$1,995,840 plus discretionary bonus with
effect from 1 January 2023

Mr. Stephen Graham  The annual salary revised from HK$1,814,400
Prince to HK$1,995,840 plus discretionary bonus with
effect from 1 January 2023

Mr. Chan Wing Yau The annual fee revised from HK$144,000 to
George HK$151,200 with effect from 1 January 2023

Mr. Simon Luk The annual fee revised from HK$144,000 to
HK$151,200 with effect from 1 January 2023

Mr. Tong Hing Wah The annual fee revised from HK$144,000 to
HK$151,200 with effect from 1 January 2023

Save as disclosed above, there is no change to any information required
to be disclosed in relation to any Directors pursuant to paragraphs (a) to
(e) and (g) under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical information of the Directors and senior management
of the Company are set out in the section of “Profile of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 64 to 67 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ remuneration are subject to the Shareholders’ approval at
the general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board
with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and
the results of the Group. Details of the remuneration of the Directors
during the year ended 30 September 2022 are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Under the Articles, the Company had a permitted indemnity provision
(as defined in section 469 of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong)) in force for the benefit of the Directors throughout
the year and as at the date of approval of this Report of the Directors,
pursuant to which the Company shall indemnify any Director against
any liability, loss suffered and expenses incurred by the Director in
connection with any legal proceedings in which he is involved by reason
of being a Director, and in which the judgement is given in his favour or
in which he is acquitted. The Company has maintained insurance cover
for the Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against
the Directors and officers arising out of corporate activities.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section of “Continuing Connected Transactions”
in the Report of the Directors and “Related Party Transactions” in note
40 to the consolidated financial statements, no Director nor a connected
entity of a Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to the
business of the Group to which the holding company of the Company,
or any of the Company’s subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year ended 30 September 2022 and up to the date of this
annual report, none of the Directors or their close associates (as defined
under the Listing Rules) has any interest in a business which competes
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of
the Group.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

Interests and short positions of the Directors and Chief
Executive of the Company

As at 30 September 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code, were as follows:

(i)

(i)

074

Long position in the Shares

1 I BE
EERADATHRABNBEERAA

RZE-__FHLA=TH EFRARFTHR
REBEEARAMAERBEZE (EEREF LB
BIRPIEXVED) WD - HERO RESFTHESR

AR B T 0 14 ) 5016 58 A 2% IR AR 45 1
B AR S T I B AR AR B R

s ORB T

(i) RRONEE

Approximate

Number of percentage of
Name of the Director Capacity the Shares held Position shareholding
ESHE 564 FEROBE ®BE BARRA DL
Mr. leong Un (Note) Interest in controlled corporation 342,500,000 Long 60.80%
B E (M) ZPE A B e A S
Mr. leong Un (Note) Beneficial owner 78,818,769  Long 13.99%
R () EmlEAA o=

Note: 342,500,000 Shares are held by All Reach Investments Limited (“All Reach”),
the entire issued share capital of which is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr.
leong Un. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. leong Un is deemed to be interested in
342,500,000 Shares held by All Reach.

Long position in the ordinary shares of associated
corporation

ffEE: 342,500,0008% f% 13 FAAIl Reach Investments
Limited ([All Reach |)# & H 2 8B %17
BRABBHEEL2EEZHA - REFHFR
HAEEA - 150 S E AR R RAI Reachis B K
342,500,0008% A 17 # #E B i 2x ©

(i) REBZEZERNFE

Approximate

Number of percentage of

shares in the  shareholding in

Name of associated associated  the associated

corporation Name of the Director ~ Capacity Position corporation corporation

KB LEN RIgEEEH

HBEEER EEpg 5% ) ROEE HABREIL

All Reach Mr. leong Un Beneficial owner Long 200 100%
All Reach BREE ERBEA 1A

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 September 2022, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 352 of the SFO or required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN THE
COMPANY

As at 30 September 2022, so far as was known to the Directors, the
interests and short positions of the persons (other than the section of
“Interests and Short Positions of the Directors and Chief Executive of the
Company” as disclosed above) in the Shares and/or underlying Shares
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company are
set out below:

TERRNARGE 2 #Em

RZZBZZFNA=TH BEEFHHM EAER
AR IR RE 75 R BB 601 B 33616 7E E 7 2 & it
o8 AT AT RIRGD K38 B MR 1 R A Sk
EAGAAANERERARE (BREX[EFERA
NAITHRAHEMER XS] — &N 0
T

Approximate

Number of percentage of
Name of the shareholder Capacity Shares held Position shareholding
RERER &5 FERGBEE #HE BRAERED
All Reach (Note 1) Beneficial owner 342,500,000 Long 60.80%
All Reach (Hf&E1) EnfEEA e
Ms. Chan Sut Kuan (“Mrs. leong”) Interest of spouse 421,318,769  Long 74.79%

(Notes 1 and 2)

BREZ 2+ ([HAK])(MFE1R2) fic (B 4 = e
Notes: B EE
1. All Reach is directly, wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. leong Un. By virtue of the 1. Al Reachli G LA ER 2 EEx A RIEFF

SFO, Mr. leong Un, an executive Director, is deemed to be interested in the entire
342,500,000 Shares held by All Reach. The total interests beneficially held by Mr.
leong Un are 78,818,769 Shares. Mrs. leong is the spouse of Mr. leong Un and is
therefore deemed to be interested in 421,318,769 Shares which Mr. leong Un is
interested in.

2. According to the laws of Macau, the regime of matrimonial property of Mr. leong Un
and Mrs. leong is community ( £t/ 81 & #) .

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 September 2022, no person, other
than the Directors and chief executive of the Company, whose interests
are set out in the section “Interests and Short Positions of the Directors
and Chief Executive of the Company” above, had registered an interest
or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares that was required to
be recorded pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

RIGHTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
OF DIRECTORS

Save as disclosed in the section of “Disclosure of Interests” in this report,
at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company granted
to any of the Directors or their respective spouses or minor children,
or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, its
holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party
to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any
other body corporate.

N ERE GG 1T E F 158 L £ W5 BRAI Reach
FiT#% 2 #6342,500,0000% B% 19 1 B # 25 o 15 4 25 &£
B5H 578,818,760 10 2 S BB KK BB
HEEMBEE BREEARBHEEREEZD
421,318,769 M R HE B R

2. REBEPDED B EE DB R RNNBE RV ERS A
AR ES -

BREXHBEEN RZE__FhALA=1TH #
BEMAL (BEdRN EXEZERARFITH
RENER SRR —HNEZTRARAITR
RERRIN KD BB D P RAREEZE M
HIE (R PIE336IRACHEMEEIORE -

EEBERMDIEFNER

BRARS (K E] AR EN ENES
HRESAZEBIARKEFHBRERFRE
AEREERTAZBEARARNDIESME
mZ AN TETEIMZEEN: ARF KB
e NI RS BN = PN AT = VNG
BRI R BEE R A RS EMEMX
B2 BN

Annual Report 2022 | —Z— —4 4% (075



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 30 September 2022, the Group had not
conducted any connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions that were not exempt from the annual reporting requirement
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year ended 30 September 2022.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules during the year ended
30 September 2022 and up to the date of this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in elsewhere in this annual report, there have been no
other material events occurring after the reporting period and up to the
date of this report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2022 AGM is scheduled to be held on Thursday, 23 February 2023.
The notice convening the 2022 AGM will be issued and disseminated to
the Shareholders in due course.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the 2022 AGM,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday,
20 February 2023 to Thursday, 23 February 2023, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of Shares shall be effected. In order
to qualify for the entitlement to attend and vote at the 2022 AGM, all
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office
in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, for registration no later than 4:30
p.m. on Friday, 17 February 2023.

For determining the entitlement of the proposed final dividend, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday,
1 March 2023 to Thursday, 2 March 2023, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of Shares shall be effected. In order to qualify
for the proposed final dividend, all transfer documents accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong, for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 28
February 2023.

References to time and dates in this annual report are to Hong Kong
time and dates.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 September
2022 have been audited by RSM Hong Kong, who will retire at the
2022 AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution for the re-appointment of RSM Hong Kong as auditor of the
Company will be proposed at the 2022 AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Ip Ka Lun
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 23 December 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
18 M A% BLAD ¥R B

29th Floor, Lee Garden Two, 28 Yun Ping Road
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
INFINITY DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Infinity
Development Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 85 to 170, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30
September 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30
September 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B 2 BED R 5

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

ST =R

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, BISEZEENEESHHEE A EE XA
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial HFAMBKBRERTBEREENETH - BEREX
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the RBEGASFBRRDPEIENSZEE L EK
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, B R > MA@ GESEHEEFERER -

and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter
BRERSERE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EEHARERSENERFE

Impairment assessment of trade and bills receivables

B SN RR TR JENW 15 09 )5, (B 5P 1

Refer to note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.
275 M RKR M TE26 ©

As at 30 September 2022, the Group had gross trade and bills
receivables of approximately HK$272,250,000 and allowances
for doubtful debts of approximately HK$17,814,000.

RZE-_—_FNA=Z+H B£ENESEUERNEK
ZR PR Y /272,250,000 70 B R ER BB 40 A£17,814,00008
on

In general, the credit terms granted by the Group to
customers range between 15 days to 120 days. Management
performed periodic assessments of the recoverability of trade
and bills receivables and the sufficiency of allowances for
doubtful debts based on information including credit profile
of different customers, ageing of the trade debtors, historical
settlement records, subsequent settlement status, expected
timing and amount of realisation of outstanding balances, and
on-going trading relationships with the relevant customers.
Management also considered forward-looking information that
may impact the customers’ ability to repay the outstanding
balances in order to estimate the expected credit losses for
the impairment assessment.

—RmE EEEREPELONEEHNTFI5RKEI20K-
Eﬁﬁ@ﬁTﬂ%ﬁmﬁf#£/ﬁ%%%%mm%w~ﬂ&
BELE BEBEBI REBLHGNWTEHERNHEALESRE
u&ﬁﬁ%%ﬁm%““%@%ﬁéﬂ-m%%ﬁ%%ﬁ%

ERLEREZENTREERRERENTRE -EEER
%ﬁT%%;EﬁE%*EE EHMEE N ZATIEME R £
LAt B G AT B E BRI -

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment of trade and bills receivables included:

HREEBEHEFRUER L ERERETRENEHMAD
BFERE:

- Assessing whether trade debtors had been
appropriately grouped by management based on
their shared credit risk characteristics;

- REEEEBAFNEARREE FHEKE SR
REACHEREBEE DA

- Assessing the external valuer’s qualifications,
experience and expertise and considering their
objectivity and independence;

- FHMAINEREERMER KREFEXEMNEZ LEEH
BB LB

- Testing the accuracy and completeness of the data
used by external valuer to develop the historical loss
rates and assessing the sufficiency, reliability and
relevance of that data;

- OBIEUSNER A (B B A LA B R S 18 K L AT R RO R
B EREM T BN YR AZEEN TS 7 5%
AR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B2 B R

Key Audit Matter
EREZEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EEYHBRERSENERS &

We focused on this area because the impairment assessment
of trade and bills receivables under the expected credit losses
model involved the use of significant management judgements
and estimates.

BMEHEE A BEREESLESAREYE 5E
W B 5 U B AR 1T 0 T £ R P A R T B
Rfkiste

Testing, on a sample basis, the accuracy of the
ageing of trade and bills receivables to supporting
documents;

hE 5 B W B A I R L 3R R R e A0 R RV R S
SFBRAR

With the assistance of our internal valuation experts,
testing the calculation of the historical loss rate and
evaluating the reasonableness of the forward-looking
adjustments made to reflect current and forecast
future economic conditions; and

EHMOAIFEEROBE T BHELBLRL
K E T E I AT BL R AR E F A TR H R SR A AR RO
MBIEERB 2 EE L R

Testing the calculation of expected credit loss
provisions applying the provision rates to the
age categories of the trade and bills receivables
outstanding at the reporting date.

FERNHmE B REELZRUTRR L EEERIZE
REMNNBELRAARMEERRBRNE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B 2 BED R 5

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the Other Information. The Other
Information comprises all of the information included in the annual report
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

H &+
EFRRAMERN AN BERRERT
KPR R A BB RR A MR RER
b o

EEHGAVBRRNERL NREEMER
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REEERGREUBREME BEFENEMER
FEEMER RIERET EREMBENES
BEAMBBRRABESTREZBRTA T HY
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PR RR R 2k 5 AR AT B0 BB K88 RR R
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B2 B R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B 2 BED R 5

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B2 B R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Tam Shing Yu.

RSM Hong Kong
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

23 December 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

M ALE 32

reEm %‘:Z

For the year ended 30 September 2022
HE_Z-__FhLA=1tHILFE

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FERT FET
Revenue W 2= 8 862,101 643,446
Cost of goods sold 45 B R (638,921) (446,771)
Gross profit E A 223,180 196,675
Other income H At Y A 9 4,529 5,981
Gain on disposal of assets classified as HESHEAIIELEE 2
held for sale BEMEWRE 32,692 -
Changes in fair value of investment KEWMERNTEE
properties (600) (14,329)
Other gains and losses, net Hfh Wz & E5 185 58 10 2,817 (5,807)
Allowances for trade, bills and B RBER ERERE R EA
other receivables, net JFE L SR TE B R R RR (7,970) (2,352)
Selling and distribution costs $HE Ry SEAK A (51,831) (44,663)
Administrative expenses THER (92,546) (86,809)
Profit from operations REFBBRA 110,271 48,696
Finance costs B B 11 (825) (424)
Share of profits/(losses) of associates FEIREEE N ELER, (E518) 23 1,384 (1,807)
Impairment loss on investment in "E—REBE AR 2 RESE
an associate 23 - (1,000)
Profit before tax R B A s R 110,830 45,465
Income tax expense FriSfif 2 12 (9,480) (4,002)
Profit for the year attributable to owners RAEER ANELFE AR R
of the Company 13 101,350 41,463
Earnings per share SRAER 17
- Basic - HZXK HK17.99 cents HK7.36 cents
17.997 7.367 11l
- Diluted -8 Not applicable Not applicable

TER

5
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

LeERkHEME2ENEE
For the year ended 30 September 2022
HE_Z-__FAA=THILFE

2022 2021
—E-C T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHET
Profit for the year attributable to owners ADAEEAEGERER
of the Company 101,350 41,463
Other comprehensive income: Ht2mEWE:
Items that will not be reclassified to BT EEH R Em HE -
profit or loss:
Revaluation gain on property, plant and M SRR BERERE
equipment upon transfer to investment YR 2 B
properties - 3,000
Fair value changes of equity instruments BAFEFAEMEZE R
at fair value through other comprehensive ([BAFEFAHMZE
income (“FVTOCI") W) 2 BRATARTEEY (1,199) -
(1,199) 3,000
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss: FJREEF HIEFE B 2 HE -
Fair value changes of debt instruments EAFEFARMEARE
at FVTOCI BEHETARNTFEE (651) -
Exchange differences on translating BMEBINEBEEIERET
foreign operations (14,283) 6,204
(14,934) 6,204
Other comprehensive income FREMEERE  MBRBIE
for the year, net of tax (16,133) 9,204
Total comprehensive income for the year ZAAFEEAEEFEAZEKE
attributable to owners of the Company k) 85,217 50,667
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RE BRI &
At 30 September 2022
RZZZ_FhNA=+H

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 7 FET FAETT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment properties "EYE 18 3,800 4,400
Property, plant and equipment L YL 19 82,575 94,907
Right-of-use assets CREEE 20 14,181 14,076
Intangible assets EREE 21 1,790 1,849
Investments in associates REE N RINIRE 23 6,126 1,445
Club debentures eEESH 1,080 1,080
Financial assets at FVTOCI BAFEFAEMZE RS 2
TREE 24 3,693 -
Prepayment for acquisition of right-of-use U 3% Fi#E & &= 2 TB 1 708
assets 25,519 -
Deposits for acquisition of WM MR REERZTH
property, plant and equipment Ee 614 -
Total non-current assets FRBEEHLTE 139,378 117,757
Current assets REBEE
Inventories 58 25 128,239 99,742
Trade, bills and other receivables BHRWERER  BUEE &
Ho b e W R IE 26 278,684 173,994
Restricted bank deposits ZRAERITER 27 16,083 17,328
Bank and cash balances HR1T R IR & AR 27 135,238 129,665
558,244 420,729
Assets classified as held for sale PTEABELEZEE 28 - 56,754
Total current assets REEEHLRE 558,244 477,483
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade, bills and other payables HE5RNER BNEER
H b e IR 29 139,344 93,957
Lease liabilities HEBRE 30 3,256 1,557
Bank loans RITER 31 30,000 37,798
Current tax liabilities BRI IR B & 28,615 21,268
Total current liabilities REBAEARE 201,215 154,580
Net current assets REBEEFRHE 357,029 322,903
Total assets less current liabilities EELABERRBERS 496,407 440,660
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MBRRE

At 30 September 2022
RZZEZZFhA=+H

2022 2021
—EC-CF —E-—F
Note HK$’000 HK$’ 000
B &t FHET FHETT
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Lease liabilities HEBE 30 3,395 1,797
Deferred tax liabilities RIETRIEAE 32 5,731 10,321
Total non-current liabilities kRBEEHEE 9,126 12,118
Net assets EEFE 487,281 428,542
Capital and reserves EAR#HE
Share capital fi& 7 33 5,634 5,634
Reserves B 481,647 422,908
Total equity BT 487,281 428,542

Approved by the Board of Directors on 23 December 2022 and are CR-ZE_—_F+_A-t=BE=Fe i

signed on its behalf by: Wl TNIEERKRESE:
Ip Chin Wing Ip Ka Lun
EREE 25w
Executive Director Executive Director
HTEE HITER

088  Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited | £ &t 2 & i A R A 7



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

REtER

&

For the year ended 30 September 2022
HE_Z-__FhLA=1tHILFE

Foreign Statutory Financial
Capital currency surplus assets at
Share Share redemption Special  Revaluation translation Legal reserve FVTOCI  Retained
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve fund reserve profits Total
RATERFA
EARE HMEES EERE H2EWEZ
R RHEE 1] BHRE EftfR i EERRE fEe CSREERE REEAN @t
HK§'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
ThEr  TEx T ThT i TEx FAL TEL TEr  TExr  Thn
(Note 35(b)(i) ~ (Note 35(0)(i)) ~ (Note 35(b)(ii)) ~ (Note 35()(iv)) ~ (Note 35(o)(v))  (Note 35(b)(vi))
(MHsr3sio)))  (BaEssio)i)) (FicEaso)in) (ME3sibiiy) (HE3spl)  (HE350N)
At 1 October 2020 RZZ-25+A-A 5634 123,757 857 1,097 - (23,142) 503 2,814 - 310859 422,379
Total comprehensive income for the year £ EMEAE - - - - 3,000 6,204 - - - 41463 50,667
Divicends (Note 16) RE (HzE16) - - - - - - - - - (44504 (44,504)
Changes in equity for the year FRERZE - - - - 3,000 6,204 - - - (3,041) 6,163
At 30 September 2021 RZZZ-ENA=1H 5634 123,757 857 1,007 3,000 (16,938) 503 2,814 - 307818 428542
At 1 October 2021 WZZ=-%1+A-A 5634 123,757 857 1,097 3,000 (16,938) 503 2,814 - 307818 428542
Total comprehensive income for the year  FR2EMEAE - - - - - (14,283) - - (1850) 101,350 85217
Transfer upon disposal hERER - - - - (3,000 - - - - 3,000 -
Dividends (Note 16) ®& (Me) - - - - - - - - - (6478 (26478
Changes in equity for the year FRRHEE - - - - (3,000 (14,283) - - (1850) 77872 58739
At 30 September 2022 RZZZZEnR=1H 5634 123,757 857 1,097 - (31,221) 503 2,814 (1,850) 385,690 487,281
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

MEREMER

For the year ended 30 September 2022
HE_Z-__FAA=THILFE

2022 2021
—E-CHF —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FRT FET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES £&ZBEANEELRE
Profit before tax B Bt AT g A 110,830 45,465
Adjustments for: BLAT
Interest income FEWA (888) (931)
Finance costs BERK A 825 424
Amortisation of intangible assets BmREEEN 42 43
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FHREEENE 2,817 2,329
Depreciation on property, ME ERRRETE
plant and equipment 12,817 13,704
Allowances for inventories FEEE 1,719 2,904
Allowances for trade, bills and ZHRWER BREER
other receivables, net Ho{h fE U R IB 8RR 7,970 2,352
Share of (profits)/losses of associates BB E AR (), BE (1,384) 1,807
Gain on disposal of assets classified HEDBEARIELE L
as held for sale BEmMBKE (32,692) -
Loss on disposal of property, HEME WBERZEZES
plant and equipment 4 -
Gain on modification of a lease contract EoR—mhHEEAHZ W (11) -
Loss on termination of a lease contract BIE—HEEH 2 BE 14 -
Written off of property, plant and equipment ERY VB E 662 1,632
Impairment loss on investment in RE—FBERNG ZRERR
an associate - 1,000
Changes in fair value of investment WEMELRTEE
properties 600 14,329
Operating profit before working capital changes & 8 & & & B g A 48 & 5 7 103,325 84,958
Increase in inventories ﬁibi%‘ il (30,216) (64,082)
Increase in trade, bills and B oRNRS  BIEER
other receivables H b & W SR IE E AN (112,566) (6,527)
Increase/(decrease) in trade, bills and ZEHRNEN BNRER
other payables HA g saegm/ Cud) 42,090 (7,452)
Cash generated from operations REEBERS 2,633 6,897
Income taxes paid ERER (6,061) (1,572)
Interest on lease liabilities HEABZHE (118) (117)
Net cash (used in)/generated from SES (FTA) /3R FE
operating activities (3,546) 5,208
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
REBRETRER

For the year ended 30 September 2022
HE_Z-__FhLA=1tHILFE

2022 2021
—E-= —E
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5 FBT FET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZEBE4LNESHE
Interest received B E 888 931
Purchases of property, plant and equipment EEWE HERZE (4,694) (6,408)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, WHEY 2 - 3 R B
plant and equipment INWES (614) -
Prepayment for acquisition of right-of-use WG RAEEE 2B IE
assets (25,519) -
Purchase of financial assets at FVTOCI BERATEF AL M2 E
JEREE (5,543) -
Gross proceeds from disposal of assets BEAEARBIELE
classified as held for sale BEMBHRIBHLE 93,000 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE HENREZ
plant and equipment FT{8 %8 11 -
Decrease in time deposits with maturities “EANEER—FATEIE
of over three months but less than one year 2 7 Bi%# 5 1,005 13,300
Decrease/(increase) in restricted SBRHEBITEIORD ()
bank deposits 1,245 (10,603)
Net cash generated from/(used in) RETROENE,/ (FTR)RLFE
investing activities 59,779 (2,775)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES REZEBELNRERE
Interest paid on bank loans RITERZEFFE (707) (307)
Dividends paid B E 16 (26,478) (44,504)
Inception of bank loans HIBRITER 30,000 62,482
Repayment of bank loans BERITER (37,805) (58,587)
Payment of lease liabilities HEGENK 36(b) (3,233) (1,697)
Net cash used in financing activities BMEEBMARSFE (38,223) (42,613)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN ReRALEEYEM
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (RA)F8E 18,010 (40,180)
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE HNEEXSBHNTE
RATE CHANGES (11,432) 4,065
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FIRERALEEY
BEGINNING OF YEAR 126,484 162,599
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT ERAERASEEY
END OF YEAR 133,062 126,484
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS B&RBESENA M
Bank and cash balances BT RN % 135,238 129,665
Less: Time deposits with maturities of over B AN EER—FUT
three months but less than one year BBz EHER (2,176) (3,181)
133,062 126,484
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR R

For the year ended 30 September 2022
HE_Z-__FAA=THILFE

092

GENERAL INFORMATION

Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability. With
effect from 1 October 2022, the address of its registered office is
Third Floor, Century Yard, Cricket Square, P.O. Box 902, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1103, the Cayman lIslands. The addresses of its
principal places of business in Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (“Hong Kong”) and Macao Special Administrative Region
(“Macau”) of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) are Units
2201-2202, 22/F., Alliance Building, 133 Connaught Road Central,
Hong Kong and Rua de Pequim No. 202A-246, Macau Finance
Centre, 16 Andar A-D, Macau, respectively. The Company’s shares
are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”),
All Reach Investments Limited, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands, is the immediate and the ultimate parent and
Mr. leong Un is the ultimate controlling party of the Company.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”). HKFRSs comprise
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”); and Interpretations.
These consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange and
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622). Significant accounting policies adopted by
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are
disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides information on
any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application
of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in
these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A IS AR M EE

For the year ended 30 September 2022
HE_Z-__FhLA=1tHILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(a)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on or
after 1 October 2021 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2

Amendment to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond

30 June 2021

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance
for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set
out in these consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS
4 and HKFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform -
Phase 2

The amendments provide targeted reliefs from (i) accounting
for changes in the basis for determining contractual cash
flows of financial assets, financial liabilities and lease
liabilities as modifications, and (ii) discontinuing hedge
accounting when an interest rate benchmark is replaced by
an alternative benchmark rate as a result of the reform of
interbank offered rates (“IBOR reform”).

The amendments do not have an impact on these
consolidated financial statements as the Group does not
have contracts that are indexed to benchmark interest rates
which are subject to the IBOR reform.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2022
HE_Z-__FAA=THILFE

3.

094

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

(a)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs
(Continued)

Amendment to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June 2021

The Group previously applied the practical expedient in
HKFRS 16 such that as lessee it was not required to assess
whether rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence
of the COVID-19 pandemic were lease modifications, if the
eligibility conditions are met (see note 4(f)). One of these
conditions requires the reduction in lease payments affect
only payments originally due on or before a specified time
limit. The 2021 amendment extends this time limit from 30
June 2021 to 30 June 2022.

The application of this amendment had no impact on these
consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre MR

For the year ended 30 September 2022
HE_Z-__FhLA=1tHILFE

—
\1/

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 3. #x
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued) #H

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet (b)
effective
The Group has not applied any new and revised HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective for the
financial year beginning 1 October 2021. These new and
revised HKFRSs include the following which may be relevant
to the Group.

NETE] RARIER] 2 BB 55
H2EL) (E)

[ A

C 78 1B 16 R &£ W # 5T I AR
BT ERBYBREER
AEBYARBEBRMER-F
“—F5tA-BARBRZMBFEH
REBNEMFET REETEEH
BREEN -ZFHF REERR
B BHREERNBIBIAT A gL E AR
SEAREER-

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on

or after
RUTHAHS 2%
FMrmzast il EN

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Business Combination —
Reference to the Conceptual Framework

ERVBHmELENFEIREESH BT —BSER R

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use

BEGEAFIRME B NREZERT —BEREAZAMEREA

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

BB ERFITRBESHN BT —BITEHZKAE

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle

ZE - N\FEZFETFRRCEAVBRELENNFERE

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

FAGRERF IR BRENINRET KRB BRRB LIRS

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and HKFRS Practice

1 January 2022

—E-F—H—H
1 January 2022
—E_-F—H—H
1 January 2022
—E__F—H—H
1 January 2022
—E-_F—H—H

1 January 2023

—E-=F—H—H
1 January 2023

Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements — Disclosure of Accounting Policies

BEEMNEAFIRPBHRENINB BT REEWBRELERBEHRE F25 —

EBRMFERHE S BRI KE

Amendments to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates

and Errors — Definition of Accounting Estimates

BAGEASSREABR St AT RIERNES 2 EF] -

Liabilities Arising from a Single Transaction

BEGMEUNF12RMER 2B —HE-—XFELANEERABHEBNRLRIA

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
BEAVBHRELENEITRIRBRE L

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Leases — Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

ERVBREENFICREE BT - ERHENEERR
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments and new standards
is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it
has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have
a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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Amendments to HKAS 12 Income Taxes — Deferred Tax Related to Assets and

—E-=F—H—H
1 January 2023

—ET-=F%—HA—H
1 January 2023

—E-=%—H—H
1 January 2023
—E-=%—H—H
1 January 2024
—ENFE—HA—H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2022
HE_Z-__FAA=THILFE

096

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, unless mentioned otherwise in the
accounting policies below (e.g. investment properties and certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in note 5.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(a)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to
30 September. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group
has control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. The Group has power over an entity
when the Group has existing rights that give it the current
ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that
significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties. A potential voting right is considered only if the
holder has the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from
the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i)
the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair
value of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii)
the Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary
plus any remaining goodwill and any accumulated foreign
currency translation reserve relating to that subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A IS AR M EE

For the year ended 30 September 2022
HE_Z-__FhLA=1tHILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Consolidation (Continued)

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
loss.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity
but is not control or joint control over those policies. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are
currently exercisable or convertible, including potential voting
rights held by other entities, are considered when assessing
whether the Group has significant influence. In assessing
whether a potential voting right contributes to significant
influence, the holder’s intention and financial ability to
exercise or convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method and
is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities
of the associate in an acquisition are measured at their fair
values at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded
as goodwill which is included in the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or loss.
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(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 September 2022
HE_Z-__FAA=THILFE

4.

098

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b)

Associates (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset,
including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits
or losses and other comprehensive income is recognised
in consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. When the Group’s share of losses in
an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate),
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate. If the associate subsequently reports profits, the
Group resumes recognising its share of those profits only
after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not
recognised.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A IS AR M EE

For the year ended 30 September 2022
HE_Z-__FhLA=1tHILFE

4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(c) Foreign currency translation

U]

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional
and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. The transaction date is the date
on which the Company initially recognises such non-
monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary items that
are measured at fair value in foreign currencies are
translated using the exchange rates at the dates when
the fair values are measured.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss
on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or
loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 September 2022
HE_Z-__FAA=THILFE

4.

100

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)
(iii)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company’s presentation currency are translated
into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates for the period (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the exchange rates
on the transaction dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of monetary items that form part of the net
investment in foreign entities are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign
currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation
is sold, such exchange differences are reclassified to
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss
on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A IS AR M EE

For the year ended 30 September 2022
HE_Z-__FhLA=1tHILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than properties under
construction as described below), are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the
period in which they are incurred.

If a property becomes an investment property because its
use has changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation,
any difference between the carrying amount and the fair
value of that item (including the relevant leasehold land) at
the date of transfer is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in revaluation reserve. On the
subsequent sale or retirement of the property, the relevant
revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to retained
profits.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual
values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis.
The principal annual rates are as follows:

Leasehold land Over the term of the lease

Buildings
— office units Over the term of the lease
— factory premises 5%

Furniture and fixtures and 10%-25%
equipment

Leasehold improvements 20%

Motor vehicles
Plant and equipment

16%/,%-20%
10%-20%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.
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102

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited | £ &% % R it B R A &)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction and plant and equipment pending installation,
and is stated at cost less impairment losses. Depreciation
begins when the relevant assets are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in
profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are
owned or held under a leasehold interest to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation. These include land held for
a currently undetermined future use and property that is
being constructed or developed for future use as investment

property.

Investment property are stated at fair value, unless they are
still in the course of construction or development at the end
of the reporting period and their fair value cannot be reliably
measured at that time.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are recognised in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is withdrawn from use. Any
gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the property, and is recognised in profit or loss.

Rental income from investment properties is accounted for
as described in note 4(s).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A IS AR M EE

For the year ended 30 September 2022
HE_Z-__FhLA=1tHILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and
to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that

(f)

use.

U]

The Group as a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts
for each lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component for all
leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets
which, for the Group are primarily laptops and office
furniture. When the Group enters into a lease in respect
of a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The
lease payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or rate are not included in
the measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(f) Leases (Continued)

U]
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The Group as a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-
of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it
is located, discounted to their present value, less
any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset
is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, except for
the right-of-use assets that meet the definition
of investment property are carried at fair value in
accordance with note 4(e).

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a change
in an index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under
a residual value guarantee, or there is a change arising
from the reassessment of whether the Group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension
or termination option. When the lease liability is
remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is
made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset,
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Leases (Continued)

(f)

(9)

U]

(i)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
change in the scope of a lease or the consideration for
a lease that is not originally provided for in the lease
contract (“lease modification”) that is not accounted
for as a separate lease. In this case the lease liability is
remeasured based on the revised lease payments and
lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification. The only exceptions are any
rent concessions which arose as a direct consequence
of the COVID-19 pandemic and which satisfied the
conditions set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16. In
such cases, the Group took advantage of the practical
expedient not to assess whether the rent concessions
are lease modifications, and recognised the change in
consideration as negative lease payments in profit or
loss in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers the rent concessions occurred.

The Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease
if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to the ownership of an underlying asset to
the lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is classified
as an operating lease.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful life are stated at cost
less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. Intangible asset with indefinite useful
life is not amortised.

U]

(ii)

Club membership

For club membership with an indefinite useful life is
stated at cost less any impairment losses. For club
membership with a definite useful life, amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the
cost of club membership over their estimated useful
lives of ranging from 41 to 44 years. Impairment is
reviewed annually or when there is any indication that
the club membership has suffered an impairment loss.

Formula rights

Formula rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is
calculated on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives of 5 years.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

(i)

1)
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Club debentures

Club debentures with indefinite useful life is stated at cost
less impairment losses. Impairment is reviewed annually or
when there is any indication that the club debentures have
suffered an impairment loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average basis.
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises
raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
all production overhead expenditure, and where appropriate,
subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset,
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and
also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

1)

(k)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments (Continued)

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in
their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending
on the classification of the financial assets.

Debt investments
Debt investments held by the Group are classified into one
of the following measurement categories:

- amortised cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which represent
solely payments of principal and interest. Interest
income from the investment is calculated using the
effective interest method.

- FVTOCI - recycling, if the contractual cash flows of the
investment comprise solely payments of principal and
interest and the investment is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both the
collection of contractual cash flows and sale. Changes
in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition in profit or loss of
expected credit losses, interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method) and foreign
exchange gains and losses. When the investment
is derecognised, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income is recycled from equity to profit
or loss.

1)

(k)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k)

U

(m)

Financial assets (Continued)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading purposes
and on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes
an election to designate the investment at FVTOCI (non-
recycling) such that subsequent changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Such elections
are made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may
only be made if the investment meets the definition of equity
from the issuer’s perspective. Where such an election is
made, the amount accumulated in other comprehensive
income remains in the fair value reserve (non-recycling)
until the investment is disposed of. At the time of disposal,
the amount accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-
recycling) is transferred to retained profits. It is not recycled
through profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in equity
securities, irrespective of whether classified as at FVTPL or
FVTOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as other income.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is due.
If revenue has been recognised before the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount is
presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less allowances for expected credit losses
(“ECL").

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
having been within three months of maturity at acquisition.
Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for
the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows.
Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(n)

(o)

(p)

(a)

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their
carrying amount will be recovered principally through a
sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This
condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly
probable and the asset is available for immediate sale in
its present condition. The Group must be committed to the
sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition
as a completed sale within one year from the date of
classification.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are measured
at the lower of the asset’s previous carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any
contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of
the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity
instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

(n)

(o)

(p)

(a)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(r)

(s)
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Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue and other income

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected to
be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Revenue from the sales of goods is recognised when control
of the goods has transferred, being when the goods have
been shipped to the customers’ specific location (delivery).
Following delivery, the customers have full discretion over
the manner of distribution and price to sell the goods, has
the primary responsibility when on selling the goods and
bears the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to the
goods. A receivable is recognised by the Group when the
goods are delivered to the customers as this represents the
point in time at which the right to consideration becomes
unconditional, as only the passage of time is required before
payment is due.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method. For financial assets measured at amortised
cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit
impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate is applied
to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss
allowance) of the assets.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ rights
to receive payment are established.

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(t)

(u)

(v)

Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees.
A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(i) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the
Group and employees are calculated as a percentage
of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit
scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

(iii) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits, and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period to match them
with the costs they are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.

(t)

(u)

(v)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2022
HE_Z-__FAA=THILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(w) Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and

112

deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit
or loss because of items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or
unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A IS AR M EE

For the year ended 30 September 2022
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(w) Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model of the Group
whose business objective is to consume substantially all of
the economic benefits embodied in the investment property
over time, rather than through sale. If the presumption is
rebutted, deferred tax for such investment properties are
measured based on the expected manner as to how the
properties will be recovered.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
separately. Temporary differences relating to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at initial
recognition and over the lease terms due to application of
the initial recognition exemption.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(w) Taxation (Continued)

(x)
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In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments,
the Group considers whether it is probable that the relevant
tax authority will accept the uncertain tax treatment used,
or proposed to be use by individual group entities in their
income tax filings. If it is probable, the current and deferred
taxes are determined consistently with the tax treatment in
the income tax filings. If it is not probable that the relevant
taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment,
the effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the
most likely amount or the expected value.

Impairment of non-financial assets
Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or that are
not yet available for use are reviewed for impairment annually
and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

The carrying amounts of other non-financial assets are
reviewed at each reporting date for indications of impairment
and where an asset is impaired, it is written down as an
expense through the consolidated statement of profit or
loss to its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets.
If this is the case, recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and the
fair value less costs of disposal of the individual asset or the
cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash
flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present values are
computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset/cash-
generating unit whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated
pro rata amongst the assets of the cash-generating unit.
Subsequent increases in the recoverable amount caused
by changes in estimates are credited to profit or loss to the
extent that they reverse the impairment.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(y)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on trade,
bills and other receivables. The amount of expected credit
losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective
financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade and
bills receivables. The ECL on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and
an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time
value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk
on the financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss
allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to
12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. Forward-looking information considered includes the
future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors
operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other
similar organisations, as well as consideration of various
external sources of actual and forecast economic information
that relate to the Group’s core operations.

(y)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(y)
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Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

- significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk for a particular financial instrument;

- existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

- significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

- an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(y)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined
to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default,

(i)  the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term, and

(i)  adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash
flow obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit
risk when the asset has external credit rating of “investment
grade” in accordance with the globally understood definition
or if an external rating is not available, the asset has an
internal rating of “performing”. Performing means that the
counterparty has a strong financial position and there is no
past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

(y)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(y)
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Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet
either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable:

- when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

- information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

- the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the counterparty
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

- it is becoming probable that the counterparty will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(y)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
including when the debtor has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the
case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over one
year past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward
looking information as described above. As for the exposure
at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the
assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the original
effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting
date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met,
the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal
to 12-month ECL at the current reporting date, except for
assets for which simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment
to their carrying amount through a loss allowances account,
except for investments in debt instruments that are measured at
FVTOCI, for which the loss allowances are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the financial assets
at FVTOCI reserve, and does not reduce the carrying amount of
the financial asset in the statement of financial position.

(y)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(2)

(aa)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at
the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is
remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period are adjusting events and are reflected in the
consolidated financial statements. Events after the reporting
period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements when material.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 September 2022
HE_Z-__FhLA=1tHILFE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
In the process of applying the accounting policies, the Directors
have made the following judgements that have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements (apart from those involving estimations, which are dealt
with below).

(a)

(b)

(c)

Split of land and building elements

The Group determined that the lease payments cannot be
allocated reliably between the land and building elements.
Accordingly the entire lease of land and buildings is classified
as a finance lease and included under property, plant and
equipment.

Deferred tax for investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
Directors have reviewed the Group’s investment property
portfolios and concluded that the Group’s investment
properties are not held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment properties over time,
rather than through sale. Therefore, in determining the
Group’s deferred tax for investment properties, the Directors
have adopted the presumption that investment properties
measured using the fair value model are recovered through
sale.

Significant increase in credit risk

ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL
for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage 3
assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition. HKFRS 9
does not define what constitutes a significant increase in
credit risk. In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset
has significantly increased the Group takes into account
qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable
forward-looking information.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are discussed below.

(a)

(b)

(c)

Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited | £ &% % R it B R A &)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual
values and related depreciation charges for the Group’s
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives and residual
values of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. The Group will revise the depreciation charge where
useful lives and residual values are different to those previously
estimated, or it will write-off or write-down technically obsolete
or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment as
at 30 September 2022 was approximately HK$82,575,000
(2021: HK$94,907,000).

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions.
Significant estimates are required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made. During the year
ended 30 September 2022, approximately HK$9,480,000
(2021: HK$4,002,000) of income tax was charged to profit
or loss based on the estimated profit.

Fair value of investment properties

The Group appointed an independent professional valuer
to assess the fair value of the investment properties. In
determining the fair value, the valuer has utilised a method
of valuation which involves certain estimates. The Directors
have exercised their judgement and are satisfied that the
method of valuation and inputs used are reflective of the
current market conditions.

The carrying amount of investment properties as at 30
September 2022 was HK$3,800,000 (2021: HK$4,400,000).
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d)

Impairment loss for trade and bills receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate the ECLs for
trade and bills receivables. The provision rates are based on
days past due for groupings of various customer segments
that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by geography, customer
type and rating).

The provision matrix is initially based on the historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix
to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-
looking information. For instance, if forecast economic
conditions are expected to deteriorate over the next year
which can lead to an increased number of defaults, the
historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed. The
Group also appointed an independent professional valuer to
assess the ECLs for trade and bills receivables.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions, factors that
are specific to the customers and the ECLs is a significant
estimate. The amount of the ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The
Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative of
a customer’s actual default in the future. The information
about the ECLs on the Group’s trade and bills receivables
are included in note 6(b) and note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements.

As at 30 September 2022, the carrying amount of trade and
bills receivables was approximately HK$254,436,000 (net
of allowances for doubtful debts of HK$17,814,000) (2021:
HK$162,717,000 (net of allowances for doubtful debts of
HK$11,445,000)).

5.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(e)

Allowances for slow-moving inventories and net
realisable value of inventories

Allowances for slow-moving inventories are made based on
the ageing and estimated net realisable value of inventories.
The assessment of the allowances amount involves
judgement and estimates. Where the actual outcome in
future is different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact the carrying value of inventories and allowances
charge/write-back in the period in which such estimate has
been changed.

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs of completion and selling expense. These estimates
are based on current market conditions and the historical
experience of manufacturing and selling products of similar
nature. It could change significantly as a result of changes
in customer’s taste and competitor’s actions in response to
severe industry cycles. The Group will reassess the estimates
by the end of each reporting period.

The carrying amount of inventories as at 30 September 2022
was approximately HK$128,239,000 (2021: HK$99,742,000).
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate
risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(a)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency risk as
most of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are
principally denominated in Renminbi (‘RMB”), Vietnam Dong
(“VND”"), Indonesian Rupiah (“IDR”), United States dollars
(“USD”) and Singapore dollars (“SGD”). The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect
of foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The
Group monitors its foreign currency exposure closely and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

At 30 September 2022, if the RMB had weakened 5 per
cent against the USD with all other variables held constant,
consolidated profit after tax for the year would have been
approximately HK$683,000 (2021: HK$374,000) higher,
arising mainly as a result of the foreign exchange gain on
trade and bills receivables denominated in USD. If the RMB
had strengthened 5 per cent against the USD with all other
variables held constant, consolidated profit after tax for the
year would have been approximately HK$683,000 (2021:
HK$374,000) lower, arising mainly as a result of the foreign
exchange loss on trade and bills receivables denominated in
USD.

At 30 September 2022, if the VND had weakened 5 per
cent against USD with all other variables held constant,
consolidated profit after tax for the year would have been
approximately HK$5,782,000 (2021: HK$3,117,000) higher,
arising mainly as a result of the foreign exchange gain on
trade and bills receivables denominated in USD. If the VND
had strengthened 5 per cent against USD with all other
variables held constant, consolidated profit after tax for the
year would have been approximately HK$5,782,000 (2021:
HK$3,117,000) lower, arising mainly as a result of the foreign
exchange loss on trade and bills receivables denominated in
USD.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited | £ &% % R it B R A &)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

At 30 September 2022, if the IDR had weakened 5 per
cent against USD with all other variables held constant,
consolidated profit after tax for the year would have been
approximately HK$937,000 (2021: HK$648,000) higher,
arising mainly as a result of the foreign exchange gain on
trade and bills receivables and bank and cash balances
denominated in USD. If the IDR had strengthened 5 per
cent against USD with all other variables held constant,
consolidated profit after tax for the year would have been
approximately HK$937,000 (2021: HK$648,000) lower,
arising mainly as a result of the foreign exchange loss on
trade and bills receivables and bank and cash balances
denominated in USD.

At 30 September 2022, if the SGD had weakened 5 per
cent against USD with all other variables held constant,
consolidated profit after tax for the year would have been
approximately HK$2,464,000 (2021: HK$2,391,000) higher,
arising mainly as a result of the foreign exchange gain on
bank and cash balances denominated in USD. If the SGD
had strengthened 5 per cent against USD with all other
variables held constant, consolidated profit after tax for the
year would have been approximately HK$2,464,000 (2021:
HK$2,391,000) lower, arising mainly as a result of the foreign
exchange loss on bank and cash balances denominated in
USD.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet
its obligations under a financial instrument or customer
contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed
to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade and
bills receivables) and from its financing activities, including
deposits with banks, foreign exchange transactions and
other financial instruments. The Group’s exposure to credit
risk arising from cash and cash equivalents is limited
because the counterparties are banks with acceptable
credit-rating assigned by international credit-rating agencies,
for which the Group considers to have low credit risk.
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(b)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. 2@MEMRER (&)
Credit risk (Continued) (b) FERME (&)
Trade and bills receivables EZREWERRERREE
Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit EFPEERKRBSEBIBMAEE -
subject to the Group’s established policy, procedures /zEL#ZlSEIFﬁ%'JEEﬁi%}E =B
and control relating to customer credit risk management. B BRI IR R BT
Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers $ SEBRETE—TEBEEEZLR
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations HEPETHE )”:U S B EFH
focus on the customer’s past history of making payments BEIRFR B SEE ZBEN
when due and current ability to pay, and take into account Rk BRI AEN TEEER
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to PZEEEN URBEPEEMAT
the economic environment in which the customer operates. KEIRBZER -BSRWERE
Trade receivables are due within 15-120 days from the date BREE HHEIEET15F 1208 WE| - /X
of billing. Debtors with balances that are more than 3 months SEEREHHEMARMEA ARG
past due are requested to settle all outstanding balances BABEMEBERNGEHR TR
before any further credit is granted. Normally, the Group HBRERMEE-RERBRAT K&
does not obtain collateral from customers. B 3 K (M) % = UWER R 1R 0 o
The Group measures loss allowances for trade and bills REBZERNEHEREERERE
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is JEBAEESRKEF R EKE
calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group'’s historical BeEBERE ENERBEER
credit loss experience does not indicate significantly ETHE - AR AEEBEZREE
different loss patterns for different customer segments, the BELRBITARTRATEDIET
loss allowances based on past due status are not further EATREEERN  ER SR EE
distinguished between the Group's different customer bases. ZEEEET T — *FE/‘ZIS LTS
BEEFPERZEE—FTED
The following table provides information about the Group’s TREIWR_Z__FR_ZTZ
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade and bills FRARAZTHEAEEFFMAR fo
receivables as at 30 September 2022 and 2021: SARE SRWER R EWEIE 2
FEHEEBECER:
2022
—B-CF
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowances
EHEER IREAE EERE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
% FET FERT
Current (not past due) BNER (k@) 4.08% 189,928 7,744
1-30 days past due #EIZ=30H 5.56% 65,292 3,632
31-60 days past due #EI31260H 7.11% 2,080 148
61-90 days past due #EI61E90H 11.26% 6,918 779
More than 90 days past due ) B #8890 H 68.61% 8,032 5,511
272,250 17,814
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T FNA=TRHIEFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Trade and bills receivables (Continued)

6. TRIAMEIE (E)

(b) EERR (&)
ESZRURRRERRE (8)

2021
—E-—F
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowances
EHIEEE FEEamE EEEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
% FAT FAT
Current (not past due) BIER (K@ HR) 2.61% 100,667 2,627
1-30 days past due #HI1Z30H 3.02% 50,831 1,535
31-60 days past due #1260 3.02% 3,013 91
61-90 days past due # 612901 5.61% 9,676 542
More than 90 days past due 1 B 3890 H 66.67% 9,975 6,650
174,162 11,445

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past 6 (2021: 5) years. These rates are adjusted
to reflect differences between economic conditions during HezEhxg

EHBEEXDERBERF(ZF
—F RF)ZERBRERS
EHRABEARKRE

the period over which the historic data has been collected, HEJ_EE%I?J%ZHHFEJZ%& AR
current conditions and the Group’s view of economic B AR R AN 5 [ R SR IE TR A
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables. FHZE&BERR 2B s EZR
Movement in the loss allowances for trade and bills FREHEUERLEREE B
receivables during the year is as follows: BEEEHNT
HK$’'000
FET

At 1 October 2020 RZZE-_TF+H—H 9,241
Net impairment losses recognised for the year FANBRZBEBEFRE 2,204
At 30 September 2021 and 1 October 2021 RZEZ—FNA=1TBRK

—E-_—F+A—H 11,445
Net impairment losses recognised for the year FAERBEEEFE 9,000
Amounts written off during the year FAMBE - 28 (2,631)
At 30 September 2022 R-_ZE-—FhA=+H 17,814
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BT _FNA=THIEFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade and bills receivables (Continued)

The following significant changes in the gross carrying
amounts of trade receivables contributed to the increase in
the loss allowances during the year ended 30 September
2022:

- origination of new trade receivables net of those
settled resulted in an increase in loss allowances of
HK$9,000,000.

Financial assets at amortised cost

All of the Group’s financial instruments at amortised cost are
considered to have low credit risk, and the loss allowances
recognised during the period were therefore limited to
12-month expected losses. Instruments are considered to
be low credit risk when they have a low of default and the
issuer has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term.

Financial assets at amortised cost include other receivables.

Movement in the loss allowances for other receivables during
the year is as follows:

6.

TRERERE (8)

(b)

FERR (#&)
EZRWERRKRERERE (R)
BE_T-__FAA=THLFE"
B RWEFROEEAELRE T
EAREBEYBBRABEN:

- EEWEBEZEBRER (MK
EREE)EBEBBRABEN
9,000,000/ 7T °

BEBERFIRNEMEE
AEBILBEHK AL R 2B SR
TABRBREEERR SR
AR ZEBEREBEERN2(EA
BYEE-ETACZENRRKA
BETAABREAANBETEANRS
MEEEZAYENR ERER
RTAZEERBRE-

HEBHERAI R eMEERRE
i FE U RR IR

FAHMBERRFIAZ BERBREE
LIS

HK$'000

FHEIT

At 1 October 2020 R-ZE-_ZF+H—H 7,081

Impairment losses recognised during the year FAERZBEERE 148
At 30 September 2021 and 1 October 2021 RZE-—FhLA=1+BK

—E-—%+H—H 7,229

Exchange difference & 5 =% 110

Reversal during the year F RO (1,030)

Amounts written off during the year FAMBE 28 (150)

At 30 September 2022 RZE-_—_FhLA=1+H 6,159
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(c)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. 2@MERER (&)
Liquidity risk (c) REBELRAMR
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and AEENBRKATHERBRATE
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains HrRpESTE UBRELRR
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements HRSHRE BENEEHREREH
in the short and longer term. HRBEeHE-
The maturity analysis based on contractual undiscounted REBEMTESRAGBERAGORE
cash flows of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities is RS REMIEBEEI>HFTWET:
as follows:
Between Between
On Less than 1and 2 and
demand 1 year 2 years 5 years Total
REXE PR-F —-EWE MELF @t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FTHL FTET FHBL AL FTHET
At 30 September 2022 R-ZB--§hA=+H
Trade, bills and other payables B ZEMEZ  EREER
H e 508 - 139,344 - - 139,344
Lease liabilities HEaE - 3,337 3,036 386 6,759
Bank loans (Note) RITER (M) 30,000 - - - 30,000
30,000 142,681 3,036 386 176,103
At 30 September 2021 R=ZB--§hA=+H
Trade, bills and other payables B HEMED  ENEE R
Htb R - 93,931 - - 93,931
Lease liabilities HEBE - 1,636 1,260 582 3,478
Bank loans (Note) RITER (M) 30,000 7,823 - - 37,823
30,000 103,390 1,260 582 135,232
Note: B 5 -

Bank loan with a repayment on demand clause is included in the ‘on demand’
time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 30 September 2022, the
aggregate undiscounted principal amounts of the bank loan amounted to
approximately HK$30,000,000 (2021: HK$30,000,000). Taking into account
the Group’s financial position, the Directors do not believe that it is probable
that the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate
repayment. The Directors believe that such bank loan will be repaid within
one year after the end of the reporting period in accordance with the
scheduled repayment date set out in the loan agreement. At that time, the
aggregate principal and interest cash outflows will amount to approximately
HK$30,826,000 (2021: HK$30,142,000).
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6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk primarily relates to
variable-rate bank balances and bank loans. It is the Group’s
policy to keep its borrowings at floating rate of interest so as
to minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of Hong Kong Interbank
Borrowing Rate and London Interbank Offered Rate arising
from the Group’s HK$ and USD denominated bank loans
respectively.

The Group’s restricted bank deposits and time deposits bear
interests at fixed interest rates and therefore are subject to
fair value interest rate risks.

The Group’s exposure to interest-risk arises from its bank
balances and bank loans. These balances and loans bear
interests at variable rates that vary with the then prevailing
market condition.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for interest bearing bank
balances and bank loans at the end of the reporting period
and assumed that the amount of assets and liabilities
outstanding at the end of the reporting period was
outstanding for the whole year. The management does not
anticipate a decrease in interest rate in the next financial
year having regard to the trends in market interest rates
and global economic environment. Accordingly, sensitivity
analysis on a decrease in interest rates is not presented.

If interest rates on bank balances and bank loans had
been 50 basis points (2021: 50 basis points) higher and all
other variables were held constant, the potential effect on

6.

TRERERE (8)

(d)

@B
AEBENReREMN LR X 260
FERITERRBTERBBH K
SENBRAERLULEF XS
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BEREMBERITRENR BHIKE -

AEBOXRBIRITHERLERF
KRR EEF REFE - BB AAR
D EMERREL -

REBE A RERR TR ERITER
ERTERELE - REBEHRER
DB ERBRTTRESN T
REF B -

TXHREDMHREN RS R
ARRITHEBRLRRITEROM XA
REE URIXBERRERE
FHEEMABEZENEBEFEN
AEN - BEEMHENXBE RS
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FEMMETETH AL ES
BI) ) R 8 B SRR R AT ©

HERITE R R IRITERMF X LA
SOMESE (T - — & :50(HEE)
mETAHmESRFAE BIEF

consolidated profit after tax for the year is as follows: NirEBRBE BN EEZENT
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FHT
Increase/(decrease) in consolidated profit & R4R A B &5 7
after tax for the year o, CRd) 1 (34)
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. TRUEREIR (&)
(e) Categories of financial instruments (e) EMIAMEHR
2022 2021
S8 T —F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FBT FHET
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets measured at FVTOCI: BAFEFAEMETR
WEemEE:
Debt instruments BEBLA 914 -
Equity instruments AT B 2,779 -
Financial assets measured at RHBEN T ENESREE
amortised cost 408,466 311,186
Financial liabilities cHaE
Financial liabilities measured at REIEN AT ENEREE
amortised cost 169,344 131,729
(f) Fair values ) 2FE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and BEMBURARMEINAEE S
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement BEENT R ',é BERRAEEEL S
of financial position approximate their respective fair values. BATEERS
7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 7. RV EEFE

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or NEEERFEAEMSE2EEZHANE

paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market FREFHEEEEMBIM S ER B EAHN

participants at the measurement date. The following disclosures of XN ZER - ATATFEFERERA

fair value measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises HRAREATENHERT2HE 5 A

into three levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to “EERzAFEERIEL:

measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets F—HELH AEBETRFEHBBRS
for identical assets or liabilities that the Group 280 ZHEREENE EEER
can access at the measurement date. MG 2 ME (REAE) -

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included FE_LER —BRFBREZHRENU
within level 1 that are observable for the asset 28 9|\ CEERBABENEENR

or liability, either directly or indirectly.

REABE2H-

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. F-REHR BEXABZTUERZR
28 o

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out AEENBRANEEEELIFE R E M

of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in SIEERERE AR E =0 E &+ AT M

circumstances that caused the transfer. —EEREAREL -
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HE_Z-__FhLA=1tHILFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 30

September 2022:

7. RNFEFE(E)

(a) R=ZEBE-=ZHFH A=

FEERRKE:

tHZA

Fair value measurements using

AN RAFETE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—EBR E_B& E=B& et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
Description i
Recurring fair value BEMAFETE:
measurements:
Financial assets at FVTOCI ®RAFEFAHMZE
KWENEREE
Listed equity securities R AES 2,779 - - 2,779
Listed debt securities tHEXES - 914 - 914
2,779 914 - 3,693
Investment properties BREWE
Office units — the PRC PHNEEN —FE - - 3,800 3,800
Total mEr 2,779 914 3,800 7,493
Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 30 R-ZEBE-Z—-—FHhA=+tHZA
September 2021: TEEREE:
Fair value measurements using
AR FEEF=E
Level 2 Level 3 Total
FEBHR FEEB& B
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FET FHET
Description i aft
Recurring fair value REMAFETE:
measurements:
Investment properties BREWME
Office units — the PRC PN EE R — - 4,400 4,400
Non-recurring fair value FREMEATEFE:
measurements:
Assets classified as held for sale S EBEEHEZEE
Office units — Macau /N RV 54,371 - 54,371
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7.

134

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7.

(b)

(c)

Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value (b)
based on level 3:

NFERE (F)

REF=-"RERZL2FEFE
ZEEHK:

Investment properties

Description g KREWE
2022 2021
S8 —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FA&T
At beginning of year REA) 4,400 69,100
Transfer from property, plant and equipment % 5 %) % - #2E L&
(included revaluation gain upon transfer) (PiEEREMEMKE) - 4,000
Transfer to assets classified as HEZESBABELHEZ
held for sale BE - (54,371)
Total losses recognised in profit or loss #  Ri82E MR E 18 48%8 ® (600) (14,329)
At end of year RER 3,800 4,400
# Include losses for assets held at end W BIERERRABEERN
of reporting period B 18 (600) (14,329)

The total losses recognised in profit or loss including those
for assets held at end of reporting period are presented
in changes in fair value of investment properties in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Disclosure of valuation process used by the (c)
Group and valuation techniques and inputs used
in fair value measurements at 30 September
2022:

The Group’s chief financial officer is responsible for the
fair value measurements of assets and liabilities required
for financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value
measurements. The chief financial officer reports directly
to the Board of Directors (the “Board”) for these fair value
measurements. Discussions of valuation processes and
results are held between the chief financial officer and the
Board at least twice a year.

Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited | £ &% % R it B R A &)

RESERANEELE (BRERE
HIRFRHEENER) DREFESBRR
ROREMELFEEHAIIR-

R-ZEBE-Z_ZFHhA=+HEXE
EFfEANEERFREATYE
FTEMEANGERNTESE
ZHE:
AEENEEVHEAERUBR
EETHENEERAENRAF
EBxtg (BESF=HBRAFET
2) HEVEERLEAFETE
BEENEEg([EE®])ER-5
OB EREESTFE LMK
HILERF R
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For the year ended 30 September 2022
HE_Z-__FhLA=1tHILFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7. REEFE(E)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the (c) RZE-ZZFHAABA=+HXEKE
Group and valuation techniques and inputs used FERANGEEERRFRRATYE
in fair value measurements at 30 September FEREANGEERTRSH
2022: (Continued) 2T (&)

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will normally MEZLBRAFEAEMS &
engage external valuation experts with the recognised SEATEEFAERERUEEE
professional qualifications and recent experience to perform BRAEIBERNINIHEERE
the valuations. T{HE -

Key unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair value Fo-RERRATEFEMHEANE
measurements are mainly: ERAERLHETER:

Time difference (estimated based on valuation experts’ -
in-house database)

- Size difference (estimated based on actual data) -
- Market quote adjustment factor (estimated based on -
valuation experts’ in-house database)

- Market yield (estimated based on valuation experts’ in- -
house database)

- Floor level difference (estimated based on valuation -
experts’ in-house database)

- Location difference (estimated based on valuation -
experts’ in-house database)

BEEZE (ER[HEZRARN
g E 2 AET)

RNEZR(ERERBURZHE
)

mEHREFAERNE (EREE
ERAMBIEREZ (5T)

mEREER (ERHEEERA
ERBURE Z fh5T)

BEEZR (ERNEEZERA
g B 2 A5

NEZR (EARNHEEERAR
g B 2 A5

Level 2 fair value measurements E_RERLATFEFE
Fair value
AV
2022

—_E=-=

Description Valuation technique Inputs HK$’000
g & B B T 2% FET
Debt securities Executable and indicative quotes from multiple contributors N/A 914

BBES A2 IR e A = 2 AT 1T R IE R LR (E

i
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HE_ZT-_—_FhLA=THILFE

7.  FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

7. RFEFE(E)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the (c) R=Z2E-_=—FHAA=+HZXEK
Group and valuation techniques and inputs used FERANEEERRFRRATYE
in fair value measurements at 30 September FERMRANGEERTRSH
2022: (Continued) ZHWE: (&)

Level 3 fair value measurements E=RERLATETE
Fair value
APHE
Effect on
fair value for
Valuation increase of
Description technique Unobservable inputs Range inputs 2022 2021
2uEmy
it EER M TAREZY gE AYENYE —F--F "T-_—-%
HK$’000 HK$'000
TEx T
Office units located Income approach  Time difference -1.8% t0 0.3% Increase 3,800 4,400
in the PRC (2021: 0.1% t0 0.2%)
MRFENBELATEN KRk KHEZE -1.8%Z20.3% M
(ZEZ—F:01%%0.2%)
Size difference -6.7% t0 -6.6% Increase
(2021: -7.3% to -5.7%)
ANER B.7%E-6.6% I
(ZFZ—5F:-73%E-57%)
Market quote -10% Increase
adjustment factor (2021:-10%)
mEREAERRZ -10% &
(ZZ=—%F:10%)
Market yield 5.1%105.6% Decrease
(2021: 4.5% t0 5.7%)
sl a X 51%%5.6% HD
(ZZ=—F 1 45%F57%)
Floor level difference -3% t0 3% Increase
(2021:-3% to 0%)
BEER -3%%E3%
(ZEZ—F:-3%%20%)
Location difference -10% t0 0%  Increase
(2021:-10% to 0%)
NEEE -10%E0% &M

(ZEZ—F:-10%Z0%)

During the years ended 30 September 2022 and 2021, there
were no significant changes in the valuation techniques

used.
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For the year ended 30 September 2022
HE_Z-__FhLA=1tHILFE

8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 8.

Operating segment information

The Group has only one operating and reportable segment.
Management determines the operating segment based on the
information reported to the Group’s chief operating decision
makers (“CODMSs”) (i.e. the executive Directors). The CODMs
assess the operating performance and allocate the resources of
the Group as a whole as the Group is principally engaged in the
manufacturing and selling of adhesives, primers, hardeners and
vulcanized shoes adhesive related products used by the footwear
manufacturers. Accordingly, there is only one operating and
reportable segment.

No analysis of segment assets and liabilities is presented because

Koy abE R
& o ERE
AREEL—EEERTRED B FR
BREAAEEIZEEREE (B

BERFEE]) (MR TEF)RENER
ErLE B -ARTEBFTENERE
MHERERMERNBIE  REA -
BB MRCERHBEBER 28
BARERAEEEBEAAEFTHES
¥ERDBER- B EF5—ALE R
A ¥RE DB o

YREHDHEERABETON ZH

the CODMs do not base on such analysis for resource allocation REBEBERREWRERBES T HET
and performance assessment. ER B BB R
2022 2021
—E=-= T —F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAET
Revenue from contracts with customers &8 M KR EER F155EEE R
within the scope of HKFRS 15 REEFEHANEE
Disaggregated by major products or RIZEMARBEEAS
service lines
- Sales of goods —HEE M 862,101 643,446

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods at a point in
time in the following geographical locations:

PR 1) 3 T [ 3 - AN SR T A 2R B A B e
RS P EUS s

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TAT
Revenue g

- PRC —rh 124,316 96,820

- Socialist Republic of Vietnam (“Vietnam”) — gt & 3 3% A0
(r#ml) 545,749 422,903
- The Republic of Indonesia (‘Indonesia”) —ENEEIz £ FE ([E1E]) 92,670 50,911
— The People’s Republic of Bangladesh — @I AR HF1E 99,366 72,812
862,101 643,446
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T FNA=TRHIEFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 8.

(Continued)

Operating segment information (Continued)

During the year, there was a customer contributing revenue of
approximately HK$205,407,000 (2021: HK$133,286,000) which
accounted for approximately 24% (2021: 21%) of the Group’s total
revenue.

An analysis of the Group’s non-current assets (excluding financial
assets at FVTOCI) by their geographical locations is as follows:

; &

FR B —BEPH KT
205,407,000 0 (=& — — & :
133,286,000 ) i AL B AW Z

24% (ZFBE——4F :21%) ©

B 5

BWERRE D ZAKEERBEE (T
BERAFEFARMEZERENESHE

E) DT

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FETT
PRC A 35,859 41,231
Macau SELPY 5,906 4,574
Vietnam jigEa] 64,676 69,546
Indonesia e 27,602 1,740
Others Hb 1,642 666
135,685 117,757

OTHER INCOME H AU A
2022 2021
—EC-CF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAETT
Interest income on bank deposits THEFEF B U A 888 931
Income from sales of scrap materials ﬁ’il?ﬂﬁfr SIA 1,805 996
Government grants (note) BT B (MEE) 645 1,945

Gross rental income from investment REMENAS WA LEE

properties 909 1,811
Others E b 282 298
4,529 5,981

Note: Government grants mainly related to the subsidies received from the local
government authority for the achievements of certain subsidiaries of the

Group.
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For the year ended 30 September 2022
HE_Z-__FhLA=1tHILFE

10. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 10. Hlhs RSB FEE
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FBT FH&T
Exchange gains/(losses), net BE 5 Was (E518) F5 3,518 (4,137)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME - WERBE BB
equipment (4) -
Written off of property, plant and equipment ¥ % - #88 K 2% 18 #f # (662) (1,532)
Gain on modification of a lease contract ER—mHEEAHZ WG 11 -
Loss on termination of a lease contract BIEt—mEEEHNZER (14) -
Others Hith (32) (138)
2,817 (5,807)
11. FINANCE COSTS 11, B&E KA
2022 2021
S8 T —F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FH&T
Interest on lease liabilities HERBZFE 118 117
Interest on bank loans IRITERZF B 707 307
825 424
12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12. FTERIFE X
2022 2021
—_s=-= T —F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FBT FETT
Current tax B ER R 18
Provision for the year REG R
— Macau Complementary Tax —RFIFEMITN 17,715 4,893
— Vietnam Enterprise Income Tax — BB EMRER
(“Vietnam EIT) (I EmEH,) 359 1,019
- Indonesian Corporate Income Tax —Efe REIFSH
(“Indonesian CIT") ([ENERABMBEH]) 673 -
18,747 5,912
Over-provision in prior years BEFEBEEE
- Macau Complementary Tax — BB ETE (4,841) -
13,906 5,912
Deferred tax (note 32) RIERITE (M5E32) (4,426) (1,910)
9,480 4,002
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12.

140

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“PRC EIT”), Macau Complementary
Tax, Vietnam EIT, Indonesia CIT and Singapore Corporate Income
Tax (“Singapore CIT”) are calculated at the applicable rates in
accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in the respective
jurisdictions.

Except for the concessionary PRC EIT rate applicable to a
subsidiary in the PRC as described below, other subsidiaries in the
PRC are subject to PRC EIT at a rate of 25% (2021: 25%) during
the year ended 30 September 2022. No provision for PRC EIT has
been made as other subsidiaries in the PRC have no assessable
profits during the years ended 30 September 2022 and 2021.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, /&
MEEFAREMER QA (Zhuhai Centresin Chemical Product
Company Limited) (“Zhuhai Centresin”), a subsidiary in the
PRC, is recognised as a High and New Technology Enterprise by
the relevant PRC government authorities and Zhuhai Centresin
was therefore entitled to enjoy a concessionary PRC EIT rate of
15% (2021: 15%) during the year ended 30 September 2022. No
provision for PRC EIT has been made as Zhuhai Centresin has
sufficient tax losses brought forward to set off against current
year’'s assessable profits (2021: no assessable profits) during the
year ended 30 September 2022.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in Macau,
subsidiaries in Macau are subject to Macau Complementary Tax
at a maximum rate of 12% (2021: 12%) during the year ended 30
September 2022.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in Vietnam, entities
in Vietham engaged in qualified expansion investment projects are
eligible for Vietnam EIT exemption for the first year to the second
year, and a 50% reduction for the third year to the sixth year
starting from the year in which the entities first generate income
from the expansion investment projects, on the assessable profits
from such expansion investment projects. Zhong Bu Adhesive
(Vietnam) Co., Ltd., a subsidiary in Vietnam, was entitled to the tax
incentive for its expansion investment project from 2017 to 2022.
The remaining assessable profits that are not generated from
these expansion investment projects, is subject to Vietnam EIT at
a standard tax rate of 20% (2021: 20%).

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in Indonesia,

subsidiaries in Indonesia are subject to Indonesian CIT at 22%
(2021: 22%) during the year ended 30 September 2022.
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REMEHRRHE
For the year ended 30 September 2022
HE-Z_—_FNA=1THILEFEE
12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 12. FRSHiA = (4&)
Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the Republic of @::% ZTZHFNA=FTHLEFE R
Singapore (“Singapore”), Zhong Bu Development Singapore Pte. BRT O LR ([Frmsg ) BB AR R
Ltd. (“Zhong Bu Singapore”), a subsidiary in Singapore, is subject ERR G —HEREF % 2 B A FZhong
to Singapore CIT at 17% (2021: 17%) during the year ended 30 Bu Development Singapore Pte. Ltd.
September 2022. No provision for Singapore CIT has been made ([Zhong Bu Singapore | ) 7Bi%17% (7
as Zhong Bu Singapore has no assessable profits during the years T —F17%) 2B R BFE Ik A
ended 30 September 2022 and 2021. Fri5 % - B Zhong Bu Singaporeﬁé\%i:zt
TR FRZIFB—FAA=THIF
EXWREEBRBUEF SRS INEA
AIFTISBIVE D B o
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the AR AEBEREE SR T = —
Group’s income neither arises in, nor is derived from, Hong Kong FNA=ZTHLEFEUARRNEBEEKE
during the years ended 30 September 2022 and 2021. BERUA - R BB RS B -
The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the BT 1S %1 5 Sz B2 Bk B A& 7 SR LURPI AT 1S 7
product of profit before tax multiplied by Macau Complementary TR ZEAOEERNOT
Tax rate is as follows:
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHERT FET
Profit before tax B 152 A 7 110,830 45,465
Tax at Macau Complementary Tax rate of &R FIFTS M BT R12%
12% (2021: 12%) TR —F12% )T EH T 13,300 5,456
Tax effect of expenses that are A HIRAS NG E
not deductible 3,036 2,529
Tax effect of income that is not taxable BEMBUANTEE & (676) (174)
Tax effect of tax exemption and tax BTETHBARMER 2R
concession granted to certain MERBRNHBETE
subsidiaries (70) (2,525)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERREEENHRETE 3,232 2,240
Utilisation of tax losses not previously FRBTRER 2 HIBESIE
recognised (5,578) -
Dividend withholding tax I& B TR 2,010 (190)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries =~ R EMAEER L LN E QA
operating in other jurisdictions HERTRAMENTZE 2,156 (192)
Over-provision in prior years BEFEHEBERE (4,841) -
Tax effect of temporary difference not AEREREZENRBETE
recognised (3,089) (3,142)
Income tax expense Fris®if 2 9,480 4,002
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13. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO 13.
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

ZN/NCIEZ RS DN R bkl

2022 2021
—EC-CF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FBT FHETT
The Group’s profit for the year attributable A2 F1#E A A JE1E A EBF R
to owners of the Company is stated after @ FICHIBRIATIER :
charging the following:
Auditor’s remuneration % SR B &
— audit service — I ER S 1,160 1,180
- non-audit services —ERERB 706 862
Amortisation of intangible assets M EE#E 42 43
Depreciation on property, Y% SR ERETE
plant and equipment 12,817 13,704
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FREEENE 2,817 2,329
Rovyalty fees included in cost of goods sold & A £ B 78 () ) 45 3 &8 2,154 3,529
Research and development expenses e 3,644 4,652
Short-term lease expenses MEHERY 2,471 1,437
Allowances for trade, bills and other BHRKER EREZEER
receivables, net Hth [ Uk 3R T8 B S R 7,970 2,352
Allowances for inventories FERE 1,719 2,904
And after crediting: MErALLTIEE
Gross property rental income before BT HEATH Y ER S KA
deduction of outgoings e 9209 1,811
Less: Outgoings W (93) (380)
816 1,431

Cost of goods sold includes employee benefits expense,
depreciation and short-term lease expenses of approximately
HK$20,352,000 (2021: HK$16,643,000) which are included in
the amounts disclosed separately above or in note 14 for each of
these types of expenses.
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14. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE 14, EERHNAX
2022 2021
—E-C T —F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTET F&TT
Employee benefits expense EEREAMMAXZ
(excluding Directors’ emoluments): (TBREEEH)
Salaries, bonuses and allowances e JE4L KRR 70,318 64,189
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RORE A BT B3R 6,588 5,923
76,906 70,112
The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement schemes AEEMABRERESTL2EMNTHERR
which are available to all employees. The only obligation of the REFEMEL A - ANEB BT AR
Group is to make the required contributions under the schemes. BZETEELEAMF R - BIED LK
No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution T A AR R 2R JE FE AT RO 5K o
payables in the future years.
Five highest paid individuals TEBREHFAL
The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year FAAEEBRERSHFALREENS
included four (2021: four) Directors whose emoluments are ZEZ—FNE)ES FENNER
reflected in the analysis presented in note 15(a). The emoluments KA E15@Z2FM DA BT —% (=
of the remaining one (2021: one) individual are set out below: T —F ) ATHBEHEIBOT
2022 2021
- —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Basic salaries and allowances EARF® MR 792 924
Discretionary bonus [SEEREEAN 873 701
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RORAE A GBI 5R 69 40
1,734 1,665
The emoluments fell within the following band: Bl& 7 FIA T E -
Number of individual
AE
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/ 7T £2,000,0007% 7T 1 1

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of
the Directors or the highest paid individuals as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office
(2021: HK$NIl).
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For the year ended 30 September 2022
BE-_TS-_—_FNA=THILFE

15. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 15. EEEA L Fz=
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEM 2
The remuneration of every Director is set out below: ZRESMNMeFINAT

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services
as a Director, whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
BAERESREBECAREUNRE (FRRFLAZERBLIMEE)
Employer’s
contribution
toa
retirement
Discretionary Housing benefit
Fees Salaries bonus allowance scheme Total
Exm
RIKEA
ik ¥e mERA EEEE  HEMMR @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERL TERL TERL TERL TERL TERL

Name of Director Expg
Mr. leong Un BREE - 5,055 3,009 - 404 8,468
Mr. Ip Chin Wing ERELSE - 1,815 331 22 145 2,313
Mr. Ip Ka Lun sk - 1,815 178 - 145 2,138
Mr. Stephen Graham Prince Stephen Graham Prince’t 4 - 1,815 257 107 145 2,324
Mr. Chan Wing Yau George Bk s 144 - - - - 144
Mr. Simon Luk BREEE 144 - - - - 144
Mr. Tong Hing Wah BEEEE 144 - - - - 144
Total for the year ended BEZ-E-__ENA=1H
30 September 2022 tEESH 432 10,500 3,775 129 839 15,675
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person's services
as a Director, whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
BAAEREZRERBENIRUNNE (TRARAAZEARBRAMAE)
Employer’s
contribution
toa
retirement
Discretionary Housing benefit
Fees Salaries bonus allowance scheme Total
EEm
RAER
e e WL TR EIMER @Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER
Name of Director E=pg
Mr. leong Un BRaE - 5,055 2,794 - 404 8,253
Mr. Ip Chin Wing ERELE - 1,815 224 22 145 2,206
Mr. Ip Ka Lun EShiE - 1,815 165 - 145 2,125
Mr. Stephen Graham Prince Stephen Graham Prince’t £ - 1,815 229 116 145 2,306
Mr. Chan Wing Yau George B EE 144 - - - - 144
Mr. Simon Luk ER2EE 144 - - - - 144
Mr. Tong Hing Wah BEERE 144 - - - - 144
Total for the year ended HE2-Z--%®hA=1H
30 September 2021 \HFE B3t 432 10,500 3412 138 839 15,321
Neither the chief executive nor any of the Directors waived FA BETBTHRABESEAE
any emoluments during the year (2021: HK$Nil). ERETANE (ZE_—F T8

JT) °
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For the year ended 30 September 2022
HE_Z-__FhLA=1tHILFE

15. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

(b) Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts
Save as disclosed in these consolidated financial statements,
and contracts amongst group companies, no other
significant transactions, arrangements and contracts to
which the Company was a party and in which a Director
and other Director’s connected party had a material interest,

E=®AMENE (8)

(b) EERRS RPERSHHINE
RiEs
BREERAMBRREEERTM
BB KT BR ON - IR F 2 A R B
KNAFEREANEMER LA FE
ARABZEITUMEFT—REER
HMEEMBEENERKEERESR

whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year EFEAEZNEMERRS
or at any time during the year. HEREL -
16. DIVIDENDS 16. 1% &
2022 2021
—E-C T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHExT FET
Interim dividend for the year ended ENEBE_Z-_—_FhNLA="1H
30 September 2022 paid - HK1.9 cents IEFEFHRE -SRI @R
(2021: year ended 30 September 2021 — 198 (ZFE=-—F #HZE
HK2.7 cents paid) per ordinary share ZE—FNANA=THIEFE-
2.7 40) 10,704 15,210
Final dividend for the year ended BEHERENEBEE T =—
30 September 2021 approved and A= + BIEFERBARE—
paid — HK2.3 cents (2021: year ended % w2 3L
30 September 2020 — HK5.2 cents TR HEZZTZTF
approved and paid) per ordinary share NWA=THILEFE-BHER
B 5.2 1) 12,957 29,294
Special dividend for the year ended EHERENEBEE_Z=—
30 September 2021 approved and NA=THIEFERFARE—
paid — HKO.5 cents (2021: year ended TR E BR0.5B L
30 September 2020 — HK$NIl) R HEZT_ZTF
per ordinary share NA=ZTBLEFE-THT) 2,817 -
26,478 44,504

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend
of HK4.3 cents per ordinary share totalling approximately
HK$24,224,000 in respect of the year ended 30 September 2022,
has been proposed by the Directors and is subject to approval
by the shareholders (the “Shareholders”) of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

REEMRE EERBE_FT_—_FAN
A=tHRLFEZZRPBREERE AR
438l - & £ #924,224,000/ 7T - BZEFF
ARpr R (TRER]) R EREBREBS K
G EHERTAIEE -
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For the year ended 30 September 2022

HzE—

17.

146

T FNA=THILEEFE

EARNINGS PER SHARE 17. BIREH
(a) Basic earnings per share (a) BREXZF
The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on BREREFTDIEATEE
the following:
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Earnings EF|
Profit for the purpose of calculating AESRERZFZ &
basic earnings per share 101,350 41,463
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—
’000 000
TR T A%
Number of shares ®REEAR
Weighted average number of ordinary FESRERAN LB
shares for the purpose of calculating hnEFH
basic earnings per share 563,351 563,351
(b) Diluted earnings per share (b) BEREBRR

No diluted earnings per share is presented as the Company
did not have any dilutive potential ordinary shares during the
years ended 30 September 2022 and 2021.

Infinity Development Holdings Company Limited | £ &% % R it B R A &)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A IS AR M EE

For the year ended 30 September 2022
HE_Z-__FhLA=1tHILFE

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

18. IKEWE

HK$’000
FETT
Fair value AR
At 1 October 2020 RZZE-_TF+H—H 69,100
Transfer from property, plant and equipment EREYE SR ERHE 1,000
Revaluation gain on property, plant and equipment upon M SRR EERERE
transfer to investment properties V¥R 2 B W 3,000
Net decrease in fair value recognised in profit or loss FARBEEERN R FERDFE
during the year (14,329)
Transfer to assets classified as held for sale ERESEARBELECEE (54,371)
At 30 September 2021 and 1 October 2021 RZZEZ—FhA=1THK
—E-_—%+AH—H 4,400
Net decrease in fair value recognised in profit or loss FARBEEERN A FERDFE
during the year (600)
At 30 September 2022 WZE__FhHA=+H 3,800
Investment properties were revalued at 30 September 2022 and &“ﬁ%%&lﬁﬁﬁgﬁﬁﬂiﬁﬂiﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁiﬁ
2021 by Ascent Partners Valuation Service Limited, an independent HERAANRZZEZ_FR_Z=—FA

firm of chartered surveyors.

Valuation for PRC office units was derived using the Income
Approach (or sometimes referred to as a method of the Market
Approach for the reversionary interests and the rate of return are
market-derived) by taking into account the current rent receivables
from the existing tenancy agreements and the reversionary
potential of the property interests.

A=+A: ﬂéﬁ

EPI#JJ#AZ%ME’JQHE@%W % (%A
REEAMEE ENER#ER &@#&Y
ARmGERE) YA RRTEHE RS
BRERESREENERAEIE-
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For the year ended 30 September 2022
T ZFNA=THIEFE

S

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

148

B A AR M A

19. M5 - #as

&S

Leasehold Furniture,
land and  fixtures and Leasehold Motor Plantand  Construction
buildings  equipment improvements vehicles  equipment in progress Total
HE BRER HENE
THREF e % RE BERRE ERIR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThER TAT TAT ThAR TER TAT TR
Cost ﬁmi
1 October 2020 “ZZT5+A-H 72,751 14,195 7,408 6,452 89,400 975 191,181
Exchange difference [ REE 1,891 329 94 60 1,956 7 4,337
Additions RE - 793 - - 4,447 1,315 6,555
Transfers & - 64 - 167 606 (837) -
Written off s - (4,029) - (702) (3,365) - (8,090)
Transfer o investment properties BREREANE (1,270) - - - - - (1,270)
Transfer to assets classified as held for sale ERENBABIFLEZEE (3,803) - - - - - (3,803)
At 30 September 2021 and RZZEZ-FRA=TARK
1 October 2021 “ZZ-F+A-H 69,569 11,358 7,502 5,977 93,044 1,460 188,910
Exchange difference EREE (3,591) (676) (172) (116) (3,935) (22) (8512)
Additions "E - 504 - - 536 3,654 4,694
Transfers @i % 108 - - 2,306 (2,508) -
Disposals HE - - - - (153) - (153)
Written off s - (1,332) - - (1,008) - (2,340)
At 30 September 2022 RZE--—FNA=1+A 66,072 9,962 7,330 5,861 90,790 2,684 182,599
Accumulated depreciation i BEil E
1 October 2020 “Z-TE+R-H 22,531 9,382 5,769 5,234 43,305 - 86,221
Exchange difference [a%@ 792 233 14 47 1,240 - 2,326
Charge for the year FRXM 3,253 2,209 404 490 7,348 - 13,704
Written off s - (3,240) - (666) (2,652) - (6,558)
Transfer to investment properties HRERAME (270) - - - - - (270)
Transfer to assets classified as held for sale BRZHBARELE EE (1,420) - - - - - (1,420)
At 30 September 2021 and RZZEZ-FRAA=TAHRK
1 October 2021 —Z=-F+A-H 24,886 8,684 6,187 5,105 49,241 - 94,003
Exchange difference EREE (1,691) (566) (88) (109) (2,526) - (4,980)
Charge for the year FRZH 3,152 1,499 401 319 7,446 - 12,817
Disposals HE - - - - (138) - (138)
Written off s - (771) - - (907) - (1,678)
At 30 September 2022 RZEZZFAA=1H 26,347 8,746 6,500 5,315 53,116 - 100,024
Carrying amount REE
At 30 September 2022 R-Z--FhA=+AH 39,725 1,216 830 546 37,674 2,584 82,575
At 30 September 2021 “EZ-5nRA=1H 44,683 2,774 1,315 872 43,803 1,460 94,907
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For the year ended 30 September 2022
HE_Z-__FhLA=1tHILFE

20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 20. EHREEE
Leasehold Leased

lands properties Total

HELH HEWE it

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET TET TET

At 1 October 2020 R-ZZE-Z£+H—H 11,319 4,869 16,188
Exchange difference bE N = 35 182 217
Depreciation e (402) (1,927) (2,329)

At 30 September 2021 and RZBEZ—FHLA=THRK

1 October 2021 —E—F+H—H 10,952 3,124 14,076
Exchange difference M= (107) (147) (254)
Additions NE - 3,718 3,718
Depreciation e (402) (2,415) (2,817)
Modification of a lease contract ﬂx Eﬁ( hHEERH - (23) (23)
Termination of a lease contract —HHEEEHD - (519) (519)
At 30 September 2022 RZE-_—_FNLA=+H 10,443 3,738 14,181

As at 30 September 2022, lease liabilities of approximately
HK$6,651,000 (2021: HK$3,354,000) are recognised with related
right-of-use assets of approximately HK$3,738,000 as at 30
September 2022 (2021: HK$3,124,000). The lease agreements do
not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the
leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not
be used as security for borrowing purposes. One (2021: one) of
the lease agreements was guaranteed by the Company as at 30
September 2022.

R-E-_—FHAA=+H HEEEY
6,651,000 7T ( — =& — — 4 : 3,354,000
BT)ER-_TBE-—FAA=THEBF
B E 43,738,000 T (—Z T = —4:
3,124,000 70) — AR -FREBEAREE
MBEEEE C ERERIN HEBZETIE
MEERY - HEEETSHEEEER-
R-EBE-_—_FhA=+RH HE—mE (=
T —F —H)AEREALARRER.

149

Annual Report 2022 | — & = —F )



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2022
HE_Z-__FAA=THILFE

20.

150

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

0. EMBEEE (&)

2022 2021
—E-C—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHE T
Depreciation expenses on FREEENEMNX
right-of-use assets 2,817 2,329
Interest on lease liabilities HEBGBZHNE 118 117
Expenses relating to short-term lease EEERAERS
(included in cost of goods sold, selling (FTASHENAE - HER
and distribution costs and administrative DEEAIARITHER)
expenses) 2,471 1,437

Details of total cash outflow for leases are set out in note 36(b).

For both years, the Group leases various offices, factories and staff
quarters for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for a
fixed term of ranging from 2.4 years to 5 years (2021: 1.25 years
to 4.5 years), but may have extension and termination options
as described below. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract
and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns several industrial buildings where
its manufacturing facilities are primarily located and office
buildings. The Group is the registered owner of these property
interests, including the underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire these property interests.
The leasehold land components of these owned properties are
presented separately only if the payments made can be allocated
reliably.
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For the year ended 30 September 2022
HE_Z-__FhLA=1tHILFE

21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS BIVEE
Club Formula
membership rights Total
2t [T)aE- @t
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THEL THET THET
Cost ﬁizli
At 1 October 2020 “E-FF+A-H 2,665 1,600 4,265
Exchange difference ER%%E 4 - 4
At 30 September 2021 and 1 October 2021 RZZEZ-FhA=1THK
“Z-_-%¥tH-H 2,669 1,600 4,269
Exchange difference EXER (19) - (19)
At 30 September 2022 RZE--“FNA=FH 2,650 1,600 4,250
Accumulated amortisation and R BERAESR
impairment losses
At 1 October 2020 RZZ_ZF+A—H 777 1,600 2,377
Amortisation i 43 - 43
At 30 September 2021 and 1 October 2021 RZZEZ-FENA=THR
—E--f1+A-H 820 1,600 2,420
Exchange difference EHES @) - (2)
Amortisation B 42 - 42
At 30 September 2022 RZEZZFhA=+H 860 1,600 2,460
Carrying amount REE
At 30 September 2022 RZZ-ZFhA=1H 1,790 - 1,790
At 30 September 2021 RZE-—-FNA=TH 1,849 - 1,849
The average remaining amortisation period of the club BEERAGCHFHNEEN T HFRE
memberships with finite useful lives is ranging from 33 to 35 years SHERY F33E35F (LT = —4F : 34%£36
(2021: 34 to 36 years). F)o
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HE_ZT-_—_FhLA=THILFE

22. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 22. NMTBRRIRIRE
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, all of which are RZEZZFNA=F+H ARaWEE
wholly-owned by the Company, as at 30 September 2022 are as MEAR (HEARAE2EHRE)FBW
follows: ™
Nominal value of issued and
Place of incorporation/ fully paid share capital/
establishment/ registered capital/
Name of subsidiary operations chartered capital/quota capital Principal activities
HEMRYL/ KT ERTRMRKES EMER
WEARAE /BE Y /HTER/ REEREE TTEH
Keen Castle Limited* British Virgin Islands 2,000 ordinary shares of USD1 each Investment holding
Keen Castle Limited* EERAKES 2,000 L@ FRIET BREZER
PT. Zhong Bu Adhesive Indonesia Indonesia 300,000 ordinary shares of USD1 each Processing and packaging of adhesive products
PT. Zhong Bu Adhesive Indonesia ffe 300,000 E@Mk - BR1EL BRAERNIREE
Zhong Bu Adhesive (Vietnam) Co., Ltd.  Vietnam Chartered capital - USD11,000,000 Processing and packaging of adhesive products
bt (BE) BARAA jaie] FFAIEAR—11,000000% 7T BHEAERMIREE
Zhuhai Centresin (Note) PRC Registered capital - HK$31,000,000 Manufacture of adhesive products
wEER (M) H HMEAR—-31,000,00087T BEEERLSE
lao Son Hong Paint Company Limited Macau Quota capital - MOP900,000 Provision of agency services for the Group’s raw
material procurement and distribution of adhesive
products
RIETERAF RF BREEAR—-900,0008M T AAKENRVHRERBREERD HEARE
FR %
Huu Tin Hang Company Limited Vietnam Chartered capital - VND600,000,000 Processing and packaging of adhesive products
Huu Tin Hang Company Limited M STAA7R-600,000,0008FHE BHEHERMIEEE
Zhong Bu (Centresin) Adhesive & Macau Quota capital - MOP100,000 Administrative support for the operation in the
Chemical Co., Ltd. Kingdom of Cambodia and Bangladesh
BB IBERAR P REAAR—100,0002M T ARERTERAEMLENSERRTHIE
PT Zhongbu Resins Indonesia Indonesia 171,600 ordinary shares of Processing and packaging of adhesive products
IDR1,000,000 each
PT Zhongbu Resins Indonesia e 171,600 & i@ A% - &%1,000,00000EE BHAERMIKBE
Zhong Bu Singapore Singapore 100,000 ordinary shares of SGD1 each Investment holding
Zhong Bu Singapore K 100,000/ Z®R - BRIFTINRT REZER
* Directly held by the Company. * AAQNRIEEFE-
Note: The entity is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise in the PRC. Mex: ZERBAHTREHIEBEBELE-
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the NWEAEERAREASEEEBRKIEY
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results for the year BYENEEBRFEEIZH > 2MBER
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. RC-BEERAFIEMMBRAAGSHIE
To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the BRITK e
Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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22. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

As at 30 September 2022, the bank and cash balances of the
Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC denominated in RMB amounted to
approximately HK$2,105,000 (2021: HK$3,554,000). Conversion
of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

23. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

22. RIRBRAIMEKRE (&)
RN-ZBE-—FHAA=1+R XEERTEH
ZHBARIUARBFENRTRRS
249 752,105,0008 T (—F — — 4
3,554,000 70 ) - A R#E WM B S
B 9N R B IR AR5 B 45 T - 65 0 o < BE 1B
#TE FTHRBR ©

23. Rt RN AR E

2022 2021
—E-CF T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FBT FHTT
Unlisted investments: EETIRE

Share of net assets BEEEFE 8,625 3,944
Goodwill g 1 .
8,626 3,945
Accumulated impairment losses (Note) RErRERE (M) (2,500) (2,500)
6,126 1,445

Details of the Group’s associates at 30 September 2022 are as RZZE-_—_FAA=+H AEEBHERQ

AIFEBAT

Particular of issued and
paid up capital
BRETRBRRAFEE

Percentage of
ownership interest

ERAREESE DL

follows:

Name Place of incorporation
£ AL

Warrant Parking Management Limited Macau
ERENEEEERAA A
WEAATERERDF PRC
MEEARERERL i

Note:

For the year ended 30 September 2022, the Group recognised impairment losses
of HK$NIl (2021: HK$1,000,000) on its investment in Warrant Parking Management
Limited.

Quota capital - MOP50,000

BRBRA: AR¥2,511,0007T

40% (2021: 40%)
[REEA 5000087  40% (T =—%:40%)
Paid-up capital -
RMB2,511,000

30% (2021: Nil)

30% (ZE=_—F:%F)
Bt 3
BE-T--FAA-HALFE AEERERNE

GEAEERARATNRERRREBEATST
(=== —% :1,000,000/ 7T ) °
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aﬁ

23.

24.

154

T _FNA=TRLEFE

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The following table shows, in aggregate, the Group’s share of the

23.

22*)\/\_“3/]]{

& (&)

Ti‘%ﬁIJT\%ﬁn/ﬁTKEI aHEnA R

amounts of all individually immaterial associates (i.e. all the above RIBEEEH & A7 (BT A L& N F])
associates) under the equity method. ik
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
At 30 September: RAA=+8:
Carrying amounts of interests EmREE 6,126 1,445
Year ended 30 September: BHEAA=THLEE:
Profit/(loss) for the year and total FRmEF (BB k2|
comprehensive income I %5 A RE 1,384 (1,807)
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI 24. R $1 AT AE M2 E W
T RE
2022 2021
—E-F T —F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FAET
Listed investments, at fair value FHEE EAFESR
Equity securities i 7 3% 5 2,779 -
Debt securities BIEE & 914 -
3,693 -
The fair values of listed equity securities are based on current bid _tm BAZBHZ A FEDBERITEARE
prices. HEo

The fair values of listed debt securities are determined based on
executable and indicative quotes from multiple contributors.

Financial assets at FVTOCI are denominated in the following

EHEHESF A FEIDREZHERKA
RZAMITRIEREREETE -

BAFEFAEMBEZAREZEREET

currencies: AT & 8ETE -
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FH&T FA&ETT
HK$ BT 2,779 -
UsD ETT 914 -
3,693 -
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HEZ

25.

20.

T FNA=THLEEFE

INVENTORIES 25. 7 &
2022 2021
—ESE-—F T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Raw materials R 94,985 73,656
Finished goods UK TR 33,254 26,086
128,239 99,742

TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

26. ESENER EWREELE

o FE W SR IR

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FATT

Trade receivables B 5 U ER R 257,301 160,701
Bills receivables FE W E & 14,949 13,461
Allowances for doubtful debts RAREHE (17,814) (11,445)
254,436 162,717

Value-added tax recoverable A] Uy [B] (B Fi 14,327 6,881
Other receivables H b e R IR 2,709 1,476
Prepayments and deposits FENFIENES 7,212 2,920
278,684 173,994

The Group’s trading terms with customers are mainly on credit.
The credit terms generally range from 15 to 120 days.

AEBREFNESFRETEREEMRN

EEH RN TF158120H °
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For the year ended 30 September 2022
HE_Z-__FAA=THILFE

26. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 26
(Continued)

The ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables, based on the

B 5 R R
b FE M kI8 (48

R RIE N E

ATRESRBUEREEBEZERZERZAR

invoice date, and net of allowances, is as follows: B2 BRI (HNBR ) -
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAETT
0 to 90 days 02 90H 211,053 119,758
91 to 180 days 91£180H 42,782 41,860
181 to 365 days 1812 365H 601 1,099
254,436 162,717

As at 30 September 2022, allowances were made for estimated
irrecoverable trade and bills receivables of approximately
HK$17,814,000 (2021: HK$11,445,000).

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and bills receivables,
before allowances for doubtful debts, are denominated in the
following currencies:

RZEBE-__FAA=+H B
TR EZEREREREREEREYD
17,814,000/ 7t ( —Z = —4 : 11,445,000

BT (EH R

AEEMBREBENNE ZRBRR R
EREENREETA T EEE:

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHET

usb E7T 221,972 129,326
RMB AR 42,053 37,887
IDR Elfe & 4,173 1,977
HK$ BT 482 2,875
Others Htb 3,570 2,097
272,250 174,162
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27. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK AND  27.

PRl $R 17 77 BUA MR 1T 3R

CASH BALANCES ® &R
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Restricted bank deposits (Note (a)) ZRHIRITFR (@) 16,083 17,328
Time deposits with maturities of over =18 A LA BB —F LA 2 B
three months but less than one year Z ERBEE (K EED)
(Note (b)) 2,176 3,181
Cash and cash equivalents ReLREEFEED 133,062 126,484
151,321 146,993
Notes: B & -
(a) The Group’s restricted bank deposits represented deposits pledged to banks (@) AEBOZBRGBRITFEIEERTFRITESR

to secure banking facilities granted to the Group as set out into note 29 and
note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

(b) Short-term time deposits were made for a maximum period of nine (2021: six)
months at an interest rate of 0.1% (2021: 1.8%) per annum.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s restricted bank deposits
and bank and cash balances are denominated in the following

BETAKBERTEEZER (FBERNERAH
MR M 20 i EE31) e

(b) EHENFRNEERARANL(ZF =4
FMER  FRERA% (ZBZ—F:1.8%) °

AEBENZRBBITHEFIARRITRRS
A REET AT IIEEEHE

currencies:
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
HK$ BT 46,012 42,340
UsD ETT 87,424 92,553
RMB AR 2,126 3,577
VND MEE 5,240 4,310
Others HAb 10,519 4,213
151,321 146,993

As at 30 September 2022, the bank and cash balances of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
HK$2,126,000 (2021: HK$3,577,000). Conversion of RMB into
foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

RZIEZZFALA=Z+H AEEUAR
BEETEMIRTT MR & 4 #2 492,126,000/
T(=ZZE=—4:3,577,00087T) « AR
HAR RN B i B YNE E HI AR 5 % 4 TE
EERNEEIPRTHES
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For the year ended 30 September 2022
HE_Z-__FAA=THILFE

28. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

158

ANy

ARPBIFLEZEE

28. 7%

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FBT FHET

Property, plant and equipment PIEE - MBS R
- Office units in Macau (Note (a)) —FORFIE A =B AL (MfsE(a)) - 2,383

Investment properties A

- Office units in Macau (Note (a)) —FORFIE A =B AL (MfsE(@)) - 54,371
Investment in an associate (Note (b)) R—REEBERMIRE (HiEb)) - -
- 56,754

Notes:

On 25 August 2021, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(the “Vendor”), entered into a legally binding provisional agreement with
the purchasers (the “Purchasers”) who are independent third parties of the
Company and its connected persons, pursuant to which the Vendor would
sell the properties (the “Properties”), comprising Units A-N, a total of 14
commercial units located on the 16th Floor of Macau Finance Centre, Rua de
Pequim No. 202A-246, Macau, to the respective Purchasers at an aggregate
consideration of HK$93,000,000. The gross floor area was 18,814 sq. ft. The
disposal of the Properties was completed on 28 December 2021.

On 30 September 2021, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(the “Transferor”), entered into a sale and purchase agreement with the
controlling party (the “Transferee”) of Blue Sky Energy Efficiency Company
Limited, pursuant to which the Transferor would sell (the “Share Transfer”)
the 40% equity interest of Blue Sky Energy Efficiency Company Limited
held by the Group, to the Transferee at a consideration of RMB700,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$840,000). Subsequently, since 27 October
2021, several supplemental agreements had been entered into between the
parties to extend the completion date of the Share Transfer to on or before 30
November 2022. Since the Transferee still required more time to complete the
Share Transfer, on 9 December 2022, a further supplemental agreement was
entered into by the Transferor and the Transferee and both parties agreed to
further extend the completion date of the Share Transfer to on or before 31
March 2023. As at 30 September 2022, the deposits made by the Transferee
were approximately RMB252,000 (equivalent to HK$302,000).

As at 30 September 2022, the carrying amount of the investment in the Blue
Sky Energy Efficiency Company Limited and its subsidiaries held by the Group
was HK$Nil (2021: HK$NIl).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre MR

For the year ended 30 September 2022
HE_Z-__FhLA=1tHILFE

29. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES 20. EZENBRF BENEELHE
b FE < FRIB
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Trade payables 2 S RENER 49,541 23,438
Bills payables — secured (Note (a)) FERRE-BEA (i) 9,760 4,680
59,301 28,118
Customers’ deposits received BWEFIZS - 26
Amount due to an associate (Note (b)) JES — B2 N Al 5B (M RE(b)) 3,296 -
Accruals EETE R 76,747 65,813
139,344 93,957
Notes: B 5T
(a) The balances are secured by () all the restricted bank deposits of the Group (a) EHRTTHOANEERBEZRHIRITER (K=

(note 27); and (ii) a corporate guarantee executed by the Company.

(b) Amount due to an associate is of non-trade nature, unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

The Group normally receives credit terms ranging from 30 to 90
days from its suppliers. The ageing analysis of trade and bills
payables, based on the date of receipt of goods, is as follows:

27)  RARRBFILH R RFEREREM -

(b) e —MEEARRARIFESILHE - EIER -
RERBREREEE-

AL E— R HERHEE T FI0E90H 2
EEM-UTREZERNEALENRER
R E m B B2 R D7

2022 2021

S & T —F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FAT

0 to 90 days 0£90H 59,301 28,118
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R AR

For the year ended 30 September 2022
HE_Z-__FAA=THILFE

29. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 29. E S ENEZR BN ZH K H
fhER IE (&)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and bills payables are REBEFENERRENEENERE
denominated in the following currencies: THA T3 & B EHE
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
RMB AR 18,809 12,807
usD ETT 33,874 13,012
VND HEE 3,899 1,438
HK$ BT - 34
Others E A 2,719 827
59,301 28,118
80. LEASE LIABILITIES 30. HEBE
Present value of
Minimum lease payments minimum lease payments
BEHEENR BEHREARZRE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-CE —E-—F —EC-CE —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT AL THER FTET
Within one year —FR 3,337 1,636 3,256 1,557
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_ZERF (BEFEMF) 3,422 1,842 3,395 1,797
6,759 3,478 6,651 3,354
Less: Future finance charges B ARREE S (108) (124) - -
Present value of lease obligations HEETZHE 6,651 3,354 6,651 3,354
Less: Amount due for settlement B 12E A NERENRE
within 12 months (shown (RRBEEATIIR)
under current liabilities) (3,256) (1,557)
Amount due for settlement after 12 A B BERNFE
12 months 3,395 1,797
The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities range HEABEMERNIEEERNENF
from approximately 0.78% to 3.29% (2021: from 0.78% to 3.29%) FH0.78%E3.29% (ZE=Z—F: N1 F
per annum. 0.78%%£3.29% ) °
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For the year ended 30 September 2022

=1

30. LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued) 30. HEBE (&)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s lease liabilities are AEEHEARNEREBE DA TIE S
denominated in the following currencies: B
2022 2021
—E-C T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
HK$ BT 5,010 432
RMB AR 1,641 2,922
6,651 3,354
31. BANK LOANS 31. RITER

BT _FNA=THIEFE

The bank loans are repayable within one year.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank loans are denominated

RITEREAR—FAEE-

AEBERITEFRNEREBIATIEE

in the following currencies: &:
2022 2021
—E-C T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET T
UsD FETT - 7,798
HKS BT 30,000 30,000
30,000 37,798
The bank loans are arranged at floating rates and expose the RITE IR /?@J?T‘J EE B AEBEERR

Group to cash flow interest rate risk. At 30 September 2022, the EREMERR R_E-ZFNA=T
average interest rate of the bank loans was approximately 3.62% H RITEE %ziz #93.62% (=& = — 4 :
(2021: 1.82%) per annum. 1.82% ) BV F R EGH B -

RZB-_—_FR-_F-_—FNLA=+8"
AEEMRITEETHROZRHETER
(KFs¥27) R (AR BHR AR A ERIE
A o

As at 30 September 2022 and 2021, the Group’s banking facilities
are secured by (i) restricted bank deposits (note 27); and (i) a
corporate guarantee executed by the Company.
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For the year ended 30 September 2022

HE—

T CFAA=TBEIEFE

32. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES REFIERE
Revaluation
Undistributed surplus of
profits of investment
subsidiaries properties Total
MEA R REWME
Rk F BEhER st
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TET TET
At 1 October 2020 RZZE-ZTF+H—H 3,771 8,556 12,327
Exchange difference PE N ZERE (96) - (96)
Credit for the year (note 12) RERETA (HFE12) (190) (1,720 (1,910)
At 30 September 2021 and RZEZ—FHLA=THRK
1 October 2021 ZE—%1+H—H 3,485 6,836 10,321
Exchange difference bE N ZFE (164) - (164)
Charge/(credit) for the year (note 12) RERMBR/ (FFA)
(KF&E12) 2,010 (6,436) (4,426)
At 30 September 2022 N-ZE-—FHA=7H 5,331 400 5,731

162

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$43,971,000 (2021: HK$56,133,000)
available for offsetting against future profits. No deferred tax
assets have been recognised in respect of the unused tax losses
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in
unrecognised tax losses are losses of approximately HK$1,282,000
(2021: HK$16,723,000) and HK$6,418,000 (2021: HK$2,556,000)
that will expire in 2030 and 2031 respectively. Other tax losses
may be carried forward indefinitely.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre MR

For the year ended 30 September 2022
HE_Z-__FhLA=1tHILFE

33. SHARE CAPITAL 33. AR
Number of
shares Amount
BRHEE ¢ 5
HK$’000
FET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each TR EEC.O1E T EEK
Authorised: JETE
At 1 October 2020, 30 September 2021, RZE-_FTF+H—8"
1 October 2021 and 30 September 2022 —E-—FHAA=+H"
2 —F+A—8k
—E-_FNA=+H 5,000,000,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid: BT REE
At 1 October 2020, 30 September 2021, R-ZE-_FTF+H—8"
1 October 2021 and 30 September 2022 —E-_—FAA=+H"
2 —F+A—8k
—E-—FHAA=+A 563,351,076 5,634

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to maximise
the return to the Shareholders through the optimisation of the debt
and equity balance.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The
Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the payment of
dividends, issue new shares, buy-back shares, raise new debts,
redeem existing debts or sell assets to reduce debts.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-adjusted
capital ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by
adjusted capital. Total debt comprises borrowings (except for
bank overdrafts) and lease liabilities. Adjusted capital comprises all
components of equity (i.e. share capital, retained profits and other
reserves).

NS R EIRA B IR R 5
MBS - 10E B 4B S SR AR AP
FHRERERROR:

AEEZERLEIIREEASE - AEE
EIEEEANRE  WREEHEMNR KA
BERBEBOECMELRAR - RTH
FAABEARE AREREEHER
SR FETHBA - BB B A
B BEEREEFRHEEENRDER -

AEEERBEHERABEALXRERE
Aom L RABBEFERALRABE ARG
H-AERBERERE (RITEXXKIN R
HEAB -ERBEABREDABEAK
#B (B - (REEF R E b ) o
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HE_Z-__FAA=THILFE

33.

164

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

During the year ended 30 September 2022, the Group’s strategy,
which was unchanged from the year ended 30 September 2021,
was to maintain the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio as low as
feasible in order to secure access to finance at a reasonable cost.
The debt-to-adjusted capital ratios at 30 September 2022 and
2021 were as follows:

33. A (£E)

BHE_Z-_—_FAA=1+THILFE K&
EMEREEE "S- —FLA=1THIF
FERFE-B ABABBEHLCHAZRERL
RBNEFREEKFE UBERAGEK
TESES RZE-__FR-FT=-—

NA=Z+H aEHEHABRERLERMT

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—F

HK$’°000 HK$’'000

FHET T T

Total debt BfERRE 36,651 41,152
Less: cash and cash equivalents BRERREEED (133,062) (126,484)
Net cash IR& F8 (96,411) (85,332)
Total equity REmiRE 487,281 428,542
Debt-to-adjusted capital ratio BEHKHARERLE N/A TE A N/A 7~

The externally imposed capital requirements for the Group are:
(i) in order to maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange it has to
have a public float of at least 25% of the shares; and (ii) to meet
financial covenants attached to the interest-bearing borrowings.

The Group receives a report from the share registrars monthly
on substantial share interests showing the non-public float and it
demonstrates continuing compliance with the 25% limit throughout
the year.

Breaches in meeting the financial covenants would permit the bank
to immediately call borrowings. There were no breaches of financial
covenants of any interest-bearing borrowings for the years ended
30 September 2022 and 2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre MR

For the year ended 30 September 2022
HE_Z-__FhLA=1tHILFE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(a)

Statement of financial position of the Company

34. ADEMMBIRRE R G S
)
(@) Z<2 BB AR R &R

As at 30 September

BRhB=+H
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
=2 FET FET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—REHEBRATMNIKE 119,019 119,019
Current assets RBEE
Other receivables H b g WK IE 94 89
Due from subsidiaries JE W B /&8 A R 5RIR 69,460 60,891
Restricted bank deposits SR BIRITFE R - 1,292
Bank and cash balances SRITRR &S 2,848 3,137
Total current assets REEELTE 72,402 65,409
Current liabilities RBas
Other payables H b fE A 5008 3,258 3,708
Bank loans RITER 30,000 30,000
Total current liabilities REBEEAE 33,258 33,708
Net current assets REBEEZE 39,144 31,701
Net assets BEEFRE 158,163 150,720
Capital and reserves EARR#HE
Share capital &N 33 5,634 5,634
Reserves i 34(b) 152,529 145,086
Total equity RREE 158,163 150,720

Approved by the Board of Directors on 23 December 2022

and are signed on its behalf by:

Ip Chin Wing
ER&E

Executive Director

BITEF

BER-_E-_—_F+_A-+t=ZHEE=S=Z
HEFHTIEFTRREE:

Ip Ka Lun
EZMWm
Executive Director

HITEF
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34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 34. KX B W B B0 K K& G #E &

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY g (&)
(Continued)
(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) XLTREEEH
Capital
Share Share redemption Retained
capital premium reserve profits Total
BAx  ROEE ELXEEHEE RKREEA @gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FEL FEL FEL FEL
At 1 October 2020 RZZE-TE+HA—H 5,634 128,757 857 1,811 132,059
Total comprehensive income for the year ilﬁiﬁ”& S ABTE - - - 63,165 63,165
Dividends (Note 16) B2 (HizE16) - - - (44,504) (44,504)
Changes in equity for the year FREREH - - - 18,661 18,661
At 30 September 2021 RZZE=-Z—FNA=1H 5,634 123,757 857 20,472 150,720
At 1 October 2021 R-_Z-_—5+A—H 5,634 123,757 857 20,472 150,720
Total comprehensive income for the year EEWEEELBZ ] - - - 33,921 33,921
Dividends (Note 16) B8 (HizE16) - - - (26,478) (26,478)
Changes in equity for the year FRERE - - - 7,443 7,443
At 30 September 2022 R-ZE-_—FhA=+H 5,634 128,757 857 27,915 158,163
35. RESERVES 35. &
(a) Group (@) &M=
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements AEENRFESBELEIREREE
therein are presented in the consolidated statement of profit akEMmrEARaRGaER Y
or loss and other comprehensive income and consolidated FRNET -

statement of changes in equity.
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HE_Z-__FhLA=1tHILFE

35. RESERVES (Continued)
Nature and purpose of reserves

(b)

U]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

Special reserve

The special reserve represents the differences
between the nominal amount of the shares issued
by the Company and the Group’s former holding
company and the aggregate amount of paid-in capital
of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group
reorganisation in June 2009 and March 2010 in
preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares in
2010.

Revaluation reserve
The revaluation reserve represents the revaluation gain
on property, plant and equipment upon transfer to
investment properties.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises
all foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance
with the accounting policies set out in note 4(c) to the
consolidated financial statements.

Legal reserve

In accordance with the provisions of the Macau
Commercial Code issued by the government of Macau,
the Macau subsidiaries of the Company are required to
transfer from their annual net profit at a minimum rate
of 25% to a legal reserve before the appropriation of
profits to dividend until the legal reserve reaches 50%
of the respective subsidiaries’ registered capital. The
legal reserve is not distributable to Shareholders.

Statutory surplus reserve fund

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations
for foreign investment enterprises in the PRC, the
Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC are required to
maintain a statutory surplus reserve fund. Appropriation
to such reserve is made out of net profit after taxation
as reflected in the statutory financial statements of
the PRC subsidiaries in accordance with relevant
laws and regulations applicable to PRC enterprises.
The statutory surplus reserve fund can be used to
make up prior year losses, if any, and can be applied
in conversion into capital by means of capitalisation
issue.

35.

(&)
HENMEEREH

(b)

U]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Annual Report 2022 | — & = —F )

BRI B
FhlFEmEAR B RAEER
ZRARE TR EERS
E/BARABROHR T —TF
FHMR-_ZTTEAFRARC
T-EF-ARBEEEERE
AMBRRNEHENEEN
ER-

EfffEfm
EfffEEREDE HERRE
BRERBEVMERZEMHK

Ny
S5 o

g

S BE S

SNETE SR R IRREEINE
T 15 SRR B EE AR 0 2 AR 41
EER - ZWEEIREEAR
15 3K I 5T 4(c)FT 8L A & 5 IR
BRERIE

EERE

RIBRFIBE B CRPIE
RE) BRE AN R A AR P
P /B8 2 B 70 81 B K = ik B BT
BERENFELNFTRED
25%H L BB B R TE MR
BEEREREEDNENBEAR
& RE50% 4 LE 0K T
BRI DR TR

EEBBRES
BEBTEINEDENAERE
BEERBE  AARNFE
Y 8~ B B M — TR E BLER
EHET-REBEERNTPEDE
MBRBERREIER LB
BB+ BN E QB NE
EMBIRER T2 IR IR AL
MR E BB A B IFER
REFEBER(ME) LAE
BERCETERRER

167



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2022

HE_ZT-_—_FhLA=THILFE

35. RESERVES (Continued) 35. &1 (&)
(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued) (b) EEAMERBEN (&)
(vi) Financial assets at FVTOCI reserve (vi) BAFEFAEMEZEKWEZ
SREERE
The financial assets at FVTOCI reserve comprises the BERAFEFAEMEERE 2
cumulative net change in the fair value of financial TREEREBRENRSER
assets at FVTOCI held at the end of the reporting BENEZATEFAEMER
period and is dealt with in accordance with the WameseMEENRFERE
accounting policy in note 4(k) to the consolidated BE)FRE WIREGE M Bk
financial statements. KM FARKAN 2 SETBUER R -
36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 36. &8 IR & hEs &M T
CASH FLOWS
(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (a) METHFELEEZHE
financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TR AEEREEHMELEDN
arising from financing activities, including both cash and BEEHFE BERSRIERS
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities B - mEITDMELENBERE
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will RAEBGABESRERFTOER
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash MEZHREREMRERELR
flows as cash flows from financing activities. RERME °
At At
1 October Cash Interest Exchange 30 September
2021 flows expenses Additions Termination Modification difference 2022
R-B--% R-g-=F
+A-B B&RE FEMX wE ®iE BT EREH AB=+H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT THER TERT TER TERT TERT TERT TER
Bank loans RITER 37,798 (8,512) 707 - - - 7 30,000
Lease liabiities ~ HEEE 3,354 (3,351) 118 7,235 (505) (34) (166) 6,651
41,152 (11,863) 825 7,235 (505) (34) (159) 36,651
At At
1 October Interest Exchange 30 September
2020 Cash flows expenses difference 2021
i e 3 i3
+A—A RenE FBHAX ERES AA=+H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHEL TET FTHEL TEL FET
Bank loans RITER 33,880 3,588 307 23 37,798
Lease liabilities HERE 4,868 (1,814) 117 183 3,354
38,748 1,774 424 206 41,152
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36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

37.

38.

CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Total cash outflow for leases
Amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash

36. FERTMERMTE (B)

(b) HERESRHARE
AAGERERERCHESEE

flows for leases comprise the following: FEATEE:
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT FET
Within operating cash flows KEBEREN 2,589 1,554
Within financing cash flows BMERSREN 3,233 1,697
5,822 3,251

The above amounts related to the lease rental paid during
the years ended 30 September 2022 and 2021.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 September 2022, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities (2021: HK$Nil).

LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessee

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for offices,
warehouses and staff quarters. As at 30 September 2022 and
2021, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of
short-term leases to which the short-term lease expense disclosed
in note 20.

37.

38.

tReBPERBE_T -
T —FhARA=THILEFEZE
NEEES-

HRBE

RZE-—FAA=+RA - AEELEFT
MBAFRABGE(ZE-_—F TBT) -

M EAHE

AEBEHEBEA

REBBRAET BREMBIFEETEHG]
VEPHE - RZTE_—_FR-_T-—F
NAZ+ 8 EHHESHEE BN E209F T
FEMNEHEERS CORBREHEERSE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2022
HE_Z-__FAA=THILFE

39.

38. LEASE COMMITMENTS (Continued) 38. HHEFE(5F)
The Group as lessor AEEEAHBEA
Operating leases relate to an investment property owned by the CERNERANEBBEE R EMERR
Group with lease terms of 1 year (2021: 1 year). All operating lease HMBAFE(ZEZ—F 1F) - FHELE
contracts contain market review clauses in the vent that the lessee HMEANHBEESAMATEHLER R EE
exercises its options to renew. The lessee does not have an option 2T 58 B G A o AT AP TE AR JE i B
to purchase the property at the expiry of the lease period. EREEENEERE-
Minimum lease payments receivables on leases at the end of the RFERRBAERKSERENSZKOT
reporting period are as follows:
2022 2021
—s== B
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FA&T
Within one year —F R 203 419
The following table presents the amounts reported in profit or loss TREJNFANIBERER ISR
for the year:
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FAT
Lease income on operating leases KERE 2 HERA 909 1,811
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 39. & ANFIE
Capital commitments contracted for at the end of the reporting RBERREFTNERREEREENE
period but not yet incurred and provided for are as follows: AEEWT
2022 2021
S8 —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FBT FHET
Property, plant and equipment e YL 8,591 1,816
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 40. BERR 5

40.

The details of remuneration of key management personnel of the
Group include the Directors whose emoluments during the year
are set out in note 15(a).
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
BB E

AEEBERAMBFREZEZEREERAE
BEEIT

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out below:

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
- —T—F ZFZTF ZF-NF ZFTN\F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FAET FAET FAT FAT
Results for the year BEAA=+HL
ended 30 September FEZHEE
Revenue & 862,101 643,446 543,968 691,750 663,036
Profit before tax B %5 A1 Vg ) 110,830 45,465 59,887 74,119 44,481
Profit for the year &F g 7 101,350 41,463 56,018 66,035 40,311
Assets and liabilitiesas RAA=+tAH =~
at 30 September EERAE
Total assets BERRE 697,622 595,240 591,808 533,564 572,537
Total liabilities BHEEE (210,341) (166,698) (169,429) (124,583) (181,436)
Net assets EEFRE 487,281 428,542 422 379 408,981 391,101
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES
Y= E R

Investment properties as at 30 September 2022 R-ZB-Z-_FAA=THHNREYWE

Attributable
interest of the

Location Use Group

VB R TEEEGESR

Portion of Unit 801 Commercial 100%
on Level 8 of Huaye Building HES

No. 2158 Mingzhu South Road
Qianshan District, Zhuhai City
Guangdong Province
PRC
Hh B R BR T8 T A LU [ BR IR B 21585% 3 2 K E8E801F 2 i 1n
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